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FinancialHighlights

Prepared
inaccordancewithInternationalFinancialReportingStandards

ExpressedinRMBmillions

Thecalculationofearnings/losspersharefor20062007and2008arebasedontheconsolidatedprofit/lossattnbutabletotheowners

oftheparentand4866950000sharesinissueThecalculationofearningspersharefor2009isbasedontheconsolidatedprofit

attnbutabletotheownersoftheparentdividedbytheweightedaveragenumberofsharesof6436828000Thecalculationofearnings

persharefor2010isbasedontheconsolidatedprohtattributabletotheownersoftheparentdividedbytheweightedaveragenumberof

11149426000ordinarysharesoutstanding

OPERATINGPROFIT/LOSS

RMBmillions

_____

0607080910

20062007200820092010

YearEnded31December

Revenues3755742534410733898973804

Otheropetatingincome4244886721288658

Operatingexpenses4069542894568283845668765

Operatingprufitlluss27141281508318215697

Financeincomelcostnet7571622671549347

Profitllossbeforeincometax3338378152562495418

Profitllossfortheyearattributableto

ownersoftheparent3035379152691694958

Earningllossper
shareattributableto

ownersofthe
parentRMBRi0.620.083.140.030.44

At31December

Cashandcashequivalents19871655345117353078

Netcurrentliabilities2458826098434582864827184

Non-currentassets5172557949626526498891254

Longtermborrowingsincludingcurrentportion1493214675156281692827373

Obligationsunderfinanceleasesincluding
current

portion1194916452208091937019208

totalsharecapitalandreservesattributabletothe

ownersofthe
parent2534236113097123515271

REVENUES

IRM8millions

j6j7isot

10
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Summaryof Accounting and Business Data

Prepared in accordance with PRC Accounting Standards

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2010

RMB million

Net profit 5380

Income from main operations 12454

Income from other operations 1778

Income from investments 119

Net income outside business 959

MAJOR ACCOUNTING DATA FINANCIAL INDICATORS

Expressed in RMB Million

2009 2010

Operation revenue 39831.33 74958.11

Net profit attributable to the owners of the parent 711.68 5380.38

Total assets 72018.68 100810.12

Shareholders
equity 3613.13 16576.18

Earnings per
share RMB 0.11 0.48

Net assets per share 8MB 0.35 1.38

Notes

Calculation of maor financial indicators

Earnings/floss per share net pro fir/floss weighted average number of ordinany shares outstanding

Net assets per share shareholders equity at the end of the year total number of ordinary shares at the end of the year

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited Aniuaf Rvporr 2010 05
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Selected Operating Data

For the period

of January

2010 to

31 December

2010

For the period

of January

2009 to

31 December

2009 Change

Capacity

ATK available tonne kilometres millions

Domestic routes

International routes

Regional routes

17887.36

9538.94

7533.23

815.19

12505.53

7100.62

4846.17

558.74

43.04%

34.34%

55.45%

45.90%

ASK available seat kilometres millions

Domestic routes

International routes

Regional routes

119450.88

83421.13

30453.49

5576.26

84456.39

59235.02

21386.31

3835.05

41.43%

40.83%

42.40%

45.40%

AFTK available freight tonne kilometres millions

Domestic routes

International routes

Regional routes

7136.78

2031.04

4792.41

313.33

4904.46

1769.46

2921.40

213.59

45.52%

14 78%

64.04%

46.70%

Hours flown thousands 1195.10 838.27 42.57%

Traffic

RTK revenue tonne kilometres millions

Domestic routes

International routes

Regional routes

12598.98

6886.62

5196.12

516.23

7908.69

4694.69

2900.78

313.22

59.3 1%

46.69%

79.13%

64.81%

RPK revenue passenger kilometres millions

Domectir routec

International routes

Regional routes

93152.76

66309.84

22769.29

4073.63

60942.09

44375.70

13993.70

2572.69

52.85%

49.43%

62.71%

58.34%

RFTK revenue freight tonne kilometres millions

Domestic routes

International routes

Regional routes

4308.47

980.43

3172.67

155.37

2474.19

733.13

1656.19

84.88

74.14%

33.73%

91.56%

83.O5%

Number of passengers carried thousands

Domestic routes

International routes

Regional routes

64930.43

55456.27

6600.72

2873.45

44042.99

37984.73

4173.07

1885.19

47.43%

46.00%

58.17%

52.42%

Weight of freight carried kg millions

Domestic routes

International routes

Regional routes

1464.91

729.01

617.12

118.79

943.89

530.15

347.76

65.97

55.20%

37.51%

77.46%

80.07%

06 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited Anrual Recort 20J3



Selected Operating Data

For the period

of January

2010 to

31 December

2010

For the
period

of January

2009 to

31 December

2009

on

Load factors

Overall load factor 70.44 63.24 7.20 pts

Domestic routes 72.19 66.12 6.07 pts

International routes 68.98 59.86 9.12 pts

Regional routes 63.33 56.06 7.27
pts

Passenger load factor 77.98 72.16 5.82
pts

Domestic routes 79.49 74.91 4.58
pts

International routes 74.77 65.43 9.34
pts

Regional routes 73.05 67.08 5.97
pts

Freight load factor 60.37 50.45 9.92 pts

Domestic routes 48.27 41.43 6.84 pts

International routes 66.20 56.69 9.51 pts

Regional routes 49.59 39.74 9.85 pts

Yields and costs

Revenue tonne kilometres yield RMB 535 4.67 14.56%

Domestic routes 6.30 5.30 18.87%

International routes 3.87 3.47 11.53%

Regional routes 7.52 6.32 18.99%

Passenger kilometres yield RMB 0.63 0.54 16.67%

Domestic routes 0.64 0.54 18.52%

International roures 0.60 0.51 17.65%

Regional routes 0.78 0.63 23.81%

Freighttonnekilometres yield RMB 1.95 1.67 16.77%

Domestic routes 1.28 1.13 13.27%

International routes 2.04 1.78 14.61%

Regional routes 4.54 4.13 9.93%

China Ea5tern Airlines Corporation Limited Annua Rcport 20i0 07



Milestones

January 2010

12th capital increase agreement in respect of CEA

Jiangsu subsidiary of the Company was

signed between the Company and Jiangsu

Provincial Government

15th Successful trial flying of A330-300 aircraft on

the second runway of Hongqiao Airport

22nd basket of programme of service security

provided to World Expo was launched by the

Company

February 2010

8th Convention of conclusive meeting in respect

of the merger of the Company with Shanghai

Airlines

March 2010

2nd Delivery of the first 8777 cargo aircraft of

China Cargo Airlines

Dn 27 December Ma Xulun Director and the President of the Company

middle who was back with honour from eeing was welcomed by Liii

Shaoyong the chairman left and Li Jun the vice chairman right at Hongqiao

Airport for the top-class recognisation of the Company as an Advanced

Conglomerate in Shanghai World Expo MtAfL by the Central

Committee of the Communist Party
of China and the State Council nf China

___J

OS China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited Annual Repn.t 2010



16th

22nd

26th

29th

O3

April 2010

strategic cooperation framework agreement was signed with

Lhina Airlines of Taiwan

The Group announced its intention to join Skyteam

Launch of Mobile Mobile phone ticketing product

Establishment of Sichuan branch of the Company in Chengdu

Successful testing of Chinas first batch of cargo under electronic cargo

carriage arrangement by China Cargo Airlines

May 2010
28th new operation qualification certificate was awarded by CAAC to ZM

Shanghai Airlines Co Ltd.

July 2010

6th The Company signed an arrangement to become global cooperation

partner of Xian World Gardening Expo 2011

28th Inauguration ceremony of Eastern Airlines Yunnan Limited Corporation CEA
Vunnan was held in Kunming

August 2010
The Company was granted the Flying Safety Four-star Award Jfi
0WUbyCAAC

September 2010
28th strategic cooperation framework agreement was signed between the

Company and Shanghai Airport

October 2010

Commencement of the inter-transfer arrangement for credits of frequent

flyer cards between the Company and Shanghai Airlines

Co Ltd

December 2010

The purchase by China Cargo Airlines of relevant cargo air transportation

assets of Shanghai Airlines and Great Wall Airlines upon which the new

China Cargo Airlines became the largest cargo air transportation company in

the PRC

6th

China Eastern Airline5 Corporation Limited Annual Repnrt 2010 09
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Shaoyong Chairman
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Chairmans Statement

Dear shareholders

am pleased to present the report on the operating results of

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited the Company
and its subsidiaries collectively the Group for the year

ended 31 December 2010 On behalf of all the staff of

the Group would like to extend my sincere thanks to the

shareholders for their support of the Group

With the slow recovery of the global economy and the

continued strong growth of the Chinese economy the global

civil aviation industry gradually emerged from the financial crisis

and resumed steady uptrend in 2010 The strong growth in

demand for aviation services in China made the country the

fastest growing market in the global aviation industry during

the year 2010 The year 2010 was also an extremely important

year in the course of development of thc Group As result

of industry wide improved performance and rapid growth

the opportunities and synergies arising
from the absorption of

Shanghai Airlines and the benefits of the Shanghai World Expo

the Group achieved record level results compared with past

years

In terms of passenger traffic the Group strengthened

and optimized transportation capacity strengthened

management over transportation price rates and controls over

seating arrangements ii enhanced services by continuing

to upgrade service products such as pre sale transfer service

business class experience direct sale via our official website

and
ticketing via mobile phones so as to increase sales driven

by these products and taking the opportunities brought by

the Shanghai World Expo to actively promote series specialty

products for the Shanghai World Expo so as to implement

our plan to boost revenue during the Shanghai World Expo

iv strengthened channel management by staying close to

target customers and extending its marketing network to cover

each market segment strengthened strategic marketing of

frequent flyers and corporate customers by launching various

commerce services including payment by credit card for major

customers and sales of transfer service via our official website

in order to increase direct sales vi strengthened data analysis

to understand the rhythm of the market and promote precise

marketing

In 2010 the Group strenuously fostered the construction of

its hub network As of the end of 2010 the three-in-three-

out flight frequency namely morning afternoon and evening

had been initially established by the Group at Pudong Airport

achieving bilateral connection of flights for over 25 domestic

cities

As of the end of 2010 Eastern Miles the frequent flyer program

of the Group had approximately 11 88 million members and

established co operative relationships with global partners from

the aviation hotel banking car rental catering magazine and

travel industries

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited At cA eport eQ 11



In terms of freight transport the Group made an effort to

improve daily utilization rate freight load factor and on time

arrival rate of our aircraft By taking innovative marketing

measures the Group kicked off its whole year pre sale and

online direct sale and worked out system of bundled sale for

inbound and outbound flights in response to the fluctuation

of demand between peak and low seasons for freight

transportation number of truck
flights

had been added

to expand our marketing network The Group also operated

in association with speed post agencies In addition the

integration of the operation and management of the freight

businesses of the Group and Shanghai Airlines was completed

Integration with Great Wall Airlines

Great Wall Airlines made steady progress

In terms of costs the Group actively adjusted its debt structure

to control the scale of its loans and seek favorable interest

rates In addition centralized procurement management was

reinforced maintenance costs were strictly controlled route

structure was continually optimised and fuel saving measures

were generally implemented By creating synergies from the

integration with Shanghai Airlines strictly managing budget

and implementing process control the Group controlled costs

at full scale level and in all aspects

In terms of brand building the Group focused on service quality

to build up its brand image In conjunction with serving the

Shanghai World Expo the Group launched World Expo series

of products and enhanced its capability and quality of full-range

services The Group also organized promotional activities for

better brand recognition in systematic and comprehensive

way It also participated in charitable activities in order to

further promote its brand image The Group rolled outits large-

scale charitable activities named Love at Eastern Airlines

which fully exemplified the Groups image of upholding social

responsibilities

In terms of information technology the Group optimised its

infrastructure and communication network for production

operation needs Through its commerce website flight control

system and passenger self service system the Group provided

better support for marketing and passenger service and

enhanced its operating efficiency
and management capability

The Groups social responsibilities cover economic social and

environmental aspects The Group actively participated in

disaster relief actions and provided urgent transportation in

disasters such as the Yushu earthquake Zhouqu debris flow

disaster drought fighting in southwestern China and flood

fighting in Gandong to discharge its social responsibilities

The Group strictly complied with and implemented relevant

regulation governing environmental protection and energy

conservation and emission reduction and will strengthen

its energy management foster energy savings and emission

reduction as its key approaches to enhancing core competence

advocate the concept of green flying in an attempt to

create resources conservative and environmentally-friendly

enterprise and effectively press ahead the healthy development

of the Group

OUTLOOK FOR 2011

The Group would like to caution readers of this report that

the operations of the Company as an air transport enterprise

that performs public service functions is linked closely to the

development of the political and economic situations both

internationally and locally As such the operation of the Group

and of the whole sector is to significant extent subject

to the risks associated with geopolitics and the incidence of

unexpected events

The 2010 annual results announcement of the Group includes

but is not limited to certain forward looking statements such

as those on the economies of the world including the PRC

and the aviation market Such forward looking statements are

subject to many uncertainties and risks

12 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited Annual Report 2010



Chairmans Statement

011

In 2011 the global economy is expected to maintain its slow

recovery with weak foundation The overall economic situation

of China is still very complicated and both opportunities and

challenges for Chinas economic development exist In 2011

the key target of Chinas ecnnnmir and social development

is expected to be gross domestic product growth of about

8% Rapid and stable economic growth will create favorable

operating environment for the Group The aviation industry of

the PRC has entered new upward cycle For certain period

of time the aviation industry of the PRC will continue to benefit

from the favorable factors under the robust demand From the

perspective of the Group the upward cycle of the civil aviation

industry and the continual growth of household income in

the PRC will drive up consumption level and upgrade demand

for aviation Additionally the integration of the Yangtze River

Delta the expedition of the progress of the development of

western China the strategic positioning of Shanghai as an

international financial centre and an international shipping

centre the increasingly enriched tourist resources in Shanghai

and local governments support for and development of the

aviation industry will also contribute to favorable conditions for

the development of the Group In 2011 the operating targets

of the Group are to achieve total traffic volume of 13880

million tonne kilometres number of passenger carried of

70 862 million and weight of freight to be transported of 1.627

million tonnes

In 2011 the Group will also face series of challenges the

impact of the four-vertical and four-horizontal express

passenger railway network on the Groups domestic routes

the competition arising from the trend towards oligopoly and

forging of alliances on the international market which will

have impact on the Groups international routes the potential

shortage ot air-space resources in the PRC and the pressure

created by high oil prices high inflation and economic and

trade disputes

Based on the initial formulation of its overall strategic planning

for the next five years in line with its strategic targets for 201

and by implementing such strategies the Group has clearly

defined its focus on the following aspects in 2011

Refine its safety system and enhance the quality of safety

Enhance competitiveness and improve profitability

Intensify the structural adjustment in respect of four areas

including its fleet resources allocation route network and

assets and liabilities and strengthen its cost control

Dpgrade service quality and brand image which will

include making of client oriented precise services

delivery of fine services through increased investment

into fixed assets and provision of detailed services

under quality service system

Solidify reform and restructuring and motivate all staff

members

Establish its product system and build up competitive

advantage

On behalf of the board of directors of the Company the

Board would like to express my gratitude to all of the

shareholders

Liu Shaoyong

Cha/rman

Shanghai the PRC

30 March 2011

China Eastern Airlines Corporation limited Annual Report 2010 13
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Review of Operations and

Managements Discussion and Analysis

019

In 2010 the Group completed the purchase and finance-

lease of total of 25 aircraft including fourteen A320

aircraft three A321 aircraft five B737-700 and three B737-

800 aircraft ii the operating-lease of fourteen aircraft

including ten B737-800 aircraft and four B777F aircraft iii

the disposal of fifteen aircraft including surrender of the

lease of two A320 aircraft one B737-300 aircraft and three

MD1 iF aircraft and sale of nine MD9O aircraft As at 31

December 2010 the Group operated fleet of 355 aircraft

including 337 passenger aircraft and 18 freighters

In 2010 the Group operated approximately 9600 scheduled

flights per week to total of 30 countries and regions serving

182 domestic and foreign cities In addition the Group was

able to provide more comprehensive air transportation services

to major markets around the world through international

cooperation efforts such as code sharing and special prorate

agreements or SPA etc. According to statistics of the Civil

Aviation Administration of China CAAC the on time arrival

rate of the Groups flights was approximately 79.04% in the

year ranking the Group No among the civil aviation operators

in the PRC for three consecutive years

The Group is based in Shanghai In 2010 the Group accounted

for 54% and 39.2% of the market share at Hongqiao Airport

and Pudong Airport respectively in terms of flight take off

and landing statistics and accounted for 52 2% and 37.9%

of the market share at Hongqiao Airport and Pudong Airport

respectively in terms of passenger throughput In 2010

the Groups daily average utilization rate of aircraft was 9.7

hours representing an increase of 0.3 hours compared to the

corresponding period in 2009

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited Annual Repoit 2010 15



REVIEW OF OPERATING RESULTS

The following discussion and analysis should be read together

with our audited financial statements and the accompanying

iiutes prepared in accordance with International Financial

Reporting Standards IFRS that are included elsewhere in

this annual report The financial data presented in this section

are derived trom our audited financial statements prepared in

accordance with IFRS

Operational Revenues

In 2010 the Groups revenue was RMB73804 million

representing an increase ot 89.2% from the same period in the

previous year Transportation revenue amounted to RM867391

million representing an increase of 82 51% from the same

period in the previous year In 2010 the Groups total traffic

volume was 12599 million tonne kilometres representing an

increase of 59.31% from the same period in the previous year

The increase was mainly due to the slow recovery of the global

economy and robust demand for aviation services as result

of the rapid growth of the Chinese economy the substantial

increase in the Groups scale of operation subsequent to the

absorption of Shanghai Airlines the impetus created by the

Shanghai World Expo and the enhancement of our marketing

rapahilitirc

The Groups passenger revenues amounted to RMB58968

million in 2010 representing an increase of 79.78% over the

same period in the previous year and accounting for 87.5% of

the Groups traffic revenues in 2010 The volume of passenger

traffic was 93153 million passenger kilometres representing

52.85% increase compared to the same period in the previous

year The increase was primarily due to the robust demand in

the aviation market the marketing activities launched by the

Company to closely reflect market demand and the increase in

020

the passenger load factor and ticket price levels as result of

the absorption of Shanghai Airlines

The Groups domestic passenger traffic volume was 66310

million paccenger-kilnmetres representing 4Q43 increase

compared to the same period in the previous year Compared

to the same period in the previous year revenues increased by

7532% to RM842t43 million accounting for 71 47% of the

Groups passenger revenues

The passenger traffic volume on the Groups international

routes was 22769 million passenger kilometres representing

62 71% increase compared to the same period in the

previous year Compared to the same period in the previous

year revenues increased by 91.36% to RMB13650 million

accounting tor 23 15% ot the Groups passenger revenues

The passenger traffic volume on the Groups regional routes

was 4074 million passenger-kilometres representing 58.34%

increase compared to the same period in the previous year

Compared to the same period in the previous year revenues

increased by 94.83% to RMB3176 million accounting for

39% of the Groups passenger revenues

In 2010 the Groups cargo and mail traffic revenues increased

by 104.24% to RMB8423 million compared to the same period

in the previous year accounting for 12.50% of the Groups

traffic revenues in 2010 The cargo and mail traffic volume was

4308 million tonne-kilometres representing 74.14% increase

compared to the same period in the previous year The increase

was mainly due to the continued growth for import and export

trade the Companys enhanced capability in understanding

market trends through market analysis the enhanced operating

efficiency of the Company and the active development and

improvement of its business cooperation with third parties

16 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited Annual Report 2010



Review of Operations md
Managements Discussion and Analysis

Operating expenses

In 2010 the Groups total operating costs was RM868765

million representing an increase of 7881% from the same

period in the previous year This was mainly attrihutahle to

the expansion in the operating scale ot the Company upon

the absorption of Shanghai Airlines and the growth in costs

resulting from the substantial increase in aviation fuel prices

In 2010 the Group recorded substantial increases in aircraft

take off and landing fees depreciation and amortization

wages salaries and benefit expenses maintenance costs aircraft

operating lease expenses and other operating lease expenses

which were primarily
due to the expansion of the Companys

scale upon the absorption of Shanghai Airlines

Analysis of the changes in other items under operating costs of

the Group is set out as follows

Expenditure on aviation fuel was RM82 1606 million

representing an increase of 76.3% compared to the same period

in the previous year This was mainly due to the expansion of the

Companys scale and an increase of 20% in the average price

of aviation fuel compared to the same period in the previous

year The Groups total aviation fuel consumption in 2010 was

approximately 3.85 million t000es representing an increase of

46.39% compared to the same period in the previous year In

2010 aviation fuel expenditures accounted for 31.42% of the

Groups total operating costs

Office administration and other operating expenses were

RMB7284 million representing an increase of 94.14% over the

same period in the previous year primarily due to an increase

in non aviation transportation expenses upon the absorption of

Shanghai Airlines

Impairment losses for assets amounted to RMB4O5 million

representing an increase of 271.56% over the same period

in the previous year This was primarily due to impairment

-s

-Qi2i

provisions made in respect of certain aircraft and relevant assets

held for sale

Selling and marketing expenses were RMB3324 million

representing an increase of 68.05% over the same period in the

previous year This was mainly due to increases in sales volume

and selling prices which increased handling fees of sales agents

Food and beverage expenses were RMBt 596 million

representing an increase of 32.89% compared to the same

period in the previous year This was primarily due to the growth

in passenger volumes and increases in food-related price levels

However as result of the Companys stringent controls over

its procurement costs for food and beverage items and other

supplies the change in the unit cost of food and beverage items

and other supplies was not significant in 2010 and the increase

in such costs was lower than the increase in revenue

The amount of civil aviation infrastructure levies payable to

CAAC amounted to RMB 1296 million representing an increase

of 45.62% compared to the same period in the previous year

which was primarily due to the growth in take offs and landings

as result of the increase in transportation capacity

Ground services and other charges were RMB44O million

representing an increase of 51.72% over the same period in the

previous year which was primarily due to the substantial growth

in passenger and freight traffic volumes

Gain on changes in fair value of derivative financial instruments

was RM8833 million compared to RMB3775 million during

the same period in the previous year It was mainly due to the

reversal of the fair value of crude oil option contracts resulting

from the surge of international crude oil prices in 2009 whereas

international oil prices in 2010 were relatively stable and the

magnitude of reversal of fair value of crude oil option contract

were less significant In 2010 the net gain on change in fair

value of crude oil option contracts inclusive of the factor of cash

outflow upon settlement was approximately RM8800 million
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Other operating income

The Groups other operating income primarily includes

government subsidies Other operating income decroased

from RMB1288 million in 2009 to RMBG59 million in 2010

primarily due to the refund of civil aviation infrastructure levies

of approximately RM8832 million in 2009

Finance income/costs

In 2010 the Groups finance income was RMB1 155 million

primarily due to the increase in exchange gain resulting from

the appreciation of Renminbi against US dollars Finance costs

were RMB1502 million and the decrease was mainly due to

improvement of asset structure and the reduction in LIBOR rate

Profit

As result of the above the Groups profit attributable

to owners of the parent in 2010 was RMB4958 million

representing 2833.73% increase as compared to the Groups

profit attributable to owners of the parent of RMB169 million for

the same period in the previous year

Liquidity and Capital Structure

The Group generally finances its working capital requirements

through its business operations and shurt term bank loans As

of 31 December 2009 and 2010 the Groups cash and cash

equivalents amounted to RMB1735 million and RMB3078

million respectively In 2009 and 2010 the net cash generated

from the Groups operating activities amounted to RMB3429

million and RMB1O641 million respectively In 2010 the

basic cash requirements of the Group other than for operating

costs were for the Purchase and upgrade of aircraft and flight

equipment and for payment of related indebtedness In 2009

and 2010 net cash used in the Groups investing activities were

RMB7236 million and RMB8633 million The net cash inflow

from the Groups financing activities in 2009 was RMB2086

million mainly from bank loans and the issuance of new shares

The net cash outflow from the Groups financing activities in

2010 was RMB6S2 million
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Review of Operations and

Managements Discussion and Analysis

O2

The Group generally operates with net current liabilities As at

31 December 201D the Groups current liabilities exceeded its

current assets by RMB27184 million The Group has been and

believes it will continue to be capable of financing its working

capital by obtaining borrowinqs from domestic and foreiqn

banks

The Group monitors its capital on the basis of its gearing ratio

which is calculated as total liabilities divided by total assets As

at 31 December 2010 the gearing ratio was 084

As of 31 December 2009 and 2010 the total amount of

the Groups short-term loans were RMB8407 million and

RM811193 million respectively and the Groups long term

loans were RMB16928 million and RMB27373 million

recpertively Ac nf 31 Derember 2fl09 the Groups long-term

loans payable within two years from three to five years and

beyond five years were RMB6637 million RMB6166 million

and RMB4125 million respectively as compared to RMB12180

million RMB8672 million and RMB6521 million respectively as

of 31 December 2010

The Groups obligations under finance leases as of 31 December

2009 and 2010 were RMB19370 million and RMB19208

million respectively As of 31 December 2009 the Groups

lease obligations payable within two years from three to five

years and beyond five years were RMB4219 million RMB6785

million and RMB8366 million respectively as compared to

RMB4381 million RMB6889 million and RMB7939 million as

of 31 December 2010

The Group generally finances its purchase of aircraft through

finance leases and bank loans secured by its assets As of 31

December 2010 the total value of the Groups mortgaged

assets under certain loan agreements amounted to RMB2O800

million representing an increase of 52 07% from RMB13678

million as at the end of 2009

As of 31 December 2010 the Groups loans comprised USD

denominated loans of USD3333 million and 8MB-denominated

loans of RMB16494 million Fixed rate loans accounted for

16.80% of the total loans and floating rate loans account

for 83.2% of the total loans As of 31 December 2009 the

Groups loans comprised USD-denominated loans of USD1927

million Euro-denominated loans of Eurol2 million and 8MB-

denominated loans of RMB12064 million Fixed rate loans

accounted for 10% of the total loans and floating rate loans

account for 90% of the total loans

As of 31 December 2010 the Groups obligations under finance

leases comprised USD-denominated obligations of USD2534

million 8MB-denominated obligations of RMB1435 million

and Singapore dollar denominated obligations of 194 million

Singapore dollars The Groups finance leases are floating-rate

obligations As of 31 December 2009 the Groups obligations

under finance leases comprised USD-denominated obligations of

USD2578 million RMB denominated obligations of RMB176S

million Fixed-rate obligations accounted for 0.7% of the total

obligations under finance leases and floating rate obligations

accounted for 99 3% of the total obligations under finance

leases

Details of the acquisition and disposals of subsidiaries and

associated companies in 2010 are set out in item in the

sessiun headed Significant Events
ri

the Report uf Directurs
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CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

According to the contracted agreements as at 31 December

2010 we expect our capital expenditures for aircraft engines

and related equipment to be in aggregate approximately

8MB96263 million including RMB16671 million in 2011 and

RMB21733 million in 2012 in each case subject to contractually

stipulated increase or any increase relating to inflation We plan

to finance our capital commitments through combination

of funds generated from operation existing credit facilities

bank loans leasing arrangements and other external financing

arrangement

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICES

Critical accounting policies are defined as those that are

reflective of significant judgments and uncertainties and

potentially result in materially different results under different

assumptions and conditions

Our audited consolidated financial statements have been

prepared in accordance with lEFtS Our principal accounting

policies are set forth in Note to our audited consolidated

financial statements lEFtS requires that we adopt the accounting

policies and make estimates that our Directors believe are most

appropriate in the circumstances for the purposes of giving

true and fair view of our results and financial position However

different policies estimates and assumptions in critical areas

could lead to materially different results The critical accounting

policies adopted and estimates made in the preparation of these

financial statements are identified are set forth in Note to our

audited consolidated financial statements

RISK ANALYSIS

Interest rate fluctuation risk

The Groups total interest bearing liabilities including long

term and short term loans and finance leases payable as

of 31 December 2009 and 2010 were RMB447D5 million

and RMBS7774 million respectively of which short term

liabilities accounted for 32 34% and 30.03% respectively

and part of the long term interest bearing liabilities were

liabilities with variable interest rates Both were affected by

the fluctuation in current market interest rates

The Groups interest bearing liabilities were mainly

denominated in Us dollars and Renminbi As of 31

December 2009 and 2010 the Groups liabilities

denominated in US dollars accounted for 68.81% and

67.18% of the total liabilities respectively while the

liabilities denominated in Renminbi accounted for 30 94%

and 31.03% of the total liabilities respectively The

fluctuations in the Us dollar and the Renminbi interest

rates affected the Groups finance costs to greater

extent

Exchange rate fluctuation risk

since 21 July 2005 the Chinese government reformed

the Renminbi exchange rate system and established

floating exchange rate system in which the exchange

rate would be adjusted and managed based on market

supply and demand with reference to basket of foreign

currencies The fluctuation in Renminbi exchange rate is

affected by the domestic and international economy the

political situation and the currency supply and demand

of the currency and thus the Renminbi exchange rate in

the future may therefore be different from the current

exchange rate to greater extent

The Group operates its business in many countries and

territories The Group generates its revenue in different

currencies and its foreign currency liabilities at the end of

the period are much higher than its foreign currency assets

The Groups major liability item purchases or leases of

aircraft is mainly priced and settled in currencies such as

us dollars In addition fluctuations in exchange rates will

affect the Groups costs incurred from foreign purchases

such as aircraft flight equipment and aviation fuel and

take-off and landing charges in foreign airports As of

31 December 2010 the Groups total interest bearing

liabilities denominated in foreign currencies converted to

Renminbi amounted to RMB3984S million of which the

us dollar liabilities accounted for 97.41% Therefore in

circumstances with large fluctuations in exchange rates

the exchange loss arising on the translation of foreign

currency denominated liabilities will be greater which

in turn affects the profitability and development of the

Group The Group usually uses hedging contracts for

foreign currencies to reduce the risks in exchange rates for

foreign currency revenue from ticket sales and expenses

which are to be paid in foreign currencies Foreign

currency hedging mainly involves the sales of Japanese

Yen or the purchase of us dollars at fixed exchange rates

As of 31 December 2010 the foreign currency hedging

contracts held by the Group which are still open amounted

to notional amount of U5$48 million 31 December

2009 us$82 million which will expire between 2011 and

2017

The Group recorded an increase in net exchange gains

during the reporting period As of 31 December 2009

and 2010 the Groups exchange gains were RMB95

million and RMB1075 million respectively Due to the

large value of existing net foreign currency liabilities

the Groups results will be adversely affected if the

Renminbi depreciates against the us dollar or the rate

of appreciation of the Renminbi against the us dollar

decreases in the future
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Aviation fuel is one of the Groups major costs of

operations The Groups resultc of operations are to

great extent affected by the fluctuation of fuel prices

International fuel prices are mainly affected by the supply

and demand in the global market and domestic fuel prices

are under supervision by such authorities as the National

Development and Reform Commission and CAAC The

Group generally alleviates the pressure from the rise in

operating costs arising from the increase in aviation fuel by

imposing fuel surcharges

In order to control fuel costs the Group entered into fuel

hedging trdrlsdLtiuns using financial derivative products

linked to the price of underlying assets such as United

States WTI crude oil and Singapore jet
fuel during previous

years The Group can therefore limit its costs within price

range by selecting suitable instruments However in case

of sharp fluctuation in aviation fuel prices which exceeds

the pre determined price range it will give rise to loss in

reality as well as on books

As of 31 December 2010 if the price of crude oil

increases by 5% as compared to the closing price on 31

December 2010 the tair value gain in respect of crude

oil option contracts on 31 December 2010 will increase

by approximately RMB24 million if the
price

of crude oil

decreases by 5% as compared to the closing price on 31

December 2010 the fair value gain in respect of crude oil

option contracts on 31 December 2010 will decrease by

approximately RMBBB million

In 2009 and 2010 the actual settlement volumes in

respect of hedging as proportion to fuel consumption

in the whole year were 52.59% and 28.2% respectively

In 2010 the Group did not enter into any new crude oil

option contracts Those already signed in past years will be

settled by 31 December 2011

On 13 April 2010 CAAC and the National Development and

Reform Commission of the Peoples Republic of China NDRC
jointly issued the

tJIffiE Notice Regarding Prices for First-class Tickets

and Business Class Tickets on Domestic Civil Aviation Routes

hereinafter referred to as the Notice Pursuant to the

Notice with eftect from June 2010 market adjusted pricing

would be applied tor first class and business class tickets on

domestic civil aviation routes the exact prices of which will

be determined by the respective carriers On July 2010 the

Group officially announced the new pricing proposal in respect

of its first class and business class tickets on its domestic routes

In future the Group will also fine-tune the prices for its first and

business classes on reasonable appropriate and timely basis

in accordance with market demand nature of routes price

sensitivity and competitive environment

On 23 April 2010 the Ministry of Finance of China and the State

Administration of Taxation issued the

Ettt3t6tfl Notice Regarding Exemption from Business

Tax for International Transportation and Services Since the

passenger and freight transportation businesses of the Group

on international routes are within the applicable scope of such

notice the revenue from the Groups passengers and freight

transportation business on international routes are exempt from

business tax with effect from January 2010

HUMAN RESOURCES

As of 31 December 2010 the Group had 57096 employees

the majority of whom worked in the PRC The Groups

employee compensation is primarily composed of basic salary

and performance based bonus There were no material labor

disputes between the Group and its employees and the Group

did not experience significant loss of employees or encounter

any major difficulties in recruiting new employees

TAXATION

The Company is subject to income tax at the rate of 22%

2009 20% Our effective tax rate however may be higher

than the rate of 22% because some of our subsidiaries were

incorporated in jurisdictions where the applicable income tax

rate is 25% rather than 22% We had carried forward tax losses

of approximately RMB9855 million as of 31 December 2010

2009 RMB16223 million which can be used to set off against

future taxable income between 2011 and 2014

02o

Risk associated with the fluctuation of fuel POLICY IMPACT

prices
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS
flfl

i-tx

The Board
is pleased to present the audited hnancial report of the Group for the

year

ended 31 December 2010

GROUP ACTIVITIES AND RESULTS

The Company is one of the three largest air carriers in the PRC based on tonnekilometres

and number of
passengers

carried in 2010 and is the important local based airlines

serving Shanghai the International Financial Centre and the International Shipping

Centre of the PRC The results of the Group for the
year

ended 31 December 2010

and thp finanrial
pnsition

nf th Company and the Group ac at that dart
prapared

in accordance with IFRS and PRC
Accounting Standards are set out in the flnancial

statements

Details of the Companys principal subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the financial

statements of the Group prepared in accordance with IFRS

The geographical analysis of the Groups revenue from its business is as follows

fl tWf$htHflA
WcMtn12WMCit

.11
HihlflfA4

PRC Accounting

Standards

RMBOOO

IFRS

RMBOOO

045

Domestic cj

Regional Hong Kong Macao and Taiwan

International

51060489 49692210

3900952 3900952

19996667 20210497

Total 74958108 73803659

DIVIDENDS JiQ

According to the financial statements prepared
in accordance with PRC

Accounting

Standards the Company recorded net profit of RMBS380 million for the year 2010

and the total accumulated losses of the Company as at 31 December 2010 amounted .H ttf MA

to RMB1 1352 million The Board does not recommend payment of
any

dividend for the fi13.S2f.it

financial
year

ended 31 December 2010 thhhtlf

SHARE CAPITAL STRUCTURE II4M

As at 31 December 2010 the share capital structure of the Company is set out as .11 Hlh$hk
follows nT

Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares shareholding

JHfl 1tflftffi%

Ashares

Listed shares with trading moratorium 5120263860 45.41

Listed shares without trading moratorium 2661950000 23.60

shares fl 3494325000 30.99

Total number of shares 11276538860 100.00

12010 41
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NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS

046

As at 31 December 2D1D the total number of registered shareholders of the Company

was 27D738 of which 27DD41 are holders of shares and 697 are holders of

shares

8A W-_B O$12ffiI
Ikf27D738B .Nt AfM27DD4t

H69fl697B

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

So tar as the directors of the Company the Directors are aware each of the

following persons not being Director chief executive supervisor of the Company

or member of the Companys senior management had as at 31 December 2D1D an

interest and/or short
position

in the Companys shares or underlying
shares as the case

may be which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and The Stock Exchange of

Hong Kong Limited the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions and

of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance the SF0 or was otherwise as

at 31 December 2D1D interested in 5% or more of any class of the then issued share

capital of the Company or was otherwise as at 31 December 2D1D substantial

shareholder as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing ot Securities on The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Umited the Listing Rules of the Company

tkTfl$n1
nlfl 11dB

ffIdfltD78
flURtUflUflfyHI

flThNn HHIt11aJtn

UflfftU2A HUJBWBH
ilsffi1 fl

China Eastern Air Holding Company

CEA Holding

CEA Holding Note

HKSCC Nominees Umited

Notes to 31

tktfflA%ft HI

N1t23

Notes

Ashares 483137SDDD

shares 192737SDDD

Hd

shares 3474568399

Based on rhe intocmation available to rhe Directors as at 31 Oecember 2010 including such

information as was available on the website of the Hong Kong stock
Exchange

and so tar as they

ace aware stand understand as at 31 December 2010

such shaces wem held by tM B1111 CES Global Holdings Hong

Kong Limited CES Global in the capacity of beneficial owner which in turn was

100% held by CPA Holding

Among the 347456B399 shares held by HKSCC Nominees Limited 1927375000

shares repcesentmg approximately 55 t6% of the Companys then total issued shares

were held by CES Global in the capacity of beneficial owner which in turn was owned as to

100% by CPA Holding

M$B fl-I- flAkfl%

fl-I-

HflthMUflkflBA9.HTfl
DtABB-f11T4

4flAànJ/tyfl
3474s6B3B93QHII2 1927375000flHfluISa

HA$B fciH4Qtkfl55 16% %4%flL4XT

flAft11frfg/B fityflflnyflfl

Name of shareholders

Percentage of Percentage of Percentage of

shareholding in shareholding in shareholding in

the Companys the Companys the Companys

Nature of Number of total issued total issued total issued

shares held shares held share capital

B81TU
shares

BflTAIQfl

shares

EIflTHRQfl

2U UU 11f194LL1f QffELLIIi B1iflft

Short position

42.84% 62.D8%

1.D9% 55.16%

3D.81% 99.43%
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Among the 3474568399 shares held by HKSCC Nominees Limited iPMorgan Chase

Co had through controlled corporations an interest in an aggregate of 211087076

shares representing approximately 6.04% of the Companys then total issued shares

JPMorgan Chase Co had interest in the aforesaid 211087976 shares of the Company

in manner as follows

fa 233976 shares frepresenting approximately
0.01% of the Companys then total

issued shares were held byi Morgan Serurities Ltd in the raparity of beneficial

owner which in turn was 98.95% held by .LP Morgan Chase International
Holdings

whirh in turn was 100% J.P Morgan Chase fUK Holdings Limited whirh in turn

was 700% held
by iF Morgan Capital Holdings Limited which in turn was 100%

held by iF Morgan International Finanre Limited whoM in turn was 700% held by

Bank One International Holdmgn Corporation
whirh in turn wau tOO% held by iF

Morgan International Inr which in turn was 100% held by iPMorgan Chase Bank

NA which in turn was 100% held
by iPMorgan

Chase Co

60732000 shares frepresenting approximately 1.74% of the Companys then

total issued shares were held
by if Asset Management Limited in the

caparity
of

investment manager whirh in turn was 700% held byiPMorgan Asset Management

Asia mr which in turn was 700% held by iPMorgan Asset Management Holdings

Inc which in turn was 100% held byiPMorgan Chase Co

fr 98500000 shares representing approximately 2.B2% of the Companys then

total issued shares were held byiPMorgan Asset Management Singapore Limited

in the
raparity

of mvestment manager whirh in turn was 100% held
by iPMorgan

Asset Management Asia mr which in turn was tOO% held by iPMorgan Asset

Management Holdings Inc whirh in turn was 100% held byiPMorgan Chase Co
and

51622000 shares
representing approximately 1.48% of the Companys then

total issued shares were held in lending pooi by iPMorgan Chase Bank NA in

the caparity of
approved Iendmg agent

whirh in turn was 100% held by iPMorgan

Chase Co.

Among the 3474568399 shares held
by

HKSCC Hominees Limited iPMorgan Chase

Co also had through
rontrolled corporations short posiHon in an aggregate

of

233976 shares representing approximately Cot of the Companys then total issued

shares Surh short posidon of 233976 shares were held
by

iF Morgan Securities Ltd

in the raparity of benefioal owner whirh in turn was 9B.9S% held by iF Morgan Chase

International Holdings whirh in turn was 100% .LF Morgan Chase UK Holdings Limited

whirh in turn was 100% held by iF Morgan Capital Holdings Limited which in turn was

100% held
by iF Morgan International Finanre Limited which in turn was tOO% held

by

Bank One International Holdings Corporation whirh in turn was 100% held
by iF Morgan

International Inc whirh in turn was 100% held by iFMorgan
Chase Bank NA whirh in

turn was 100% held byiFMorgan Chase Co

Save as disclosed above based on the inlotmation available to the Directors and so fat

as they ate aware as at 31 Decembet 2010 among the 3474568399 shates held

by
HKSCC Nominees Limited no othet

petson
had any intetest ot short

position
in the

Companys shates or underlying
shates as the case may be which would fall to be

disclosed to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange under the ptovisions of

Divisions and of Part XV of the SF0

ififA1ififA9
3474568399ll9Hfluc4 iFMorgan Chase Co.ifMif if

WMififififif2t t0B7976llHli9M$4Vn7if

1148 r7Hfl.Q 4flBi9B.04% iFMorgan Chase Cod

MUIy.Hd.iIifAitQR2t t0B7976fl9Hll5jft

233976115H112flfk4cC 7BS8ifi7HIIQ

tatio.ot %thi.F Morgan Secunties Ltd..CI.R

tflAflifif flAi.P Morgan Chase

International Holdingsifif9B9S% 4thJ.F

Morgan Chase UK Holdings Limited 100%

iki.F Murgdll Capital Hulding Limittdif

100% ii.P Morgan InternaHonal Finance

Limited 100% ikthBank One International

Holdings Corporation4tOO% iMlifi.F

Morgan International mnc.4tOO%

iFMorgan Chase Bank N.A if tOO%

iFMorgan Chase Co 100%

60732000II5HII2lfifl4V8 0JB8 ifrsH

agLaltkit.74%iF Asset Management Limited

4iPMorgan Asset

Management Asia Inc if if 100% if if

iFMorgan Anset Management Holdings lord
100% iMthiFMorgan Chase Coj4tBO%

9B500000ll.kH8.Qfi uB8 if nH

huflt.khi 82% iFMorgan
Asset Management

Singapore imitedl-L if if 7if if

iFMorgan Asset Management Asia Inc

if tOO% ififiPMorgan Asset Management

Holdings inc tOO% ikiFMorgan Chase

Cod4tOO% if

5t622000llQHfl2$Bli4c 3e8 if rH

fluifltth t.4B%thiFMorgan Chase Bank H.A kL

fltOif7Jfl rk
iPMorgan Chase Co if tOO%

4MflHAnJifA9
3474S6B399fQHll.Q4 iFMorgan Chase Co38
mu 38 4233976112Hifflfli2

0B8 inYHll2flBflo.ot% Rift233976

PJHRQi.F Morgan Serurities Ltd.J-AtsmifA

if ni.F Morgan Chase International Holdings

if 9B.95% ithi.F Morgan Chase UK Holdings

Limited 100% iki.F Morgan Capital Holdings

Limited 100% nki.F Morgan mnternauonal

Finance Limited 100% IBank One mnternasonal

Holdings Corporation 100% hF Morgan

International Inc 100% thiFMorgan Chase

Bank N.A if100% ikiFMorgan Chase Co if

if 100%

if

Htt
Eu h3474S68399gQH

flsfl
flif1fXVfi23 HI
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According to the relevant disclosure requirements laid down
by

the China Securities ft
Regulatory Commission CSRC as at the end of the reporting period the 10 largest 42
registered shareholders and the 10 largest registered listed stock shareholders on the

register of members the Company and their respective shareholdings are as follows

The 10 largest registered shareholders of the Company and their
respective

shareholdings

Increasef

Decrease in Shareholding Charged or

shareholding at the end of Percentage locked-up Nature of

Name of shareholders in the
year

the
year Type of shares shares shares held

ftnn flfl Ifl
CEA Holding 4831375000 42.84 Listed all subject to Nil shares

subject to

moratorium moratorium

Affl

HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED 3498360 3474568399 30.81 Listed 1437375000 Unknown shams 1437375000

including CES Global shares held by CES 7jk0 shares held
by

CES

HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED Global are subject to Global are subiect totM moratorium moratorium

Uflht
1437375000 1437375O00f

Shanghai Alliance Investment 427085429 427085429 3.79 Listed Unknown shures

Umited E/jtffl Afi

tfiflfl G1

China National Aviation Fuel 421052632 3.73 Listed Unknown shares

Holding Co Ejft AfitMflG1
un hang International Holdings 400334918 400334918 3.55 Listed 288888860 Unknown shares

Company Limited shares are subject to tI1 Af

moratorium

Ea
288888860

Aerospace Capital Holding -it 1437735 99088580 0.88 Listed Unknown shaws

Co Ltd Eujti Af.QMfifhi

Sinotrans Air Transportation 83157894 0.74 Listed Unknown shares

Development Co Ltd Edtffl %g Afi

BoseraLMfi 60000000 60000000 0.53 Listnd Unknown shares

I1 Afi

Industrial and Commercial Bank of 27753888 27753888 0.25 Listed Unknown shares

China Limited Harvest ijtjffi 5Il1 Afi

ni inn
tO Bank of China

Group
Investment 21997755 21997755 0.2 Listed Unknown shares

Limited B/itiffl 5h310 Afi

Description of any related party or concert
party relationship among the 10 largest

shareholders the Company is not aware of any related party or concert party

relationship among the above shareholders
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THE 10 LARGEST REGISTERED LISTED STOCK SHAREHOLDERS OF

THE COMPANY AND THEIR RESPECTIVE SHAREHOLDINGS

Shareholding

of listed stocks

at the end Nature of

Name of shareholders of the year shares held

HKSCC NOMINEES LIMITED including CES Global 2037193399 shares

Hf

Shanghai
Alliance Investment Limited 427085429 shares

China National Aviation Fuel Holding Co 421052632 shares

M14I 01

un Jiang International Holdings Company Umited 111446058 shares

IVC 01

Aerospace Capital Holding Co Ltd 99088580 shares

Sinotrans Air Transportation Development Co Ltd 83157894 shares

01

60000000 sharestfl
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited 27753888 sharesId01 flfl AR

Bank of China Group Investment Limited 21997755 shares

10 China Construction Bank 21899824 shares

tfWLi M1 A9

Oescription of any related party or concert party relationship among the 10 largest listed

stock shareholders the Company is not aware of any related party or concert party

relationship among the above listed stock shareholders

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

There has been no change in the Companys controlling
shareholder in the year

CEA Holding is the parent company of the Company and its registered capital amounts ftrt 21 ffi1

to RMB11780365000 Mr Liu Shaoyong is the
legal representative

of CEA Holding 11780365000yc

CEA Holdings scope
of business includes the management of all state owned assets

and state owned equity of its group and its investment enterprises which are formed Al5 Aj filf

by state investment As at 31 December 2010 no share of the Company held by CEA

Holding was pledged t14MYL

PB2010 yy
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PURCHASE SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

b5v

Save as otherwise disclosed dsring the year ended 31 December 2D1D neither the

Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased sold or redeemed any of its listed

securities securities having the meaning ascribed thereto under paragraph

of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules without taking into account any issue of new

securities

SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN THE CORPORATE

GOVERNANCE PRACTICES OF THE COMPANY AND THE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES REQUIRED TO BE

FOLLOWED BY U.S COMPANIES UNDER THE NEW YORK STOCK

EXCHANGES LISTING STANDARDS

As company incorporated in the PRC and listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange

the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange the NYSE
the Company is subject to not only applicable PRC laws and regulations including

the PRC Company Law the PRC Securities Law the Corporate Governance Standards

for Listed Companies and Guidance Opinions regarding the Establishment of the

Independent Director System in Listed Companies the Independent Director

Guidance but also Hong Kong laws and
egulations including the Usting Rules

the Companies Ordinance and the SF0 as well as applicable U.S Federal securities

laws and regulations including the U.S Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended

and the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2DD2 Based on NYSEs
listing standards the NYSE

imposes series of corporate governance standards for companies listed on the

NYSE However the NYSE permits foreign private issuers to follow their respective

home country practices and grants
waivers for compliance with certain corporate

governance standards One of the conditions for such waiver is for the foreign private

issuer to disclose in its annual report how the corporate governance practices
in its

home country differ from those required of U.S companies under the NYSE
listing

standards

In accordance with the
requirements

of Section 3D3A.1 of the NYSE Listed Company

Manual the following is summary of the significant differences between the

Companys corporate governance practices and those required to be followed by U.S

companies under the NYSEs listing standards

Section 303A.Dt of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies

must have majority of independent Directors As company listed in the PRC the

Company is subject to the requirement
under the Independent

Director Guidance that at

least one third of the Board be independent as determined thereunder As company

listed in Hong Kong the Company is also subject to the requirement under the Listing

Rules that at least three members of the Board shall be independent and at least one

of whom must have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise
The Company currently

has four independent Directors

out of total of nine Directors The standards for establishing independence set forth

under either the Independent Director Guidance or the Listing Rules differ from those set

forth in the NYSE Listed Company Manual

R_ 0ih

IBk1i fltk
dIWfl7M MT1fl

fl ttfl
fft
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Section 303A.03 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies

must schedule regular executive sessions in which non management directors meet

without management participation The Company is not required under either the

applicable PRC law or the applicable Hong Kong law to hold such executive sessions

Section 303A.04 of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies

must have nominating/corporate governance committee composed entirely of

independent directors The establishment of the Nomination Committee was considered

and resolved and its charter was passed at the third regular meeting
of the fifth session

of the board of the Company held on 28 April 2009 The merging of the Nomination

Committee and the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee into the Nomination and

Remuneration Committee was agreed at the 36th ordinary meeting of the fifth session

of the Board of the Company held on March 2010 and the Working Rules of the

Nomination and Remuneration Committee was passed The Nomination and

Remuneration Committee consists of three members two of which are independent

non executive Directors of the Company Section 303A.D4 of the NYSE Listed Company

Manual also provides that the nominating/corporate governance committee of listed

company must have written charter that addresses the committees purpose and

responsibilities which include among others the development and recommendation of

corporate governance guidelines to the listed companys board of directors The Board is

directly responsible for developing the Companys corporate governance guidelines

Section 3D3A.DS of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies

must have compensation committee composed entirely of independent directors

Under the Listing Rules majority of the members of the remuneration committee must

be independent non executive directors The
merging

of the Nomination Committee and

the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee into the Nomination and Remuneration

Committee was agreed at the 36th ordinary meeting of the fifth session of the Board of

the Company held on 19 March 2010 The Nomination and Remuneration Committee

of the Company is composed of two independent non-executive Directors and one

Director

Section 3D3A1D of the NYSE Listed Company Manual provides that listed companies

must adopt and disclose code of business conduct and ethics for directors officers

and employees As required under the Sarbanes-Dxley Act of 2DD2 the Company has

adopted code of ethics that is
applicable to the Companys Directors Supervisors

President Chief Financial Dfficer and other senior managers

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the articles of association of the Company and the PRC laws no pre emptive

rights exists which require the Company to offer new shares to its existing shareholders

on pro rata basis

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and within the

knowledge of the Directors as at the latest
practicable

date prior to the issue of this

annual
report

the Directors believe that the Company has at all times during the
year

ended 31 Derpmbpr 2D1D maintainpd the relevent applicuble
minimum

perrentage
nf

listed securities as prescribed by Rule 8.D8f1fa of the Listing Rules
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SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR

MANAGEMENT

Names relevant information of and shares held
by

the Directors the Supervisors and 51 iS MS
members of senior management of the Company as at 31 December 2010 are as SMAMM
follows

Number of listed

shares of Capacity in

the Company which the

held personal shares Effective date and expiry

Name Position Age interest were held date of appointment

S3tMAM
MM MM-1lAMM

Liu Shaoyong Chairman 52 2010-6 28 2013 6-28

Mfl
Li Jun Vice Chairman 58 2010 28 2013-6-28

olMSS
Ma Xulun Director President 47 2010-6-28 2013 28

55-58MM
Luo Chaogeng Director 61 66DD Note Beneficial Owner 2D10 28 2013 28

55858 MS fls1
Luo Zhuping Director Company 58 11616 Note Beneficial Owner 2D1D-6 28 20 13-6 28

558511 Secretary

MS
Sandy Ke Yaw Liu Independent non executive 63 2010 28 2013 28

Director

5htM7MS
Wu Xiaogen Independent non executive 45 2010-6-282013 28

58558 Director

Ji Weidong Independent non executive 54 2010 6-2820 13-6-28

5585 Director

MLh$t1TMS
Shao Ruiqing Independent non executive 54 2010 28 2013 6-28

8ftiSM Director

Liu Jiangbo Chairman of the Supervisory 61 2010 28 2013 28

Committee

55585858

Xu Zhao Supervisor 42 2010 28 2013 28

55
Yan Taisheng Supervisor 57 2010-6 28 2013 28

25511 55
Feng Jinxiong Supervisor

49 2010 28 2013 6-28

585858 MS
Liu Jiashun Supervisor 54 3960 Note Beneficial Owner 2010 28 2013 28

585118 55 flV
Zhang Jianzhong Vice President 56 2010 28 2013 28

55858 81158585

Li Yangmin Vice President 48 3960 Note Beneficial Owner 20106 28 2013 28

525 158585 flJ3
Zhao Jinyu Vice President 54 2010 28 2013 28

545828

Tang Bing Vice President 44 2010 28 2013 6-28

IN 8if83tt8

Wu Yongliang Chief Financial Officer 48 3696 Note Beneficial Owner 2010 28 20 13-6 28

e5f%ffl5 a584
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Note representing approximately 0.000059% of the Companys total issued shares as at

December 2D tD

Note representing approximately 0.0001% of the Companys total issued shares as at

December2010

Note representing approximately 0.000035% of the Companys total issued shares as at

December2010

Note representing approximately 0.000033% of the Companys total issued shares as at

December2010

As at the date of this report and in 2010 btief biographical details in respect of each

of the Directors Supervisors and senior managemenl officers of the Company are as

follows

Mr Liu Shaoyong is currently the Chairman of the Company and Deputy Party Secretary

and General Manager of CEA Holding Since Mr Lis joined
the civil aviation industry in

1978 he has been appointed the Deputy General Manager of China General Aviation

Corporation Deputy Director of Shansi Provincial Civil Aviation Administration General

Manager of the Shanxi Branch of the Company and Chief of the Flying Model Division

of the Civil Aviation Administration of China the CA.AC Mr Liu served as General

Manager of the Company from December 2DDD to Dctober 2DD2 Vice Minister of the

CAAC from October 2DD2 to August 2DD4 General Manager of China Southern Air

Holding Company from August 2004 to December 2DD8 Chairman of directors of China

Southern Airlines Co Ltd share stock code 1DSS from November 2DD4 to December

2008 Since December 2DD8 Mr Liu has been appointed Deputy Party Secretary and the

General Manager of CFA Holding and has
just

become the Chairman of the Company

since February 2009 Mr Liu graduated from the China Civil Aviation Flight College

and achieved an EMBA degree of Tsinghua University in 2DDS Mr Liu holds the title of

First Class Pilot He is
currently

the Director General of China Air
Transport Association

the Director of International Air Transport Association and the Director of Association for

Relatiuns Acruss the Tcjimaii Straits

Mr Li Jun is currently the Vice Chairman of the Company and the deputy general

manager and the party secretary of CEA Holding Mr Li toined the dvii aviation industry

in 1972 Since 1977 Mr Li served as officer in the Political Department and office

secretary of CAAC Mr Li served as person-in-charge of Policy Research Department

in the Civil Aviation Bureau in 1984 deputy director of Policy Research Department in

the Civil Aviation Bureau in 1986 deputy manager of Planning Department in CAAC

in 1989 manager of Planning Department in CAAC in 1994 director of the General

Office in CAAC in 1996 manager of Personnel Education Department in CA.AC in 2DDD

and
deputy

head and
party

committee member of CAAC in 2DD1 Since 2006 Mr Li

has served as the deputy general manager and the party secretary of CFA holding and

has served as Vice Chairman of the Company since June 2DD7 Mr Li graduated from

the
Party School of the Central Committee of the C.P.C and holds bachelor degree of

Economic Management and is qualified senior political work instructor and Economist

flr f4r137p$ fl -aiEyuxaQ
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Mr Ma Xulun is currently Director the President and the Deputy Party Secretary

of the Company the Deputy Party Secretary of CEA Holding Mr Ma joined the civil

aviation industry since 1997 He has been appointed Deputy General Manager ot China

Commodities Storing and Transportation Corporation Deputy Director General of

Finance Department of the CA.AC Vice President of Air China International Corporation

Limited In 2DD2 after the restructuring of civil aviation industry he was appointed the

Vice President of the general affairs of Air China International Corporation Limited Later

on Mr Ma served as President and Deputy Party Secretary of Air China International

Corporation Limited stock code 753 from September 2004 to January 2DD7 Mr Ma

became Party member of China National Aviation Holding Company from December

2DD4 to December 2DDB and Deputy General Manager of China National Aviation

Holding Company from January 2DD7 to December 20DB Since December 2DDB Mr

Ma started working as General Manager and Deputy Party Secretary of the Company

and Deputy Party Secretary of CEA Holding Since February 20D9 Mr Ma has become

Director of the Company Mr Ma Xulun became director of

iiftI China Cargo Airlines Co Ltd subsidiary of the Company with effect

from January 2DD9 and became the chairman of such company with effect from

January 2DD9 Mr Ma is also director and the chairman of 1MlIPz
Shanghai Airlines Co Ltd subsidiary of the Company Mr Ma graduated from

Shansi University of Finance and Economics and Huazhong University of Science and

Technology Mr Ma holds master degree
and is qualified accountant

Mr Luo Chaogeng iu currently Director and the party constitution member and deputy

general manager of CEA Holding Mr Luo joined the civil aviation industry
in 1970

Mr Luo was flight mechanic of the instructing team of the Lanzhou Civil Aviation

Administration Bureau from August 197D to August 1972 From August 1972 to March

19B9 he was the flight mechanic and vice instructor of the Bth Civil Aviation Flight

Team From March 19B9 to August 1994 he was the
deputy commissar commissar and

party secretary
of the Xian Flight Team of China Northwest Airlines From August 1994

to Dctober 1996 ha was the party secretary of the aircraft maintenance plant of China

Northwest Airlines From October 1996 to March 1997 he was the party secretary
and

deputy general manager of the aircraft maintenance base of China Northwest Airlines

From March 1997 to December 2DDO he was the deputy director of the Civil Aviation

Administration Bureau of China Northwest Airlines From December 200D to November

2DD1 Mr Luo was the
general manager of Vunnan Airlines and the director and

deputy

party secretary
of Civil Aviation Administration Bureau of Yunnan From November 2001

to September 2002 he was the general manager and deputy party secretary of Vunnan

Airlines From September 2002 to present he has been the
party constitution member

and vice presidant of CEA Holding From September 2DD2 to September 2DD4 he has

also served concurrently as the general manager of yunnan Airlines of CEA Holding

From September 2DD4 to the present he has been the party constitution member and

the deputy general manager of CEA Holding and from September 2004 to October

2006 was President and deputy party secretary
of China Eastern Airlines Corporation

Limited Mr Luo serves as non-esecutive directors of TravelSky Technology Limited

share stock code 696 from March 2009 From September 199B to June 2001 Mr

Luo attended the postgraduate course in economics and management for incumbent

leading
cadres of Shaanxi Province at the Central

Party
School Mr Luo has first class

competency in flight mechanics
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Mr Luo Zhuping is currently Director and the Company Secretary Mr Luo joined

CEA in 1988 He was deputy chief and then chief of the enterprise management

department and deputy head of the share system office of China Eastern Airlines from

1992 to 1997 In 1997 he became the secretary of the board of China Eastern Airlines

Corporation Limited and from 1997 to 2D08 also served as the head of the secretariat

of the board of the Company He became Director of the Company in June 2DD4

Mr Luo graduated from the Faculty of Philosophy and the Faculty of Law of Anhui

University in 1979 and 1985 respectively In 1994 Mr Luo received Master degree

from the Economics Department of Eastern China Normal
University majoring

in
global

economics In 1998 he participated in the training programme for senior managers of

large state owned enterprises organised in the U.S.A by the State Economic and Trade

Commission and Morgan Stanley Mr Luo has been
responsible

for
joint stock reform

and capital management of the Company since 1993

Mr Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu was appointed as an Independent Non executive Director of the

Company in June 2DD9 Mr Liu joined the civil aviation industry in Taiwan since 1969

He has served in China Airlines jjf .2 as Airport Manager in Honolulu

Airport Marketing Director for the Americas General Manager for Hawaii District

Regional Director for Europe Director of Corporate Planning and Director of Marketing

Planning respectively in its Corporate Dffice Taiwan He also served as Vice President for

Market and Sales in 1993 and Executive Vice President for Commercial since 1996 and

was promoted to President in 1998 Additionally Mr Liu had served as Board Director

in Taiwan Mandarin Airlines Taiwan Far Eastern Air Transport fW
3flf Taiwan China Padfic Catering Service Taiwan Taoyuan

International
Airport

Service Company and the Chairman

of the Board of Taiwan Air Cargo Terminal 1Mftiit In 2DD1 he moved

to Hong Kong to join Expeditors International of Washington Inc global logistics

company as the Chief
Dperating Dfficer for Asia Region Mr Liu

graduated
from Taipeis

Shih Shin University fetftfiB and attended advanced study program in

Stanford University in the United States in 199D and 1993 respectively

Mr Wu Xiaogen was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the

Company in March 2D1D Mr Wu was the assistant to general manager and the deputy

general manager of the securities business department of China
Jingu International

Trust Investment Company Limited RP from

April 1998 to March 1999 the deputy general manager of the securities management

department and the general manager of the institutional management department of

China Technology International Trust Investment Company

J1 from March 1999 to July 2ODD the head of the audit teaching and research

unit and the vice president of the School of Accountancy of Central University of Finance

and Economics from July 2DDD to November 2DD4 He has been the

chief accountant of China First Heavy Industries since

November 2DD4 He has been professional
director for central enterprises since June

2D1D and holds the title of researcher Mr Wu is also director of Chinese Institute of

Certified Public Accountants and member of the moral code committee of Chinese

Institute of Certified Public Accountants Mr Wu was appointed as an independent non-

executive director of China Petroleum Chemical Corporation company listed on the

Stock Exchange with effect from 18 May 2D1D Mr Wu graduated from the Department

of Economics and Management of Central University of Finance and Economics
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Mr ii Weidong was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of the

Company in March 2D1D Mr ii graduated from the Department of Law of
Peking

University IbhS in 1983 and obtained bachelors degree in law Mr ii

completed his masters and doctoral degree courses at the graduate school of Kyoto

University Japan from April 1985 to March 199G From September 1991 to July

1992 he was visiting scholar at Stanford Law School the USA He obtained his

doctoral degree
in law from Kyoto University Japan in January 1993 From

April
199D

to September 1996 Mr Ji was an associate professor at the School of Law of Kobe

University Japan From Dctober 1996 to March 2DD9 he was professor at the School

of Law of Kobe University Japan Since 2DD8 he has been the dean and professor

of Koguan Law School of Shanghai Jiaotong University He is currently an honorary

professor at Kobe University Japan

Mr Shao Ruiqing
is

currently an Independent
Non executive Director of the Company

the deputy head of the Shanghai Lixin University of Commerce

and professor in accounting and also professor and mentor to doctoral

students in Shanghai Maritime University $Me He taught at Shanghai

Maritime University and has been deputy dean and dean of the School of Economics

and Management For the
period

from March 2DD4 to date he has been deputy dean

in Shanghai Lixin University of Commerce Mr Shao graduated from Shanghai Maritime

University Shanghai University of Finance and Economics and Tongj

University Htk obtaining his bachelors degree
in economics masters degree

and doctoral degree in management Mr shao has engaged in the teaching research

and
practice

of the accounting profession for long time and has spent two and

half
years studying and being senior visiting scholar in the U.K and Australia He is

well-versed with internal control IFRS and standards for risk management for foreign

enterprises
Mr Shao is an independent director of SAIC Motor Corporation Limited

and external supervisor of China Merchants Bank Co Ltd Mr Shao was awarded

special allowance by the State Council of the PRC in 1995 He is currently consultative

committee member of the Ministry of Communications of the PRC as an expert in

finance and accounting

Ms Uu Jiangbo is currently the chairman of the
supervisory

committee of the Company

the Supervisory Committee and
party member deputy generel menager

and the head of disciplinary inspection group of CEA Holding Ms Liu Jiangho joined

the civil aviation industry in 1979 Since then Ms Liu had been an officer in the

Beijing Administrative Bureau of Civil Aviation of China and the
deputy secretary

of the

committee of C.P.C of the transportation business division Ms Liu served as secretary

of the committee of the Communist Youth League of the National Civil Aviation from

1985 to 1987 deputy director of the personnel department of the Traffic Control

Bureau of the Aviation of China from 1987 to 199D supervisor to the Civil Aviation

Administration of China appointed by
the

Supervisory
Bureau of China from 199D

to 1994 deputy director of the transportation division of CA.AC from 1994 to 2DDD

secretary
of the committee of C.P.C and vice president of Yunnan Airlines Corporation

Limited from 2DDO to 2DD2 and the
party member deputy general manager and has

heen serving as the head of the disciplinary examination committee of CEA Holding

since 2DD2 Ms Liu graduated from the Graduate School of Chinese Academy of

Social Sciences majoring in business management of industrial economics having the

qualification of post graduate and senior political work instructor
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Mr Xu Zhao is currently Supervisor
of the Company and the chief accountant of CEA

Holding Mr Xu
joined

the civil aviation industry in the end of 2006 Mr Xu served as

engineer and accountant in Dongfeng Motor Group Company Limited in 1991 and 1997

respectively Mr Xu joined Shanghai Vanhua High Technology Limited Company as

manager in finance department in 2000 and joined
Shaanxi Heavy Duty

Automobile

Co Limited as chief financial officer in 2DD2 Since November 2DD6 Mr Xu has

served as the chief accountant in CEA Holding Mr Xu was appointed as an independent

non executive director of Yingde Gases Group Company Limited Stock code 2168

company listed on the Stock Exchange with effect from t2 September 2009 Mr Xu

graduated from Chongxing University majoring in moulding and The Chinese University

of Hong Kong majoring in accounting and holds master degree Mr Xu is qualified as

an engineer
and an accountant and is certified public accountant in the PRC

Mr Van Taisheng is currently Supervisor and the Vice Chairman of the Labour Union

of the Company Mr Yan joined the civil aviation industry in 1973 and has served in

the Command Centre and the General Office of Shanghai Civil Aviation Administration

Bureau From 1990 to 1993 he served as the Chief of the Secretarial Section in the

General Office of China Eastern Airlines Company He served as the Manager of

Shanghai Civil Aviation Dong Da
Industry Company MLttitt from

1993 to t998 dud dS the Deputy Directoi of Gerierul Office of the Ldbour Union of the

Company from 1998 to 2002 From 2002 to 2005 he served as the Director of General

Office of Labour Union of the Company He has been the Vice Chairman of the Labour

Union and the Director of the General Office of the Labour Union of the Company since

2005 He has been supervisor of the Company since March 2009 Mr Van graduated

from East China Normal University

Mr Feng Jinxiong is currently Supervisor and general manager of Audit Department

of the Company Mr
Feng joined the civil aviation industry

in 1982 and has served in

the Planning Department of Shanghai Civil Aviation Administration Bureau as well as

the Planning Department of China Eastern Airlines Company He served as the Deputy

Oirector of the Planning Department of China Eastern Airlines Company from 1992 to

1997 the Director of the Planning Department of the Company from 1997 to 1998 the

Director of the Finance Department of China Eastern Air Holding Company from 1998

to 2000 He was the Deputy Chief Accountant of China Eastern Air Holding Company

from 2000 to 2001 the Manager of the Human Resources Department of the Company

from 2001 to 2003 the Party Committee Secretary and Vice President of China Eastern

Air un Rong Company lhjtttI from 2003 to 2005 the Party Committee

Secretary and Deputy General Manager of the Shanghai Ground Service Oepartment

of the Company from 2005 to 2007 as well as the President and the Deputy Party

Committee Secretary of the China Eastern Airlines Wuhan Co Ltd from 2007 to 2009

Since Februdry 2009 he hds been the Generdi Mdriager of the Audit Departirient of

the Company He has been supervisor of the Company since March 2009 Mr Feng

graduated
from the Civil Aviation

University
of China and the Graduate School of the

Chinese Academy of Social Sciences holding master degree
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Mr Uu Jiashun has been Supervisor of the Company since 2000 From 1993 to 1999

Mr Liu was party secretary deputy president and secretary of the disciplinary committee

of China Aviation Fuel Hainan Company as well as chairman of the board and president

of Hainan Nanyang Air Transport Co Ltd From 1997 to 1999 he was also the chief

director in charge of fuel supply engineering at Haikous Meilan Airport and served as

director of Meilan Airport Co Ltd and the vice chairman of the board and president

of From 1999 to 2007 he was deputy party secretary and

subsequently
the

secretary
of the disciplinary committee of China Aviation Fuel East

China Company and he served as the general manager of

from 2006 to March 2009 Since October 2009 Mr Liu serves as the party secretary of

China Aircraft Fuel Huadong Company Mr Liu received

post-graduate education and is qualified as senior political work instructor

Mr Zhang Jianzhong is Vice President of the Company Mr Zhang joined
the civil

aviation
industry

in 1982 From April 1982 to December 1987 he was an assistant of

the CAAC Shanghai Planning Bureau From December 1987 to April 1990 he was the

deputy director of the planning department of Shanghai Hongqiao International Airport

From April 1990 to January 1996 he was the director of the planning department of

China Eastern Airlines From January 1996 to April 1999 he was the manager of the

sales and marketing department of the Company From April 1999 to April 2003 he

was the assistant to the president of the Company From September 2000 to December

2001 he served concurrently as the director of the office of strategic study of the

Company From December 2001 to May 2003 he served concurrently as the general

manager of the computer information centre of the Company From April 2003 to June

2004 he was the chief economist of the Company From May 2003 to June 2004 he

served concurrently as the general manager of the sales and marketing department of

the Company From June 2004 to present he has been vice president
of the Company

Mr Zhang graduated from the
Faculty

of Mechanical Engineering of Zhejiang Univemity

and also the Economics and Management of Fudan University from which he obtained

master degree

Mr Li Yangmin is Vice President of the Company Mr Li joined the civil aviation

industry in 1985 From JuIf 1985 to October 1996 he was the deputy head of the

aircraft maintenance workshop head of technology office and

secretary of the workshop branch of Northwest Company J.bM 01 From

October 1996 to June 2002 he was the deputy general manager of the aircraft

maintenance base and the manager of air route department lffit of Northwest

Company M2H From June 2002 to March 2004 he was the general

manager of the aircraft maintenance base of China Eastern Air Northwest Company

From March 2004 to October 200S he was the vice president and member of the

standing
committee to the

party
commirtee of China Eastern Air Northwest Company

Since October 2005 he has been vice president of the Company Mr Li graduated

from North Western Polytechnical University holding master degree Lie is qualified

senior engineer
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Mr Zhao Jinyu is the Companys Vice President Mr Zhao joined the civil aviation

industry in 1978 From November 1995 to March 1998 he was deputy director and

director of the Flying Safety
and Technology Department of China General Aviation

Corporation From March 1998 to May 1999 he was the General Manager of the

Flying
Aviation Department of the Shansi Branch of the Company From May t99 to

January 200D he was the Vice President of the Shanxi Branch of the Company From

January 200D to January 2DD4 he was the General Manager of the Hebei Branch of the

Company From January 2DD4 to May 20DB he was the General Manager and Deputy

Party Secretary of the Anhui Branch of the Company From May 2DD8 to July 2DD8 he

was the Managing Vice President and Deputy Party cecrerary
nf the Yiinnan Branch of

the Company From July 2DD8 to December 2009 he has been the General Manager

and Deputy Party Secretary of the Vunnan Branch of the Company Mr Zhao graduated

from the China Civil Aviation Flight College for professional flying and holds the title of

Second Class Pilot 5jntA

Mr Tang Bing is the Companys Vice President Mr Tang joined the civil aviation

industry in 1993 From April 1997 to Dctober t999 he served as deputy manager of

the Fngineering Technology Division under the Aircraft Engineering Department of

China Southern Airlines Company Limited From Dctober 1999

to May 2003 he was the deputy director of the Business Development Department

of Jly Guangzhou Aircraft Maintenance Engineering

Co Ltd and the vice director of its Accessories Business Centre From June 2003

to December 2005 he was vice president ofJt ji fR
MTU Maintenance Zhuhai Co Ltd. From December 2005 to March 2007 he served

as the office director of China South Airlines
Holding Company From March 2007 to

December 2007 he was the president and vice party secretary of

Chongqing Airlines Company Limited From December 2007 to May 2009 he served

as the chief engineer
end

general manager and
deputy party secretary

of the Aircraft

Engineering Department of China South Airlines share stock code 1DSS From May

2009 to December 2009 he was appointed as member of the Standing Committee

to the Party Commirtee of the Company general manager and deputy party secretary

of the Beijing branch of the Company Since December 2009 he has been served

iiiember uf thu Standing Cummittnn to the
Party Committee of the Company has

served as Vice President of the Company since February 2010 he has been director

and general manager of Shanghai Airlines Co Ltd subsidiary

of the Company since January 2010 Mr Tang graduated from

Nanjing University of Aeronautics and Astronautics majoring
in electrical technology

He obtained master of business administration MBA degree
from the Administration

Institute of LI4e Sun Yat sen University in 2003 and an executive master of

business administration EMBA degree
from the School of Economics and Management

of Tsinghua University
in 20DB

Mr Wu Yongliang is currently the Chief Financial Dfficer of the Company Mr Wu

joined the civil aviation industry in 1984 He was the deputy director of the Finance

Department of China Fastern Airlines Company from 1993 to 1997 the
deputy

director

and subsequently the director of the Finance Department of the Company from 1997

to 1998 the director of
Planning

and Finance Department of the Company from 1998

to 2000 the head of the Finance Department of CEA Holding from 2000 to 2001 the

deputy chief accountant end the head of the Finance Department of CEA Holding from

2001 to March 2009 From April 2009 onwards he services as the chief financial officer

of the Company Mr Wu graduated from the Economic Management Department

of Civil Aviation University of China specializing
in

planning
and finance He also

graduated from Fudan University specializing
in business administration Mr Wu has

the qualification of
postgraduate

and holds the title of Accountant
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Each of the independent non executive Directors has issued confirmation in respect

of the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules concerning his independence

pursuant to Rule 3.15 of the Listing Rules The Company considers all of the

independent non executive Directors to be independent

CHANGES IN THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

PERSONNEL

flkUfl3.15f tUnUEUk
ffi fti 3.1 Pft$t ft

Name

Termination

Date of appointment

termination Approval organization

nfl

Hu Honggao

ihllU

Thou Ruijin

lltiit

Wu Baiwang

Xie Rong

4M
Fan Ru

Appointment

giF

Wu Xiaogen

tin
Ji Weidong

UI
Shao

Ruiqing

Tang Bing

in

19 March 201D

Iin ff7LM

19 March 2D1D

It 1LP
28 June 2D1D

It7ff AM
28 June 2D1D

-I-lw

May 2D1D

ItfL\H

19 March 201D

It tcft
19 March 201D

It lt
28 June 2010

ItA.ff AG
February 2010

in .ff ft

the 33rd meeting of the fifth session of the Board

flIMfl33lfl
the 33rd meeting of the fifth session of the Board

1nUn3311t1
the 2nd regular meeting of the Board in 2010

Ut 1t12lfEf

the 2nd
regular meeting of the Board in 2010

Ut I-1t12lfyft
the 37th meeting of the fifth session of the Board

MUUtt3l/ltt

the first extraordinary general meeting in 2010

Itt4Nint
the first

extraordinary general meeting in 2010

III f8t4flkt
the 2DD9 annual general meeting

the 35th meeting of the fifth session of the Board

Independent Non-executive Director

Independent Non executive Director

LLh$t1TI$

Independent Non executive Director

Independent Non-executive Director

Vice President

III

Independent Non-executive Director

Independent Non executive Director

1LLhMuTI$

Independent Non-executive Director

LWt1Tt
Vice President

CHANGE OF PARTICULARS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

UNDER RULE 13.51B1 OF THE LISTING RULES

Mr Xu Zhao Supervisor of the Company was appointed as an independent non

executive director of Yingde Gases Group Company Limited company listed on the

Stock Exchange with effect from 12 September 2DD9

Mr Wu Xiaogen an independent non executive Director of the Company was

appointed as an independent non executive director of China Petroleum Chemical

Corporation company listed on the Stock Exchange with effect from 18 May 2010

Mr Ma Xulun Director of the Company was appointed as director and the chairman

of tHtyREl Shanghai Airlines Co Ltd from January 2D10 to

December 2010 and director and the chairman of k1MIiEl Shanghai

Airlines Co Ltd subsidiary of the Company with effect from September 2Db
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SHAREHOLDINGS OF DIRECTORS CHIEF EXECUTIVE

SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Save as disclosed above as at 31 December 2D1D none of the Directors chief

executive Supervisors or members of the Companys senior management and their

respective associates had any other interest or short position in the shares underlying

shares and/or debentures as the case may be of the Company and/or any of its

associated corporations within the meaning of Part XV of the SF0 which was required

to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the

provisions of Divisions and of Pan XV of the SEQ including any interest or short

position which any of such Directors chief executive Supervisors or members of the

Companys senior management and their respective associates were taken or deemed

to have under such provisions of the SF0 and as recorded in the register required to

be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SF0 or which was otherwise

required to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant
to

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers the Model

Code as set out in Appendix 1D to the Listing Rules which shall be deemed to apply

to the Supervisors to the same extent as it applied to the Directors

In 2D and as at 31 December 2D1 none of the Directors chief executive

Supervisors senior management of the Company and/or
any

of their
spouses or children

under the age of eighteen were granted any right and the Company had not made any

arrangement enabling any of them to subscribe for equity securities or debt securities of

the Company

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

None of the Directors or Supervisors has entered into any service contract with the

Company which is not terminable by the Company within one year without payment of

compensation other than
statutory compensation

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS IN CONTRACTS

None of the Directors or Supervisors had material interest directly or indirectly in any

contract of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was party

during the year the term contract of
significance having

the meaning ascribed thereto

in
paragraph

15 of Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

Details of the remuneration of Directors and Supervisors are set out in note to the

financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2DtD the Group had S7D96 employees majority of whom

worked in the PRC Employee compensation is primarily composed of basic salary and

performance-based bonus

fltfl

A2hfi Wt
$3flfflJ

AflM Aflfl/

44fMXVfi78Hlt

f352f2ffiIt 9M24M

Jffl 11ff ARflMfl
fyf42nM2fl
tffMf22flT2 sffnaMcM

MX Mi2MM 22 5MM

2-t liAih

-MM MfV5A

MffI5i

29fMMMT 22ThI2

ssneIaj9xjS

222$EffM58 ttMfli

MftAM SM tflMMM2Af

mif
MMMM2UfffM

m0 0222152
57D96A Afl2tM0tff 2222
112

t2PRL0 2010fl 57



REPORT OF DIRECTORS

-i-tx

MEDICAL INSURANCE

The majority
of the Groups PRC employees participate

in the medical insurance schemes

organised by the municipal governments under which the Group and its employees are

required to contribute to the schemes approximately 12% and 2% respectively of the

employees basic salaries For those employees who participate in these schemes the

Group has no other
obligation

for the payment of medical expense beyond the annual

contributions For the
year

ended 31 December 2010 the Groups medical insurance

contributions charged to the income statement amounted to RMB281 million 2009

RMB132 million

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank loans and other borrowings of the Company and the Group as at

31 December 2010 are set out in note 32 to the financial statements prepared in

accordance with IFRS
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INTEREST CAPITALIZED iflIh

Interest capitalized by the Group as calculated in accordance with IFRS for the
year

ended 31 December 2010 was RM3156 million

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in
property plant

and equipment of the Company and the Group during
the

year are summarized in note 19 to the financial statements prepared in accordance with

IFRS

RESERVES

Details of movements in reserves of the Company and the Group for the year ended 31

December 2010 and profit appropriation by the Company are set out in note 41 to the

financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS
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STATUTORY COMMON WELFARE FUND

Details in relation to the
statutory common welfare fund such as the nature and

application of and movements in the fund and the basis of its calculation including

the percentage used for calculating the amounts are set out in note 41 to the financial

statements prepared
in accordance with IFRS

DONATIONS

During
the year the Group made donations for charitable purposes amounting to

approximately RMB8.5 million

EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT SCHEME

Details of the Companys employee retirement scheme and
post

retirement benefits are

set out in note 36 to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS
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MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

As at 31 December 2010 the cost of aircraft and related materials from the Groups

largest and five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately t4.D3% and 32.t3%

respectively of the total
purchases

of the Group The sales to the Groups five largest

customers accounted tor 14.91% of the Groups total revenue in 201

None of the Directors Supervisors or any of their respective associates nor any

shareholders who to the knowledge of the Directors hold 5% or more of the

Companys share capital has any interest in any of the above mentioned suppliers and

customers

GENERAL MEETINGS AND BOARD MEETINGS

kt
fflflt14.03%32.t3%thfl ttflA2
14.91%

fltLJf3

flict

GENERAL MEETINGS

The 2010 first extraordinary general meeting of the Company was held on 19 March

2010 at Shanghai International Hotel 2550 Hongqiao Road

Shanghai For details please reter to the Companys announcement dated 19 March

2010

The 2009 annual general meeting of the Company were held on 28 June 2010 at the

Meeting Centre Shanghai International Hotel 2550 Hongqiao

Road Shanghai For details please refer to the Companys announcement dated 28

June 2010

The 2010 second
extraordinary general meeting of the Company was held on 15

December 2010 at Shanghai International Hotel 2550 Hongqiao

Road Shanghai For details please refer to the Companys announcement dated 15

December 2010

M2S5Dflh20t0fl 1Sjjt4
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BOARD MEETINGS

Date of

Session of Meeting Meeting Announced Resolutions Unannounced Resolutions

1Bfl
The 34th meeting of the fifth session of 12

January
2010 The resolution on the capital increase of CEA Jiangsu was

the Board 2010w .N 12 considered and passedn34n
The 1st regular meeting

of the fifth 20
January

2010 The financial budget report of the Company for 2010

session of the Board in 2010 20101.N20N was considered and passed The investment plan of

the Company for 2010 was considered and passed

Report of President for 2009 and the working plan for

2010 was considered and passed The resolution on the

additional investment in training building was considered

and passed The resolution on the sale of MDB2

flight equipment was considered and passed The

resolution on the establishment of the aviation
safety

and

environment committee under the Board was considered

and passed

iApl2010flMfl
JhBfZ 2010lfl flJ3

2009IIt2OtOtlflfftflf

ilflttflhtJt

JMDB2A

The 35th meeting of the fifth session of February 2010 For details please refer to the

the Board Companys announcement

dated February 2010

2010tyIN1N tflJEJI Nfl
2010Lfl hYL

The 36th meeting of the fifth session of 19 March 2010 For details please refer to the

the Board Companys announcement

dated 20 March 2010

2010t3Th9N NINfl
2010t020N AJI

The 2nd regular meeting of the fifth 17 April 2010 For details please refer to the

session of the Board in 2010 Companys announcement

dated 20 April 2010

t20102flf 20104Th7N ffl2 iil Nfl
2010420Ni

The 37th meeting of the fifth session of May 2010 For details please refer to the

the Board Companys announcement

dated May 2010

2010t56N 1Nfl
20105 htJ
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Date of

Session of Meeting Meeting Announced Resolutions Unannounced Resolutions

The 38th meeting of the fifth nession of 18 June 2010 The resolution on matters related to the formation of joint

the Board venture CEA Vunnan was considered and passed

M$fl38fl 20106 18

The 1st meeting of the sixth session of 28 June 2010 For details please refer to the

the Board Companys announcement

dated 29 June 2010

ttsf8LI$fllZtfl 201iYt628H rn
2010t629h

The 3rd regular meeting of the sixth 27 August 2010 For details please refer to the The resolution on the transfer of equity interests

session of the Board in 2010 Companys announcement in foahang International

dated 30 August 2010 Transportation Co Ltd was considered and passed

The resolution on the pre-sale of MD 11 flight equipment

of China Cargo Airlines was considered and passed

The resolution on the application for external payment for

the settlement losses of fuel hedging was considered and

passed The resolution on the day to day connected

transactions of the Company was considered and passed

The resolution on the convention of extraordinary

general meeting was considered and passed

M\fl2010fl3fl 2010tfl27M tfli1 fl -Nfl2ctWQtU
2010830H8h ffJff 02 tMD iiMtNthh

o3

o4 flfl
o5

The 2nd meeting of the sixth session of 27 August 2010 The resolution on the
general

mandate to issue shares by

the Board China fastern Airlines Corporation Limited was considered

and passed

201 08R 27 t7f157
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Date of

Session of Meeting Meeting Announced Resolutions Unannounced Resolutions

The 4th
regular meeting at the sisth 28 October 2010 The resolution on the third quarterly financial report of

session of the Board in 2010 the Company 2010 was considered and passed The

resolution on the third
quarterly report

of the Company

2010 was considered and passed The resolution on

the payment of land premium as
per payment schedule

in
respect

of base project in Ningho City of CEA Zhejiang

branch was considered and passed The resolution

on the introduction of 50 Airbus A320-series aircraft

was considered and passed The resolution on the

introduction of 8732ND simulation aircraft was considered

and passed

MA$2010fl4.ht 20101028H flD12010fl tIIMflhh
2010tM-flSb

tHtflA

The 3rd meeting of the sixth session ot 10 November 2010 The resolution on the signing of Cgi Aircraft

the Board Activation User Agreement CYlY

by was considered and passed The

resolution on the proposed investmnnt in respect of the

site ot the former Shanghai Airlines
ancillary project

of

Hongqiao Airport Extension Project Western District was

considered and passed

20101 LR 1DH flflfftR231flKKC9195Hfl
flflflflflI

The 4th meeting of the sixth session of 15 December 2010 For details please refer to the The resolution on the proposed swap plan in
respect

of

the Board Companys announcement the purchase of 8732ND simulation aircraft by

dated 16 December 2010 Shanghai Eastern Flight Training

Co Ltd was considered and passed

2D1Dt12ft 150 flL
2D1D12.016HhY W8737NG
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

061

The transactions between the Company and its connected pemons or their respective

associates as defined in theListing Rules are governed by and conducted in compliance

with the disclosure requirements under the Listing Rules

On 28 July 20t0 Shanghai Airlines and

Shanghai Airlines Toum International Group Co Ltd SA Travel entered

into an agreement with ftn.ZIH tI31 Eastern Aviation Import

Esport Company CEA Import Export pursuant to which Shanghai

Airlines agreed to sell and CEA Import Export agreed to purchase 89.72% of the

entire issued share capital of Shanghai Aviation

Import Export Co Ltd SA Import Export and SA Travel agreed to

sell and CEA Import Export agreed to purchase t0.28% of the entire issued

share capital of SA Import Evport As the consideration of this transaction CEA

Import Export agreed to pay in cash sum of RM849646236.36 to Shanghai

Airlines and agreed to pay in cash sum of RM8S688400.69 to SA Travel

subject to adjustment After such adjustment pursuant to this agreement CEA

Import Export paid sum of approximately RMBS1.82 million to Shanghai

Airlines and paid sum of approximately RM8S.94 million to SA Travel the SA

Import Export Disposal

On 28 July 20t0 Shanghai Airlines and Mity%HShanghai

Airlines Industry Co Ltd SA Industry entered into an agreement with

Eastern Air Catering Investment Co Ltd

CEA Catering pumsant to which Shanghai Airlines agreed to sell and CEA

Catering agreed to purchase 50% of the entire issued share capital of

ªfifPci ni Shanghai Air Catering Co Ltd SA Catering and SA

Industry agreed to sell and CEA Catering agreed to purchase 20% of the entire

issued share capital of SA Catering As the consideration of this transaction CEA

Catering agreed to pay in cash sum of RMBt 5348 504.99 to Shanghai Airlines

and
agreed to pay in cash sum of RMBG139402 to SA Industry subject to

adjustment After such adjustment pursuant to this agreement CEA
Catering paid

sum of approximately RM817.t9 million to Shanghai Airlines and paid sum of

approximately RMB6.88 million to SA Industry the SA Catering Disposal

On 28 July 2010 Shanghai Airlines and SA Travel entered into an agreement with

CEA Media pursuant to which Shanghai Airlines agreed to sell and CEA Media

agreed to purchase 49% of the entire issued share
capital

of .hfijt
PP2 Shanghai Airlines Communication Co Ltd SA Media and

SA Travel agreed to sell and CEA Media agreed to purchase 5l% of the entire

issued share capital of SA Media As the consideration of this transaction CEA

Media agreed to pay
in cash sum of RMB12014955.93 to Shanghai Airlines as

and agreed to
pay

is cash sum of RMB12505361.87 to SA Travel subject to

adjustment After such adjustment pursuant to this agreement CEA Media paid

sum of approximately RMB13.36 million to Shanghai Airlines and paid sum of

approximately
RMB 13.90 million to SA Travel the SA Media Disposal
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After the absorption of Shanghai Airlines through share exchange by the

Company the assets liabilities business personnel contracts and all other rights

and obligations have been vested with the Company which lead to competition

with the
existing

business of our controlling shareholder CEA Holding in the

areas of aviation catering import and export and media businesses Therefore

the main purpose of these transactions is to avoid competition within the same

industry Each of CEA Import Export CEA Catering and CEA Media is interested

as to 55% by and thus an associate of CEA Holding which is substantial

shareholder of the Company As such each of CEA Import Export CEA

Catering and CEA Media is connected person of the Company and each of the

SA Import Export Disposal the SA Catering Disposal
and the SA Media

Disposal

constitutes connected transaction of the Company For details please refer to

the announcement of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated 28 July 2DtD

f2 On 2D December 2010 the Company tMMM MM2its1 China

Ocean Shipping Group Company the COSCO Group Concord Pacific

Limited and Singapore Airlines Cargo Pte Ltd Singapore Cargo Airlines

entered into capital increase agreement pursuant to which the Company

agreed to contribute RMB1 .0455 billion COSCO Group agreed to contribute

RMB34R.S millinn Concord Pacific Limited agred ro conrrihitre RM8328 million

and Singapore Cargo Airlines agreed to contribute RMB328 million to China

Cargo Airlines

On 20 December 2010 China Cargo Airlines and

2R1 Shanghai Airlines Cargo International Co Ltd Shanghai Cargo

Airlines entered into an asset acquisition agreement pursuant to which the

core business of cargo air transportation and the related assets of Shanghai

Cargo Airlines shall be acquired by China Cargo Airlines The
preliminary transfer

price is RMB2Y.316 million the final amount is subject to the filing of the assets

appraisal report with the state-owned assets authorities

On 2D December 2010 China Cargo Airlines as purchaser and Great Wall

Airlines as vendor entered into an agreement for the acquisition of all valuable

business carried on by and all valuable assets of Great Wall Airlines at

consideration of RMB3868S5000 the final amount is
subject to the

filing
of

the assets appraisal report
with the state-owned assets authorities The main

purpose of this transaction was to enhance China Cargo Airlines capability for

sustainable development and avoid horizontal competition Since CEA Holding

is the
controlling

shareholder of the Company Great Wall Airlines being

subsidiary of CEA Holding is connected prcnn of the Company for the
purpose

of the Listing Rules Hence the transaction between China Cargo Airlines and

Great Wall Airlines constitutes connected transaction of the Company as defined

under Rule 14A.13 of the
Listing

Rules For details of the aforesaid agreement

please refer to the announcement of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated 20

December 2010
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

069

In order to better regulate the continuing business relationships between the Group

and ii CEA Holding and certain of its assodates and in compliance with the applicable

requirements
under

Chapter
14A of the

Listing Rules the Company entered into various

renewed agreements with certain members of the CEA Holding in respect of various

continuing connected transactions These agreements are as follows

iflftfl
AbI4ffl diRQ14A

Agreements

Property Leasing
Renewal Agreement

Counterparties and connected person relationship

CEA Holding

Financial Services Renewal Agreement

Import and Export Agency Renewal

Agreement

Maintenance and Repair Services

Renewal Agreement

Catering Services Renewal Agreement

Sales Agency Services Renewal

Agreements

Advertising Services Renewal Agreement

Media Resources Renewal Agreement

Eastern Air Group Finance Company Limited the Eastern

Air Finance Company which is directly interested as to approximately 53.75% by and

is thus an associate of CEA Holding

MM 6rM3i S3.7S%t4MMfl
flMtEhflflA

IM LI Mf.2 Eastern Aviation Import Export Company the Eastern

Aviation Import Export Company which is directly interested as to 55% by and is

thus an assodate of CEA Holding

MMLIM1flWDii

MMiMMM CEA Development Co CEA Development which is

directly interested as to 95% by and is thus an associate of CEA Holding

9S%ttMflfl

Eastern Air Catering Investment Co Ltd the Eastern

Air Catering Company which is directly interested as to 550/s by and is thus an

associate of CEA Holding

MMMMMIWC2 Shanghai Dongmei Aviation Tourism Co Ltd Shanghai

Dongmei which is indirectly interested as to 72.84% by and is thus an associate of

CEA Holding

Mfl31Lh5Mi 72.84%tau%rfl

Eastern Aviation Advertising Company Limited the CEA

Media which is directly
interested as to 55% by and is thus an associate of CEA

Holding

The CEA Media which is directly
interested as to 55% by and is thus an associate of CEA

Holding

MM1W 5S%4 IM$flMM
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hA

Details of the continuing
connected transactions are set out as follows

070

PROPERTY LEASING RENEWAL AGREEMENT

Dn 12 May 2D05 CEA Holding CEA Northwest CEA Yunnan and the Company

entered into
property leasing agreement and such agreement was renewed on

29 April 2DD8 the Existing Property Leasing Agreement

Dn 15 Dctober 2D1D the Company entered into an agreement relating to

the renewal of the Existing Property Leasing Agreement with CEA Holding on

substantially the same terms pursuant to which the Company will lease from CEA

Holding
and its subsidiaries for use by the Group in its daily airlines and other

business operations

total number of up to 33 land
properties

owned by CEA Northwest

covering an aggregate site area of approximately 692539 square metres

primarily located in Xian Xianyang and Lanzhou together with total

of 225 building properties and related construction infrastructure and

facilities occupying an aggregate floor area of approximately 269148

square metres

total number of up to land properties owned by CEA Vunnan covering

an aggregate site area of
approximately 42D768 square metres primarily

located in Kunming together with total of 77 building properties and

related construction infrastructure and facilities occupying an aggregate

floor area of approximately 452949 square metres

building properties and related construction infrastructure and

facilities owned by CEA Holding occupying an aggregate floor area of

approximately 8853 square metres located in Shiazhuang

building properties and related construction infrastructure and

facilities owned by CEA Holding occupying an aggregate floor area of

approximately 63552 square metres located in Taiyuan

total of building properties and related construction infrastructure and

facilities owned by
CEA Holding occupying an aggregate floor area of

approximately 13195 square
metres located in Shanghai

total of 29 guest rooms and suites in Eastern Hotel owned by
CEA

Holding occupying an aggrPgato
floor area of approximatIy 1DD square

metres located in Shanghai and

other property facilities owned by CEA Holding and/or its subsidiaries

as may be leased to the Company from time to time due to the
urgent

business requirements of the Company
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Oii

FINANCIAL SERVICES RENEWAL AGREEMENT

On 12 May 2005 Eastern Air Finance Company and the Company entered into

finandal services agreement and such agreement was renewed on 29 April 2008

the Existing Financial Services Agreement

On 15 October 2010 the Company entered into an agreement relating to

the renewal of the Existing
Financial Services Agreement with the Eastern Air

Finance Company pursuant
to which the Eastern Air Finance Company and its

subsidiaries will from time to time provide the Group with range
of financial

services including deposit services
loan and

financing services and it

other financial services such as the provision of trust loans financial guarantees

and credit references the scope of other financial services is not limited

and different services may be provided to the Group as and when they are

needed

IMPORT AND EXPORT AGENCY RENEWAL AGREEMENT

On 12 May 2005 the Eastern Aviation Import Export Company and the

Company entered into an import and export agency agreement such agreement

was renewed on 29 April 2008 the Existing Import and Export Agency

Agreement

On 15 October 2010 the Company entered into an agreement relating to the

renewal of the
Existing Import and Export Agency Agreement with the Eastern

Aviation Import Export Company on substantially the same terms pursuant

to which the Eastern Aviation Import Export Company and its subsidiaries will

from time to time as its agent provide the Group with agency services for the

import and export of aircraft and related raw materials accessories machinery

and equipment required in the daily airlines operations
and dvii aviation business

of the Group

MAINTENANCE AND REPAIR SERVICES RENEWAL AGREEMENT

On 12 May 2005 29 Shanghai Eastern Aviation

Equipment Manufacturing Corporation and the Company entered into

maintenance services agreement and such agreement was renewed on 29 April

2008 the Existing Maintenance Services Agreement

On 28 October 2008 CEA Development and the Company entered into an

automobile repairing services agreement the Existing Automobile Repairing

Services Agreement
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On 15 October 2010 the Company entered into an agreement relating to the

consolidation and renewal of the Existing Maintenance Services Agreement

and the
Existing Automobile Repairing Services Agreement on substantially the

name terms with CEA Oevelopment pursuant to which CEA Oevelopment and

its subsidiaries will from time to time provide certain services to the Company

including maintenance and repair services to the Companys automobiles that

are uned in ground services and daily operations comprehensive services in

relation to maintenance repair and overhaul of aircraft and aviation equipment

and procurement of related equipment and materials required in the daily

operations of the Group various special vehicles and equipment for airline use

such as air stairs freight cars luggage trailers garbage truck food cars freight

containers freight board and aircraft on hoard supplies

CATERING SERVICES RENEWAL AGREEMENT

On 12 May 2005 the Company and number of subsidiaries or associates

of CEA Holding entered into various
catering

services agreements and such

agreements were consolidated and renewed on 29 April 2008 the Existing

Catering Services Agreement

On October 2010 the Company entered into an agreement relating to the

renewal of the Existing Catering
Services Agreement with the Eastern Air Catering

Company on substantially the same terms pursuant to which the Eastern Air

Catering Company and the subsidiaries of the Eastern Air Catering Company will

from time to time provide the Group with
in-flight catering

services including

the supply of in-flight meals and beverages cutlery and tableware and related

storage and complementary services required in the daily airline operations and

civil aviation business of the Group The Eastern Air Catering and its subsidiaries

provide their services in accordance with the specifications and schedules as from

time to time specified by the relevant members of the Group to accommodate its

operation needs

SALES AGENCY SERVICES RENEWAL AGREEMENT

On 12 May 2005 the Company and number of subsidiaries or associates of

CEA
Holding entered into various sales agency service agreements and such

agreements were renewed on 29 April 2008 the Existing Sales Agency

Services Agreements

On 15 October 2010 the Company entered into an agreement relating to the

renewal of the Existing Sales Agency Services Agreements with Shanghai Oongmei

on substantially
the same terms pursuant to which the Shanghai Oongmei and its

subsidiaries will ftom time to time provide the Group as its
agents

with services

for sale of air tickets and the provision of complementary services required in the

daily airline operations and civil aviation business of the Group
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ADVERTISING SERVICES RENEWAL AGREEMENT

On 12 May 2005 the CEA Media and the Company enter into an advertising

services agreement and such agreement was renewed on 29 April 2008

On 15 October 2010 the Company entered into an agreement relating to the

renewal of the Existing Advertising Services Agreement with the CEA Media

on substantially the same terms pursuant to which the CEA Media and its

subsidiaries will from time to time provide the Group with multi-media advertising

services in order to promote its business and to organise promotional functions

and campaigns to enhance its reputation in the civil aviation industry

MEDIA RESOURCES RENEWAL AGREEMENT

On 24 March 2010 the Company and CEA Media entered into an agreement

pursuant to which the Company agreed to grant CEA Media exclusive rights to

operate the media resources of the Company the Existing Media Resources

Agreement

On 15 October 2010 the Company entered into an agreement relating to the

renewal of the Existing Media Resources Agreement with the CEA Media on

substantially the same terms pursuant
to which the Company agreed to

grant

the Eastern Aviation Advertising and its subsidiaries exclusive rights to operate

the media resources of the Company

Pursuant to the Media Resources Renewal Agreement the CEA Media and its

subsidiaries will have the following exclusive rights

to distribute certain in-flight reading materials to the customers ot the

Company

to operate advertisements in the media resources of the Company which

includes the folding tables occipital plate to the seat in-flight radios and

video entertainment programmes advertisement
system on airport shuttles

website and mobile connection mobile phones and

iii to be commissioned to purchase in flight entertainment programmes which

may include the content of the advertisements from independent third

parties or produce such programmes on its own

Eor other exploitable media resources that are not included in the preceding

paragraphs the Company has the
right to invite

public bidding
CEA Media and

its subsidiaries have the
priority to develop and operate the aforementioned

exploitable media resources if in the bidding process
such CEA Media and its

subsidiaries offer the same terms as the other bidders
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The following table sets out the annual caps for the continuing connected

transactions between the Group and members of CPA Holding
and ii their actual

amounts in 2010

T$Mfl212t4

fPhiflntL

Transactions

Financial services balance of deposit

Catering services

Import and export agency services

fi

Maintenance services

4nfgf%
Property leasing

nfl
Advertising agency services

Media resources operation services

Sales agency services agency fee

Automobile
repairing

services

Incurred up to

31 December 2010

RMB million

Afi
1137

11.37Wm

544.49

544497c

59.64

5964yt

2.97

297t
55.14

5514 tic

20.21

2021 7c
12

1200jt

18.8

188Dc

39.8

398oa7L

Annual caps

for continuing

connected transaction

conducted in 2010

fflthn-
RMB million

Afi
2500

25fEt

62 1.49

62149yc

69.5

6950 ji

27.8

280jc
60

6000c

26

2600
30

3000jc

46.25

4625t

58.3

5830jc

Details of the Groups continuing connected transactions with the Companys connected

persons as defined in the Listing Rules during the
year

ended 31 December 2010 are

set out in note 46 to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS

The Companys independent non-executive Directors have reviewed such continuing

connected transactions during the year 2010 and confirmed that

the transactions have been entered into by the Group in the ordinary and usual

course of its business

the transactions have been entered into either on normal commercial terms or ii

where there are not sufficient comparable transactions to judge
whether they are

on normal commercial terms on terms no less favourable to the Company than

terms available to or from as appropriate independent third parties and

the transactions have been entered into in accordance with the relevant

agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the

interests of the shareholders of the Company as whole
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For the purpose of Rule 14A.38 of the
Listing Rules the auditors of the Company

have carried out procedures on the above connected transactions disclosed herein for

the
year

ended 31 December 2D1D in accordance with the Hong Kong Standard on

Assurance Engagements 3DDD Assurance Engagement Other Than Audits or

Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with reference to Practice Note

74D Auditors Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong

Kong Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

and reported that in respect
of the disclosed

continuing connected transactions

nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the disclosed

continuing connected transactions have not been approved by
the Companys

board of directors

for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the Group

nothing
has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the transactions

were not in all material respects in accordance with the pricing policies of the

Company

nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the transactions

were not entered into in all material respects in accordance with the relevant

agreements governing such transactions

with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing connected

transactions nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that

the disclosed continuing connected transactions have exceeded the maximum

aggregate
annual value disclosed in the previous announcements dated 29 April

2DD8 15 April 2DD9 24 March 2D1 15 Dctober 2D1 made by the Company in

respect of each of the disclosed continuing
connected transactions

In respect
of each continuing connected transaction disclosed in note 46 to the financial

statements prepared in accordance with IFRS the Company confirms that it has

complied with the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules

Details of the other related
party

transactions entered
by

the Group during the
year

ended 31 December 2D1D are set out in note 46 to the financial statements prepared

in accordance with IFRS These transactions do not constitute connected transactions

under the Listing Rules
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Number of aircraft as at 31 December 2010nfl-
No Model Self-owned and under finance lease Under operating lease Subtotal

Mt

A340600

4340300

4330300 15

4330200

A320 71 24 95

4319 10 15

4321 20 20

3737 300 16 16

3737700 33 19 52

10 8737800 15 46 61

11 3751200 10

12 B767 300 10

13 A300600R passenger aircrafU
14 CRJ200 10

15 EMB14SLR 10 10

16 HawkrR00

17 MD liE

18 A300600R cargo aircraftW

19 8747400ER

20 3757 200F

21 8777F

Total 225 130 355

Proportion 63.38% 36.62% 100%

ftt
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In relation to future deliveries of aircraft as at 31 December 2010 the following are 58 fi ft

details of aircrafts on order which are scheduled to be delivered

Model Number of aircraft Year of delivery

A320 17 2011

A321 2011

A33D 2011

8737700 2011

B7378DD 2011

A319 2012

A320 10 2012

A321 2012

A330 2012

B737700 2012

8737800 2012

A319 2013

A320 2013

A321 2013

A330 2013

8737 700 2013

B737 800 2013

A319 2014

A320 2014

A321 2014

A330 2014

B737 700 2014

8737 800 2014

A319 2015

A320 2015

A321 2015

8737700 2015

8737800 2015

As at the date of this
report

the Directors are not aware of any aircraft which is subject 58 58 I$ftftfl tIE

to options exercisable during period of not less than 12 months from 31 December t_.fl Tfift.fl hh

2010

STAFF HOUSING BENEFITS

Details of the Groups staff housing benefits are set out in note 37 to the financial

statements prepared in accordance with FF15

MATERIAL LITIGATION

As at 31 December 2010the Company was not involved in any litigation
of material fl

importance
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SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

The Company wishes to highlight the following information

jcI

07t3

On 10 July 2009 the Company entered into an agreement with Shanghai

Airlines in relation to the absorption of Shanghai Airlines by way of the issuance

of new shares of the Company in exchange for the existing issued shares of

Shanghai Airlines on the basis of 1.3 shares of the Company for each existing

issued share of Shanghai Airlines The exchange of shares was completed on

28 January 2010 On 28 January 2010 1694838860 new shares of the

Company were issued As of 28
January 2010 the identifiable net liabilities of

Shanghai Airlines assumed by the Company had book value of approximately

RMB776 million and fair value of approximately RMB21S1 million Details are

set out in the announcements of the Company issued in Hong Kong dated 10 July

2009 10 August 2009 10 September 2009 October 2009 January 2010 11

January 2010 13
January 2010 18

January 2010 26
January 2010 28

January

2010 26 February 20t0 30 March 2010 30 April 2010 31 May 2010 30 June

2010 and 30 July 2010 30 August 2010 29 September 2010 29 October 2010

30 November 2010 and January 2011 and the circular of the Company dated

25 August 2009

At the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on October 2009

the Board was authorized by the shareholders of the Company to make such

appropriate and
necessary

amendments to the Companys articles of association

as the Board thinks fit to reflect such increases in the registered capital and

change of shareholding of the Company as result of the completion of the

exchange of shares mentioned above With completion
of the exchange of

shares on 28
January

2010 and the
listing

of the issued shares of the Company

as result of the said exchange of shares commencing on February 2010

the corresponding amendments made to certain artides of association of the

Company as result of the completion ot the said absorption became effective on

February 2010 For details please refer to the announcement of the Company

issued in Hong Kong dated February 2010

On 12 January 2010 the Company i3$E

Jiangsu Guoxin Investment Group Limited 1I3$3$3$fl961 Jiangsu

Communication Holding Limited formerly known as

3$iE31 Jiangsu Aviation Industry Group Company Limited and

fNaning Investment Company together reterred to as the

Shareholders entered into the CEA Jiangsu Joint Venture
Capital

Increase

Agreement pursuant
to which the Shareholders unanimously agreed to increase

the share capital of China Eastern Airlines

Jiangsu Co Ltd CEA Jiangsu according to the existing proportion of their

respective shareholding interests in CEA Jiangsu and the registered capital ot

CEA Jiangsu shall be increased from RMB88O million to RMB2000 million For

details please
refer to the overseas regulatory announcement of the Company

issued in Hong Kong dated 12
January 2010
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On 26 July 2010 the State owned Assets Supervision and Administration

Commission of the Peoples Government of Yunnan Province Yunnan

SASAC and the Company entered into an agreement pursuant to which

Yunnan SASAC and the Company agreed to jointly
establish

%2 Eastern Airlines Yunnan Limited Corporation the Joint Venture

Pursuant to this agreement the registered capital of the Joint Venture shall be

contributed as to 6S% by the Company and 350/s by Yunnan SASAC respectively

For details please
refer to the announcement of the Company issued in Hong

Kong dated 26 July 2010

The authorised
representative

in Hong Kong for the purpose of Section 333

of the Companies Ordinance Chapter 32 of the Laws of Hong Kong of the

Company has been changed from Mr Cheung Sau Ting to Mr Zhang Voujun with

effect from 30 July
2010 For details please refer to the announcement of the

Company issued in Hong Kong dated 30 July 2010

With effect from 10 August 2010 Eastern Standard Time of the United States of

America the ratio for its American Depository Shares the ADS representing

shares othe Company Shares changed from one ADS representing

one hundred 100 Shares to one ADS representing fifty SO Shares For

details please
reer to the overseas regulatory announcement of the Company

issued in Hong Kong dated August 2010

On 29 October 2010 the Company entered into two agreements with CEA

Holding pumuant to which the Company agreed to acquire 5% equity interests

in iiJIIfth.H Shanghai Eastern
Flight Training Co

Ltd Flight Training Company held by CEA Holding and 14.14% equity

interests in Eastern Airlines Hotel Co Ltd Eastern

Airlines Hotel held by CEA Holding Prior to these equity transfers the

Company held 95% equity interests in Flight Training Company and 8S.86%

equity interests in Eastern Airlines Hotel respectively As CEA Holding directly

and indirectly holds approximately 59.94% equity interests in the Company CEA

Holding
is connected

person
of the Company and the transactions contemplated

under the said equity transfer agreements constitute connected transactions

of the Company pursuant to the Rules

Governing Listing of Securities on the Shanghai Stock Exchange For details

please refer to the overseas regulatory announcement of the Company issued in

Hong Kong dated 29 October 2010

On 30 December 2010 the Company entered into an aircraft purchase agreement

with Airbus SAS in Shanghai regarding
the purchase of

fifty
Airbus A32D series

aircraft For details please refer to the announcement and the circular of the

Company issued in Hong Kong dated 30 December 2010 and 25 February 2011

respectively
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INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS OPINION

independent Directors of the Company have performed auditing work and issued an

independent opinion on the guarantees the Company has provided as required by
the

relevant
requirements

of the CSRC The Company has strictiy observed relevant laws

and regulations as well as its articles of association while it has also imposed strict

control on the guarantees provided As at 31 December 2D1D none of the Company

and its subsidiaries included in the consolidated financial statements has provided any

guarantee to the Companys controlling shareholder and other related parties other

nonlegal person entity units and individuals

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers Certified Public Accountants Hong Kong and

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian CPAs Limited Company registered accountants in

the PRC were the Companys international and domestic auditors in 2D1D respectively

Dn behalf of the Board

Liu Shaoyong

Chafrman

Shanghai the PRC

3D March 2D1
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has established formal and appropriate corporate governance structure

The Company has also
placed emphasis on the

corporate governance principle
of

having

transparency accountability and safeguarding the interests of all shareholders

The Directors believe that sound
corporate governance is essential to the development

of the Companys operations The Board regularly reviews our corporate governance

practices to ensure that the Company operates in accordance with the laws regulations

and requirements of the listing jurisdictions and that the Company continuously

implements corporate governance of high efficiency

The Companys corporate governance practices include but are not limited to the

following

Articles of association rules of meeting of general meetings rules of meeting of

the Board rules of meeting of the Supervisory Committee working regulations of

independent directors administrative documents of the audit and risk management

committee administrative documents of the planning and development committee

working rules of the nomination and remuneration committee working rules of

the aviation safety and environment committee working regulations
of presidents

management regulations of investor relationship investor relationship management

detailed implementation regulation management regulations of the connected

transactions connected transaction detailed implementation rules regulations on

external guarantee and the interim administrative regulations concerning hedging

businesses

For the
year

ended 31 December 2D1 the Reporting Period and as at the date of

the announcement of this annual report the Board has reviewed the relevant provisions

and corporate governance practices under the codes of corporate governance practices

adopted by the Company and took the view that the Companys corporate governance

practices during the financial year ended 31 December 2D1D met the requirements

under the code provisions in the Code on Corporate Governance Practices set out in

Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules the Code In certain
aspects

the code of
corporate

governance adopted by the Company is more stringent than the provisions set out in the

Code The following sets out aspects which are more stringent than the Code

Major aspects
which are more stringent than provisions set out in the Code

all members of the audit and risk management are Independent Non executive

Directors

13 meetings of the Board were held during the financial
year

of 2D1

Dther than the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Nomination

and Remuneration Committee the Company also established two specialized

committee namely Planning and Development Committee and the Aviation

Safety and Environment Committee
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BOARD

O8L

The Company is managed by
the Board The Board is responsible

for the leading

and control of the Company The Directors are jointly responsible for implementing

businesses of the Company by directing and supervising the affairs of the Company

DIRECTORS

As at 31 December 2D1D the Board consists of Directors including four Independent

Non-executive Directors During the first
extraordinary general meeting

in 2D10 held on

ig March 2Db the shareholders of the Company approved the appointment of Mr Wu

Xiaogen and Mr ii Weidong as independent non-executive directors of the fifth session

of the Board while Mr Hu Honggao and Mr Zhou Ruijin were no longer independent

non-executive directors of the Company During the 2DD9 annual general meeting held

on 28 June 2D1D the shareholders of the Company approved the appointment of Mr

Liu Shaoyong Mr Li Jun Mr Ma Xulun Mr Luo Chaogeng and Mr Luo Zhuping as

directors of the sixth session of the Board and Mr Sandy Ke Yaw Liu Mr Wu Xiaogen

Mr ii Weidong and Mr Shao Ruiqing as Independent Non-executive Directors of the

sixth session of the Board while Mr Wu Baiwang and Mr Xierong were no longer

Independent Non executive Directors of the Company

All Directors shall retire in the third annual
general meeting following

their appointment

but are eligible
for re election Names personal particulars and effective date of

appointment of the Directors are set out in page 48 to page 56 of this report

Independent non-executive Directors of the Company shall possess specialised

knowledge and experience They shall be able to play their roles of supervising and

balancing to the fullest extent to protect the interests of shareholders and the Company as

whole The Board considers that they shall be able to exercise independent judgment

effectively which complies with guidelines on their independence pumuant to Rule 3.13

of the Listing Rules

Pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules the Company has received the annual

confirmation letters from each of the independent non executive Directors on their

independence

All Directors including Independent Non-executive Directom are appointed for term of

yeam The formal appointment letters and the articles of association of the Company

have set out the terms and conditions of their appointment Other than working

relationships Directors Supervisors and senior management of the Company do not

have any financial business or family connection with one another
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POWERS OF THE BOARD

On periodic basis the Board reviews the relevant performance against proposed

budgets and business objectives of each operating unit It also exercises number of

powers retained by the Board including the following

responsibility for convening general meetings and reporting to shareholders on its

work

implementing resolutions passed in general meetings

deciding on the
operating plan

and investment proposals of the Company

formulating the annual preliminary and final budget proposals

formulating the Companys profit distribution proposal and the proposal to offset

losses

formulating the Companys proposals to increase or reduce the registered capital

and proposals to issue debt securities

drawing up proposals
for the Companys merger demerger and dissolution

deciding on the Companys internal management structure

employing or dismissing the Companys President and secretary to the Board

appointment or dismissal of the Vice President and chief financial officer of the

Company on the nomination of the President and the determination of their

remuneration

formulating the management systems
of the Company

formulating proposals to amend the articles of association of the Company

discharging any other powers and functions granted in general meetings

The Board and the relevant specialized committees are also responsible for the

completeness of financial information of the Company and are responsible
for

maintaining an effective internal control
system

and for risk management as well as

preparing the financial statements Setting the business objectives and overseeing the

daily operations are the responsibilities of the chief executive officer The Companys

articles of association specify the duties and functions of the Board and management

The Board periodically reviews the duties and functions of the chief executive officer and

the powers delegated to him to ensure that such arrangements are appropriate

In order to ensure the balance of powers and authorization the roles of the Chairman

and the chief executive officer have been clearly defined The Chairman of the Company

is Mr Liu Shaoyong and the chief executive officer is Mr Ma Xulun Oirector and

the President There are also other senior officers who are responsible for the daily

management within their scope of duties
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MEETING OF THE BOARD flt

O8L

The Chairman leads the Board to ensure that the Board performs
its various duties

effectively and he is responsible for drawing up the agenda of the meeting of the Board

and considering other matters other Directors
propose

to be included in the agenda The

agenda together with documents of the Board should be as far as practicable
drculated

at least days prior to the meeting of the Board or its
specialized

committees The

Chairman is also obliged to ensure that all the Directors are suitably briefed on matters

to be raised in the meeting of the Board The Chairman ensures that the Directors

receive information that is accurate timely
and clear Through on-the-job training

of

Directors and continuous
participation

in meetings of the Board and of committees of

the Board and interviews with key persons
in headquarters and other departments the

Directors are encouraged to update their skills knowledge and their
understanding

of

the Group

The Company has established special unit i.e the secretariat of the board to work

for the Board All the Directors can access to the service of the company secretary

The company secretary periodically updates the Directors of the latest information on

governance and regulatory matters The Directors may seek independent professional

advice through the Chairman for the purpose
of

performing
their duties with the cost

born
by

the Company Specialized committees may also seek professional advice

The company secretary is responsible
for the records of the board meetings These

minutes of meetings together with other related documents for the board meetings shall

be made available to all the Directors Board meetings are meant to enable the Directors

to have open and frank discussions

In order to ensure sound corporate governance as at the date of the announcement of

this annual report the Board had committees in place Audit and Risk Management

Committee Nomination and Remuneration Committee Planning and Development

Committee and Aviation Safety and tnvironment Committee with their terms of

reference drawn up in accordance with the principles set out in the Code The company

secretary
drafts the minutes of meetings tor these committees and the committees

report to the Board
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The Board has held 13 meetings during the Reporting Period The following tables

show the attendance rate of each Director at shareholders
general meetings

and board

meetings

Board Meetings General Meetings

Attendance Attendance

Eligibility Eligibility

Directors of meetings of meetings

Ut

is 5UJi
Liu Shaoyong 13/13 3/3

Li Jun 13/13 3/3

Ma Xulun 13/13 3/3

LuoChaogeng 13/13 2/3

Luo Zhuping 13/13 3/3

nil
Sandy Ke Yaw Liu 13/13 3/3

Wu Xiaogen appointed on 19 March 2010 10/10 2/2

tVfi W1z.JtflIf
ii Weidong appointed on 19 March 2010 10/10 1/2

Shao
Ruiqing appointed on 28 June 2010 6/6 1/1

6ffiililtA AHflE
Hu Honggao terminated on 19 March 2010 3/3 0/1

kt_W
Zhou

Ruijin terminated on 19 March 2010 3/3 0/1

flfiil -H-ithM
Wu Baiwang terminated on 28 June 2010 7/1 1/2-ili_AftSE
Xie Rong terminated on 28 June 2010 7/7 1/2

il\ _An _________________
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DIRECTORS INTERESTS nfl

OBB

All the Directors shall declare to the Board upon their first appointment their capacities

as Directors and any other positions held in other institutions the declaration of which

shall he renewed once year When the Board discusses any motion or transaction

and considers any Director has any conflict of interest the Director shall declare his

interest and abstain from voting and will excuse himself as appropriate The Company

shall pursuant to the guidelines request from Directors their confirmation if they or

their associates are connected with any transactions entered into by the Company or

its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period Material transactions which have been

confirmed as having been entered into with
any

connected
person

have been disclosed

in the notes to the financial statements prepared in accordance with IFRS of this annual

report

fl diflMMT
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code of Appendix 1D of the
Listing

Rules

as the securities transactions code for the Directors Each of the Directors and the

Supervisors of the Company has been issued with copy of the Model Code upon their

appointment

All the Directors and the Supervisors of the Company have confirmed that they have

complied with the Model Code in 2DtD

The Company has also adopted the related provisions set out in Appendix t4 to the

Listing Rules and has established its Code of Conduct for Securities Transactions by

Employees of the Company according to its own situation and with reference to the

Model Code as set out in Appendix 1D to the Listing Rules The aforesaid Code of

Conduct shall apply to the conduct of dealings in the securities of the Company by the

Supervisors
and senior management of the Company

In addition pursuant to the requirements of the Usting Rules for Shares of the Shanghai

Stock Exchange the shares of the Company transferred
by each of the Directors the

Supervisors and senior management of the Company every year are not allowed to

exceed 25% of the total number of shares held by each of them and they are not

allowed to purchase the shares of the Company within months after they have

sold their shares They are also not allowed to sell the shares of the Company within

months after they have bought the shares of the Company Additionally within

months after they have left their appointment they are not allowed to transfer their

shares of the Company held by them

All the employees who may have unpublished prim
sensitive information related ro the

Group are also required to comply with the Model Code During the Reporting Period

the Company is not aware of
any

breach of laws and
regulations
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DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

The Directors confirm that they are responsible for the preparation of the financial

statements of the Group

081

The Auditors report made by the Companys auditors in respect of the financial

statements is set out on page 99 to page 100 of this annual report

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

As at 31 December 2D1D the Audit and Risk Management Committee comprises Mr

Shao Ruiqing Mr Wu Xiaogen and Mr ii Weidong all of whom are Independent

Non executise Directors Mr Shao Ruiqing the chairman possesses professional

qualifications
in accounting The first

extraordinary general meeting in 2010 was held

on t9 March 2010 during which Mr Wu Xiaogen and Mr ii Weidong were appointed

as Independent Non executive Directors of the Company while Mr Hu Honggao and Mr

Zhou Ruijin are no longer Independent Non executive Directors of the Company The

36th ordinary meeting of the fifth session of the Board of the Company was held on the

same day during which the resolution on the appointment of members of the Audit and

Risk Management Committee was considered and passed agreed that Mr Hu Honggao

and Mr Thou Ruilin ceased to be the members of the Audit and Risk Management

Committee while Mr Wu Xiaogen and Mr ii Weidong were appointed to serve as the

members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee On the 2009 annual general

meeting Mr Shao
Ruiqing was elected as an Independent

Non-executive Director of the

Company The 1st ordinary meeting of the sixth session of the Board of the Company

was held on the same day during which Mr Shao Ruiqing was elected as the chairman

of the Audit and Risk Management Committee

The Audit and Risk Management Committee is spedalized committee under the Board

It is responsible for checking and monitoring
the financial

reports
and internal control of

the Company checking and evaluating the overall risk management of the Company in

particular the risk management and risk control policy for material decision significant

events and major business and overseeing
their implementation

INTERNAL CONTROL
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Infernal control system rni1miix

The Board shall be responsible for the overall internal control system of the

Company/Group and periodically reviews the effectiveness of the internal control

system through the Audit and Risk Management Committee The internal control

system
is essential to risk management which in turn is important in ensuring

that operational objectives can be achieved Internal control procedures are

designed to prevent assets from unauthorized use or disposal to ensure the

maintenance of appropriate accounting records and to provide reliable financial

information either for internal use or for dissemination
externally However the

control procedures aim at reasonably but not absolutelyj assuring that there will

not be material misrepresentation loss or misconduct The internal control system

is prepared in accordance with the relevant laws supplementary regulations
and

constitutional documents
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The Company reviews the effectiveness of its internal control annually which

includes control over finance operations compliance with laws and
regulations as

well as the
monitoring

of risk management The results of the review have been

reported to the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Board

The Board confirms that the Company has
systems

and procedures in place to

identify manage and report material risks in the course of achieving its strategic

objectives The Board continae to monitor risks with the support of the speciahsed

committees and senior management

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Companys internal audit department is responsible for conducting an

independent audit of whether or not the internal control system is sufficient

and effective The auditing plan is prepared using risk based approach and is

discussed and finalized by
the Audit and Risk Management Committee annually

Other than the pre-determined scope
of work for each year the department is

also required to conduct other specific audits

The Groups internal audit department reports
to the President it may also report

directly to the chairman of the Audit and Risk Management Committee All the

internal audit reports are delivered to the Chairman of the Board the President

chief financial officer the management of the audit department and related

departments The outcome of each audit in summary will also be discussed

with the Audit and Risk Management Committee The Board and the Audit and

Risk Management Committee of the Company actively monitor the number and

seriousness of the inspection result by the internal audit department and the

relevant corrective measures taken by the relevant department

RISK MANAGEMENT

2T fff .R flu XflEt
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The Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Company is responsible

for
checking

and evaluating the overall risk management of the Company and

overseeing their implementation checking and evaluating the risk management

and risk control policy and duties on developing fuels foreign exchange and

interest rate hedging and
overseeing

their implementation

The internal audit department has undertaken related risk management duties

and reports to the audit and risk management committee periodically It is

responsible for coordinating the implementation of appropriate procedures to

manage operational risks

R1Anfr9nJtRflNflfi

fiflfl
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The Audit and Risk Management Committee held five meetings in 2010 In each

meeting senior management and esternal as well as internal auditors were

invited to attend Based on the reports of the external and internal auditors

according to the accounting principles
and

practices
and internal controls

adopted by the Group with view to comply with the requirements of the

Listing Rules the committee conducted reviews of audits internal control risk

management and financial statements The Groups first quarterly results interim

results and third quarterly results for 2010 and the final results for 2010 had been

discussed in the Audit and Risk Management Committees meetings before they

were submitted to the Board for approval

Attendance of members of the Audit and Risk Management Committee meetings is

as follows

Additionally the Audit and Risk Management Committee has also conducted

other compliance work to comply with PRC and US
reporting requirements in

2010 including guiding and overseeing of the construction of internal control

hearing and reviewing the overall plan for risk management implementing

risk management work in accordance with the requirements of the regulatory

authorities and
reviewing

the Companys compliance with the Sarbanes Oxley

Act and specifically tu consider the work undertaken by the management

including managements assessment to ensure the Companys compliance with

the internal control regulation Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act

The constitutional document of the Audit and Risk Management Committee is

posted on the website of the Company
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Eligibility of

Meetings
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Directors Attendance

Xie Rong resigned on 28 June 2010

Hu Honggao resigned on 19 March 2010thM
Zhou

Ruijin resigned on 19 March 2010

JJt -tmftHBe

2/2

1/1

1/1

100%

100%

100%

Shao Ruiqing appointed on 28 June 2010

7tt AM1
Wu Xiaogen appointed on 19 March 2010%tR ttfltC
Ji Weidong appointed on 19 March 2010

3/3

4/4

4/4

100%

100%

100%
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EXTERNAL AUDITORS

090

For the
Reporting Period the annual audit fees payable to the external auditors both

international and domestic auditors is estimated to be RMB16.68 million for the regular

annual audit of the Groups 2010 financial statements prepared under IFRS and PRC

Accounting Standards and the other relevant documents applicable for the
purpose

of

20-F filing In addition RMB1.S million is payable to the external auditors in connection

with the proposed restructuring of the Groups cargo airline business during the

Reporting Period service fee of RMB1 million is also payable to the external auditors

for approved non audit services rendered during the Reporting Period The auditors

remuneration are determined by the Audit and Risk Management Committee and

approved by the Board

The Audit and Risk Management Committee obtained an overall understanding of the

non audit services and its scope
and was satisfied that the non audit services in respect

of the nature of service and the total cost for non regular
audit services compared to

regular audit service fee had not affected the independence of the accounting firm

PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

As of 31 December 2010 the
Planning and Development Committee of the Company

comprises of three members Mr Luo Chaogeng Mr Luo Zhuping and Mr Shao

Ruiqing Mr Luo Chaogeng Director is the chairman of the committee

The
Planning

and Development Committee is specialized committee under the Board

It is responsible for studying considering and making plans or recommendation in

regard to the long term development plans and material investment decision of the

Company and overseeing their implementation

Attendance of members of the Planning and Development Committee meetings is as

follows

The constitutional document of the Planning and Development Committee is posted on

the website of the company
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Attendance

Eligibility
of

MeetingsMembers

5%

Attendance

ftjg5

Fun Chaogeng 8/8 100%

555
Luo Zhuping 8/8 100%

5n
Shao

Ruiqing appointed on 28 June 2D1D 4/4 100%555 tAI AflE
Wu Buiwang terminated on 28 June 2010 4/4 100%
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NOMINATION AND REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

091

The Remuneration and
Appraisal

Committee of the Board comprises of three members

Zhou Ruijin Luo Chaogeng and Wu Baiwang Zhou Ruijin is the chairman of the

committee while Thou Ruijin and Wu Baiwang are Independent Non-executive

Directors On March 2010 during the first meeting of the Remuneration and Appraisal

Committee of the Board in 2010 the remuneration for the
year

2009 of salaried

directom supervisors and senior management was considered and passed and was

disclosed in the annual report
of the Company for the

year
2009 as required

On 19 March 2010 the Board passed resolution of merging the Nomination

Committee and the Remuneration and
Appraisal

Committee
originally

under the Board

into the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the Board comprises of three

members Liu Shaoyong Sandy Ke Yaw Liu and ii Weidong Liu Shaoyong is the

chairman of the committee while both of Sandy Ke Yaw and ii Weidong are

Independent Non executive Oirectom

In 2u1u under the leadership of the Board the Nomination and Remuneration

Committee of the Board conscientiously performed duties and functions in completing

the work pursuant to the Corporate Governance Standards for Listed Companies

the Articles of Association of the Company the rules of meeting of the Board and

the powers and obligations bestowed upon it by the Board The Nomination and

Remuneration Committee held three meetings in total during 2010 at which the

following were considered and passed

During the first meeting of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the fifth

session of the Board on April 2010 Liu Shaoyong Li Jun Ma Xulun Luo Chaogeng

and Luo Zhupinq were nominated as candidates for Directors for the sixth session of

the Board and Sandy Ke-Yaw Liu Wu Xiaogen ii Weidong and Shao
Ruiqing were

nominated as candidates for Independent Non-executive Directors for the sixth session

of the Board and such nominations were agreed to be submitted at the second regular

meeting of the fifth session of the Board of the Company in 2010 for conuideration

During the second meeting of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the fifth

session of the Board on 23 June 2010 Liu Shaoyong was nominated as the Chairman

of the Company Li Jun was nominated as the Vice Chairman of the Company the

composition of each of the specialized committee under the Board was nominated Ma

Xulun was nominated as the President of the Company Zhang Jianzhong Li Yangmin

Zhao Jinyu and lang Bing were nominated as the Vice President of Company Wu

Yongliang was nominated as the Chief Financial Officer of the Company and Luo

Zhuping was nominated as the Company Secretary
and such nominations were agreed

to be submitted at the first
meeting

of the sixth session of the Board of the Company for

consideration

During the first meeting
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee of the sixth

session of the Board on 27 August 2010 the Committee members expressed their

views and recommendations and proposed specific work requirements after taking into

consideration of the contemplation and preliminary proposal on work positions and the

remuneration adjustment reform reported by the human resources department of the

Company
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Attendance of members of the Remuneration and
Appraisal

Committee is as follows

Attendance

Eligibility of

Meeting

RU11fl

092

The Working Rules of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee is

posted on the website of the Company

REMUNERATION POLICY OF DIRECTORS

Directors
generally

do not receive remuneration from the Company except Independent

Non-executive Directors who received fixed remuneration However Directors who

svrved as other administrative positions will receive
salary

with regard to those positions

separately

Certain Directors received emoluments from CEA Holding the parent company part of

which were in respect of their services to the Compvny and its subsidiaries

Generally the policy regarding the remuneration packages of Directors are aimed

primarily at linking
the remunvration of Directors to their performance which

helps to

encourage their performance
and their

remaining in office Pursuant to the policy the

Directors are not allowed to
approve

their own remuneration

The remuneration of the Directors of the Company mainly comprises basic
salary

and

bonus

tI1fflt1fL

ie

1fiftfl
fl1rt1

tflfl

BASIC SALARY

The Directors review the basic salary of each Director on an annual basis pursuant to

the remuneration policy of the Company In 2D1D pursuant to the service contracts

entered into between the Company and each of the Directom the Directom are entitled

to receive fixed basic salary

BONUS

iiUU
Vtl

Bonuses are calculated based on the measurable performance and contribution of the

operating units for which the Directors are responsible

Members Attendance

Thou
Ruijin

Jjt
Luo Chaogeng

Wu Baiwang

ill 1DD%

1/1 1OD%

11 1DD%

fI
Attendance of members of the nomination and remuneration committee is as follows

Attendance

Eligibility
of

Members Meeting Attendance

Uun
nalffl Bliss

Liu Shaoyong 33 1OD%

Sandy Ke Yaw Liu 33 1DD%

lj5
ii Weidong 33 DD%
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REMUNERATION POLICY OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE

DIRECTORS

Allowances before tax received by the Companys Independent
Non executive Directors

in 2010 were as follows

Sandy Ke Yaw Liu

Wu Xiaogen appointed on 19 March 2010

9Jfi
JiWeidong appointed on 19 March 2010

Shao Ruiqing appointed on 28 June 2010

Wft
Hu Honggao terminated on 19 March 2010

9iWfit
Zhou Ruijin terminated on 19 March 2010htW_ft kMfl
Wu Baiwang terminated on 28 June 2010tIfi WtAff Aff9E
Xie Rong terminated on 28 June 2010

ifih \Mi
AVIATION SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENT COMMITTEE

The first regular meeting of the Board of the Company in 2010 was held on 20

January 2010 during
which the establishment of the Aviation Safety and Environment

Committee was agreed and the Working Rules of the Aviation Safety and

Environment Committee was passed The 36th ordinary meeting of the fifth session

of the Board of the Company was held on 19 March 2010 during which it was agreed

that the aviation safety and environment committee of the Company comprises Mr

Ma Xulun Mr Chaogeng and Mr Sandy Ke Yaw Liu and Ma Xulun serves as the

Chairman of the Committee

The Aviation Safety and Environment Committee is specialized committee under the

Board It is responsible for consistent implementation
of the relevant laws or regulatory

of national aviation safety and environmental protection enamining and overseeing

the aviation safety management of the Company studying considering and making

recommendation in regard to the aviation safety duty plans and major issues of the

related safety duties and overseeing their implementation studying considering

and making recommendation about the major issues of environmental protection

on the domestic international and aviation carbon emission and overseeing their

implementation

The Working Rules of the Aviation Safety and Environment Committee was posted on

the website of the Company

INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

The Company undertakes that the disclosure it makes is fair and the reports it provides

are comprehensive and
transparent

The ultimate
responsibility

of the Chairman of the

Board is to ensure effective communication with investors and to ensure that the Board is

aware of the views of substantial shareholders
Accordingly

the Chairman is required to

meet the shareholders in this regard and the routine communication of the Board with

the substantial shareholdem is conducted
through

the company secretary

The Company has drawn up and implemented an Information Disclosure and

Management System and has further improved the information disclosure system in

order to ensure the
accuracy completeness and timeliness of information disclosed to

public the Company has also established an information disclosure office for which the

company secretary
is responsible The information disclosure office is

mainly responsible

for the collection collation and compilation of basic information for disclosure and is

also responsible for drawing up the rules and
systems

for information disclosure and

related internal control and procedures It is responsible for monitoring the Lorrect

implementation of the various control measures
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The Company has also implemented an Investor Relationship Management System and

Investor Relationship Management Detailed Implementation Rules which
specifies

the

basic prindples and the institutional structure of the investor relationship management

as well as the duties and responsibilities of investor relationship work so as to further

foster corporate integrity and discipline and to realize standardized operation with

the ultimate aim of maximizing the corporate value and shareholders interests and

ensuring that benefits of investors are protected

The Company has released information in relation to its quarterly results In the latest

annual
general meeting

held on 28 June 201D in Shanghai the
meeting was open to

all the shareholders and the media total of 31 shareholders attended in
person

or by

proxy

In the annual general meeting each matter was proposed as an individual resolution

and voted by poil

Investors and the public may access our website and download related documents

briefings The website also sets out details of each of the Groups operations

Announcements notices or other documents issued by the Company may also be

downloaded from the website of the Company

In 2D1D the company secretary
and manager of the capital

investment market

department held specialized meetings with securities analysts in respect of 2D1D

annual financial results and interim financial results press conference with financial

media and organized SD one-to one roadshows

Based on publicly available information and to the best knowledge of the Directors of

the Company at least 25% of the total issued share capital of the Company is held
by

the public As at 31 December 2D1D there were total of 27D738 shareholders on the

Companys register of members

For any enquiries of the Board shareholders may use the contact number 8621

62686268 mail at ir@ceair.com to contact the company secretary or they may

put forward their questions in the annual general meeting or extraordinary general

meetings In
respect

of the
procedures for shareholders to convene annual general

meeting or estraordinary general meetings they may make enquiries of the company

secretary through the aforesaid channels

On behalf of the Board

Liu Shaoyong

Chairman

Shanghai the PRC

3D March 2D1
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REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY COMMITTEEtag
dX RI

Dear Shareholders

U7

In 2010 the members of the Supervisory Committee basing themselves on the powers

bestowed upon them by
the PRC Company Law and the Articles of Association of the

Company and their sense of responsibility toward all the shareholders actively carried

out their tasks faithfully performed their supervisory duties and protected the legitimate

rights and interests of the Company and of all the shareholders

Meetings Convened by the Supervisory Committee

On 17 April 2010 the Supervisory Committee held meeting at which it adopted

the Report of the Supervisory Committee for the
year 2009 and resolved that it

would be put forward to the 2009 Annual General Meeting of the Company for

consideration the Committee considered the financial
report

of the Company

for the
year

2009 truly reflected the financial position and operating results of

the Company which was objective and fair and resolved that it would be put

forward to the 2009 Annual General Meeting of the Company for consideration

the Committee reviewed the full text and summary of the annual report for 2009

prepared by the Company and expressed written audit opinion Meanwhile the

Committee reviewed the full text and summary of the 2010 first quarterly report

and expressed written audit opinion

On 28 June 2010 the Supervisory
Committee held meeting at which it was

resolved that Ms Jiangbo would become the chairman of the sixth session of

the Supervisory Committee

On 27 August 2010 the Supervisory Committee held meeting at which it

reviewed the full text and summary of the Companys interim report for 2010 and

expressed written audit opinion

On 28 October 2010 the Supervisory Committee held meeting at which It

reviewed the full text and summary of the Companys 2010 third quarterly report

and expressed written audit opinion
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II Independent Opinion of the
Supervisory

Committee

Legality of the Operation of the Company

096

In 2010 the Supervisory Committee monitored the procedures of convening the

general meetings and Board meetings of the Company and their resolutions

execution of the resolutions passed in the general meetings by the Board and

execution of the resolutions
passed

in the Board
meetings by

the management

It is of the view that the Compeny has strictly complied with the Company Law

the Securities Law the Listing Rules the Articles of Association of the Company

and other regulations in drawing operational decisions monitored its operations

based on law continuously optimized
the internal control

system
and further

enhanced its
corporate governance standards The Oirectors and the senior

management of the Company were able to protect the general interests cit the

shareholders and the Company and
carry out their duties with dedication The

Supervisory Committee did not discover any of their actions that in any way

violated laws regulations or the articles of association of the Company or were

prejudicial to the interests of the Company

Financial Position of the Company

The Supervisory Committee seriously reviewed the Companys 2010 financial

reports 2010 profit distribution proposal 2010 annual report and the 2010

financial audit report issued by PRC and international auditors expressing

unqualified opinions The Supervisory Committee resolved that the Companys

2010 financial report truly reflected the financial position and operating results

of the Company for the period The Supervisory Committee agreed to the 2010

financial audit
report

issued
by

auditors and the 2010
profit

distribution
proposal

Proceeds and Purchases or Sale of Assets of the Company

The Supervisory Committee confirmed there was no fund raising during the

current year and conducted examination on the resolutions in
respect of major

acquisitions asset disposals and connected transactions and did not discover any

acts of insider trade prejudicial to the interests of the shareholders or result in

turnover of the assets and prejudicial to the interests of the Company
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Connected Transactions of tha Company

The Supervisory Committee conducted examinations to all the connected

transactions of the Company in the current year and believed that all the

contracts agreements and other relevant documents related to the connected

transactions of the Company in the current year had complied with the legal

procedures
and the terms of the transactions were fair and reasonable to the

Company and shareholders as whole The connected transactions were dealt

with under stringent principles of fairness impartiality and transparency The

Supervisory Committee did not discover any acts of insider trading or breach of

good faith by the Board of Directors in making decisions signing of agreements

and information disclosure

In the new year the Supervisory Committee will as in the past conscientiously exercise

the powers bestowed upon it by the Articles of Association of the Company and perform

corresponding obligations further strengthen its supervision of the Companys financial

affairs and ensure compliant business practices It will continue to explore monitoring

and control mechanisms which are of benefit in protecting investors and promoting the

Companys development

The Supervisory Committee is extremely grateful for the continuous support for its work

offered by all the shareholders Board of Directors staff and workers

Dn behalf of the Supervisory Committee

Liu Jiangbo

Chairman of the Supervisory Coninrittee

Shanghai the PRC

3D March 2D1
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES
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The Companys concept of social responsibilities covers three areas namely economic

responsibilities social responsibilities and environmental responsibilities

It is the overall trend for corporate development to be committed to safe clean

intensive and
green development in

response
to the call for low carbon environment

Treating the construction of harmonious corporation as an integral part
of the

establishment of harmonious society harmonious environment and harmonious

community the Company strengthens its energy management advocates green flying

adheres to rules of
energy saving

and emission reduction shoulders the social obligation

as corporate citizen and seeks common development and
progress

with the society

pnvironment and communiry

On the conference of International Air Transportation Association the Chairman of the

Company on behalf of the civil aviation
industry

of China expressed
his

standpoint
of

adhering to the principle of joint but different responsibilities in handling the

issue of climate change and control over greenhouse gas
emission

ENERGY MANAGEMENT

seitnne
lilay tAflfl
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Enhancing energy management and promoting energy saving and emission reduction

Over 98% of energy consumption of CEA is the consumption of aviation fuel The

Proposal for the Implementation of Energy Saving 2010

has been formulated to break down the annual target under dual

benchmark appraisal system comprising aviation fuel consumption and regular energy

consumption

In 2010 the combined energy consumption was 4.36 million tons of standard coal

among which aviation oil consumption not including Shanghai Airlines was 2.92

million tons equivalent to 4.3 million tons of standard coal or 98.6% of the combined

consumption Energy consumption was 0.776 tons of standard coal per RMB 10000

sales revenue for the year Compared to 2009 1.08 million tons of standard coal was

saved in total calculated on the basis of consumption per RMB1O000 sales revenue for

the year

Data of Energy Consumption excluding Shanghai Airlines

2010 LTk436lt%fl
ltM 292%tff 430 flfim

2009Rth
i108MtfflS

Items

Energy consumption per hour of
flight

tons hour

Regular energy consumption excluding

aviation fuel tons of standard coal

Combined energy consumption

standard coal

Energy consumption per RMB 10000

sales revenue tons of standard coal

RMB 10000

FM1

2010

2010t

Increase

decrease

for the

The increase for per unit energy consumption was mainly attributable to the substantial

increase in weight carried in 2010

W%k2010tMflflt

2009 same period

2009
change

3.129 3.104 0.025 0.81%

58806 55156 96258 11.49%

4359349 3881761 477588 12.30%

0.776 0.970 -0.194 -20.00%
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Measures for Saving Energy

099

57 items of
energy saving

and emission reduction were available for the full year Such

items were for the refitting of engines for
energy saving and environmental protection

the upgrading RD for aviation operating control system and ground level energy

saving etc. Large-scale maintenance was carried out for the incoming water pipes

network at aircraft affairs area of Hongqiao under which leakage of water was reduced

to save water resources Renovation works were done for saving energy
at the central

air conditioning system of
flight equipment resulting

in cuttinq electricity charqes

by RMB6Y6000 and
effectively curbing

and eliminating electricity pollution such as

harmonic waves

With the theme of Save Energy and Reduce Emission by Everybody

promotional campaigns were embarked upon to advocate the concept of environmental

protection and energy conservation series of energy saving and environmental

protection experience
activities were conducted to promote and intensify the spirit of

green responsibilities the awareness of energy conservation and recyding and the

concept of low carbon and environmental protection via activities such as waking up

the promotional manuals for environmental driving called Energy Saving Emission

Reduction Low-carbon and Environmental Protection organizing vehicle

petrol saving competition sharing experience on energy shortage and giving seminars

on environmental and energy issses

ETS Projects

We completed relevant work for the Emission
Trading System ETS of the European

Union EU and submitted our tonnekilometre surveillance proposal and emission

surveillance proposal to EU and obtained its approval After preliminary research and

investigation
data extraction testing

and data verification we completed the
procedures

of data extraction compilation and reportinq for our tonnekilometre surveillance

proposal and emission surveillance proposal which have been pre verified by Bureau

Veritas SA in France

LOW-CARBON FLYING

Adhering to the idea of dual focus on both
energy

conservation and development and

mutual coordination between development and saving and with the target of lowering

resources and energy consumption we advocate the concept of low-carbon flying

We seek to form production approach which consumes and emit less but perform

more to foster organic and efficiency-oriented growth and establish resource-

conservative and environmental friendly enterprise

Low-carbon flying is implemented via standardized and regulated management

More than 90% of our flights undergo petrol filling
and

flying
in accordance with our

low-carbon flying scheme and reduce their fuel consumption and lower carbon

emission through approaches such as system restrictions management enhancement

and technological innovation
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

Optimization of Fleet

We ensure the mechanical functionality of our fleet by eliminating and surrendering

the lease of old aircraft and introducing newer aircraft on an annual basis in addition

to repair and replacement of engines
and

daily maintenance works In the year we

surrendered the lease of 15 old aircraft out of which are M090 aircraft of an average

fuel consumption of 2.9 tons
per hour replaced with A320 aircraft of the same grading

which consumes an
average

of 2.4 tons of fuel per hour On comparative basis annual

saving of aviation fuel is in excess of 20000 tons

Technological Emission Reduction

Installation of Small Wings

The installation of additional small wings can improve the dynamic performance of the

aircraft in air and enhance the economic efficiency
of fuel combustion as well as stability

of the aircraft At the same time it also reduces emission of greenhouse gases
and the

noise distribution of taking off and landing The Company was pioneer in installing

small wings on its B737NG series of aircraft It is estimated that with the installation

of small wings B737NG aircraft can deliver fuel-saving rate of about 2.5% which

makes
saving

of 210 to 220 tons of aviation fuel
per

aircraft
per annum assuming an

average daily utilization of 10 hours

tfltA flfl5
1%

flfl
090

flggA iihThjt412.4I%h

A320t 1JLD1Tt
thifo

hhflrlt
MtTfSffl HtJVA

2%tB737NGUfl
Th4r10tt1-

WMth2t0 2201%

RNP Application RNPJffl

The sophisticated navigation technology named Required Navigation Performance is

new technology adopting to guide the landing and take-off of aircraft by using the

built-in navigation equipment of the aircraft with the global positioning system The

installation of sophisticated navigation system enables an aircraft to perform beyond

the existing weather standard for landing and take-off at airports
and the restriction

of minimum landing altitude remarkably reduces delays and returns due to weather

conditions and maximizes transportation capability The implementation of RNP

operations can save to 10 minutes compared to conventional meter processes
for

incoming and departing flights and it also reduces fuel consumption

Currently
the RNP

technology
is

applied
in the companys routes to Nyingchi Lhasa

Lijiang Yushu Xining Ii and Huangshan The promotion and use of the RNP project

represents frontier for domestic civil aviation and enhances the flying safety level in

our flying operations at special and highland airports reaping fruitful results in economic

efficiency energy conservation and emission reduction

Improvement of Performance

Through China Air Transportation Assodation the Company has stated its requests as

to engine aviation control air conveyance for air conditioning fuel system computer

system aircraft
weight etc to aircraft manufacturers Technological Emission Reduction

can thus be achieved
by improving

aircraft performance optimizing flying operations

and
reducing

the wastage as result of over maintenance

Temporary Routes

93 temporary direct flight routes have been opened after active negotiation and

coordination with various parties including the Civil Aviation Administration of China

and Air Traffic Management Bureau Temporary routes play positive role in speeding

up air traffic flow reducing flow control and fostering energy
conservation and emission

reduction

RNPRequired Navigation PerformanceTh1%4ftAfflr
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

APU Management and GPU Usage APUJfIIGPU1IW

The use of
electricity-driven

and
gas

driven vehicles and ground facilities in
place

of

APU auxiliary power unit when aircraft is on airfield and the minimized usage time for

APU and air deed of APU can achieve the
purpose

of
energy

conservation and emission

reduction An APU Usage Management Rules has been

formulated and is being gradually promoted to 18 domestic and foreign ports which

meet the criteria At Shenzhen Guangzhou and Pudong airports the rate of use of GPU

ground power unit which reduces noise pollution and is highly environmental ffendly

as replacement
of APU has reached 9Qu/ At

present we also act positively
in

support

of CAACs promotion
of ground bridge-connected equipment for replacing APU items

Other Measures

The formulation of flight plans with the use of computer systems to conduct dynamic

analysis surveillance and control of and over aviation operations

The optimization of aviation routes by reducing ground waiting
time and

tying
time of

flights

The implementation of weight reduction of aircraft by reducing volume ot water-filling

and on flight magazines

The enhancement of cost control and management of direct operations and the

establishment of long lasting management mechanism by adjusting and publishing

the cost indices of different aircraft models from time to time

The reduction of pollution by introducing on flights the use of one-off cups cutleries and

trash bags made of naturally biodegradable materials such as corn starch

Key Awards related to Social
Responsibilities

On December Eastern Airlines World Expo Work Leadership Team is recognized as

an Advanced Group in Shanghai World Expo by the

Central Committee of the Communist Party
of China and the State Council of China

On 27 December Shanghai Passenger Cabinet Services Department of the Company

was recognized as an Advanced Group in Shanghai World Expo tttt
by the Central Committee of the Communist Party of China and the State

Council of China

On January2011 the Company was granted Gold Award in Special

Contribution Award to Sponsors of Shanghai World Expo China 2010

On 19 August the northwestern branch of the Company was recognized as National

Hero Group for Rescue Work in Earthquake

flbiifl APUAPUlfl
t4litl flSRfl
ffliI IWYH

GPUti

ifijAti t7jKtLyfl

PA

ttLytt

1227 flIfm4J\fltt
1tM%fliflfl

1227M tq
2D111.flSff g12o1o$tftM

8Th9M WJ1f
flfljflfl

10j

2010 ft 97



SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITIES

On 16 December the Company was granted the award of Outstanding Enterprises

with Good Corporate Social Responsibilities in China tittJ
by

entities
including

the New China News Agency and Mr Liu

Shaoyong our chairman was recognized as an Outstanding Person with Good

Corporate Responsibilities in China At
In November the Company was recognized as an Outstanding Corporate Citizen

in China 2010 by Corporate Citizenship Committee

under China Social Work Association

In December the Company was granted the award of Golden Bee Leadership

Enterprise with Outstanding Corporate Social Responsibilities Report 20102D1Diflby WTO Guide WTOf

Dn 15 October the Company was recognized as corporate Future Star ft2
by

National Business Daily

On September the Company was recognized as Low-carbon Pioneer

Enterprise 2010 by
Chine Times It4

On 20 August the Company was granted the Flying Safety Four-star Award ffPBbyCAAC
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT
103

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA EASTERN AIRLINES CORPORATION LIMITED

incorporated in the Peoples Republic of China with limited liability

We have audited the consolidated financial statements ot China Eastern Airlines

Corporation
Limited the Company and its subsidiaries together the Group set

out on pages 101 to 220 which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets

as at 31 December 2010 and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income the

consolidated statement of changes in
equity

and the consolidated cash flow statement

for the
year

then ended and summary of significant accounting policies and other

explanatory information

DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of these consolidated

financial statements that give true and fair view in accordance with International

Financial Reporting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors consider
necessary

to enable the preparation of these financial statements that are free from material

misstatement whether due tu fraud or error

AUDITORS RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements

based on our audit We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards

on Auditing Those standards require that we comply with etlacal requirements and plan

and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether consolidated financial

statements are free from material misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts

and disclosures in consolidated financial statements The procedures selected depend on

the auditors judgment including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement

of the consolidated financial statements whether due to fraud or error In making

those risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entitys

preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give true and fair view in

order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circsmstances but not for

the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
entitys

internal control

An audit also includes evaluating
the

appropriateness
of

accounting policies
used and

the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors as well as evaluating

the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide basis for our audit opinion

OPINION

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements give true and fair view of the

state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 December 2010 and of the

Groups profit and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International

Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in accordance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT
104

OTHER MATTERS

This report including the opinion has been
prepared

for and
only

for you as body

and for no other purpose We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to

any other
person

for the contents of this report ffftJ1thk 511f
I1f3

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong 30 March 2011 5KTfrI n-h
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
.a .. LIT

L7TJ

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended3l December 2010

1U5

Revenues

Other operating income

Operating expenses

Aircraft fuel

Gain on fair value movements of derivatives

financial instruments

Take off and
landing charges

Depreciation and amortisation

Wages salaries and benefits

Aircraft maintenance

Impairment losses

Food and beverages

Aircraft operating lease rentals

Other operatinq lease rentals

Selling and marketing expenses

Civil aviation infrastructure levies

Ground services and other
charges

Transportation accommodation and meals

Office administrative and other expenses

Total operating expenses

Operating profit

Share of results of associates

Share of results of jointly controlled entities

Finance income

Finance costs

Profit before income tax

Income tax

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive Ioss/income

for the year

Cash flow hedges net of tax

Fair value movements of available for-sale

investments

Fair value movements ot available-for sale

investments held by associates

Total comprehensive income for the year

flfll

3fflW

fflflffl

irn

Pffl Hifflt

Lb
ttS
MflA

tfln

4tft Jrn4sWnt

2010

RMBOOO

it

73803659

658.620

2009

RMBOOO

Aflfjc

38989659

288 17

Note

21605611

833384

7454637

6757837

8940786

4614093

405391

1596454

3975557

601742

3323830

1295612

439664

1303974

7283529

68765333

2254980

3774688

5460351

5202835

5148877

3018724

109417

t20 1023

2517 S67

407386

1977760

890348

289993

3751763

38456336

10

11

23

24

12

13

14

38

23

5696946

39228

28154

1.155384

1501900

1821340

46602

23803

205304

1754640

5417812

133491

249205

52547

5284321 196658

17016 57914

534

1543 585

5268314 253987

N1R 2010ffl 101
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Si lb

PTWJ\ 11 1cS
Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 EnStht

Profit attributable to

Owners of the parent

Non-controlling interests

Total comprehensive income attributable to

Owners of the
parent

Non-controlling interests

4y2

2010

Note RMBOOO

2009

RMSOOO

168 766

27892

4957989

326332

5284321 196658

4941982 226095

326332 27892

5268314 253987

0.44 0.03

Earnings per share attributable to Owners of

the parent during the year

Basic and diluted RMB $$

The notes on page 110 to 220 are an integral part
of these financial statements

17

Mi 10M220Mtf8ltf53
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

Asat3lOecember2olOM_

101

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Property plant and equipment

Lease prepayments

Advanced payments on acquisition ot aircraft

Investments in associates

Investments in
jointly controlled entities

Available-for sale finandal assets

Other long-term assets

Oeferred tax assets

Oerivative assets

Current assets

Flight equipment spare parts

Trade receivables

Prepayments deposits and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Oerivative assets

Non-current assets held for sale

Current liabilities

Sales in advance of carriage

Trade payables and notes payable

Other payables and accrued expenses

Current
portion

of
obligations

under

finance leases

Current portion of borrowings

Income tax payable

Current portion of provision for return condition

checks for aircraft under operating leases

Oerivative liabilities

tn
714tOfl

fflflSn1

yyA
fTt

ynft

Nffk tyflfl
tntnn

Sfttflfflft4

8PflMhtlflhRt9

Jt
ffi4 fzI71\

wwA jiwjnpJJ

f44W6

Wflh

2010

RMBOOO

11333376

68822273

1406156

6356602

807669

406170

242005

1752115

75188

52081

91253635

1286898

26 2127446

27 5157004

28 3078228

38 18970

42 411535

12080081

2577855

4275443

14536168

2137831

15210660

64787

339091

121982

39263817

2009

RMBOOO

69622

56703560

970835

50811/4

723022

372793

57269

926312

83748

64988335

932260

1370871

2370495

1735248

3490

450693

6863057

1420183

6480459

11517204

2125430

12330075

21126

609884

1006286

35510647

Note

18

19

20

21

23

24

25

35

38

29

30

31

32

33

38

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

.njJn 27183736 28647590

64069899 36340745
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

Asat3l December2010 P--/-__H

2010 2009

Note RMBOOO RMSOOO

Non-current liabilities
________________ _______________

Obligations under finance leases 31 17070502 17244805

Borrowings f1i 32 23354997 13004874

Provision for return condition checks for

aircraft under operating leases 33 2475412 1237871

Other long-term liabilities 34 1804862 1203423

Deferred tax liabilities tlfj 35 51814 51539

Post-retirement benefit obligations 36b 2556001 1798707

Derivative liabilities 38 194425 123345

47508013 34664564

Net assets 16561886 1676181

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to

the owners of the parent ___________________ ___________________

Share capital
40 11276539 9581700

Reserves 41 3994748 8347147

15271287 1234553

Non controlling interests 1290599 441628

Total equity 16561886 1676181

Liu Shaoyong Ma Xulun

Director Director

fl

The notes on pages 110 to 220 are an integral part of these financial statements

104 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited Annual Report 2010



COMPANYS BALANCE SHEET

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

Asat31December2010 tB

109

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Property plant and equipment

Lease prepayments

Advanced payments on acquisition
of aircraft

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in associates

Investments in
jointly

controlled entities

Available for-sale financial assets

Other long term assets

Oerivative assets

Current assets

Flight equipment spare parts

Trade receivables

Prepayments deposits and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Oerivative assets

Non current assets held for sale

Current liabilities

Sales in advance of
carriage

Trade payables and notes payable

Other payables and accrued espenses

Current
portion

of
obligations

under finance leases

Current portion of borrowings

Current portion of provision for return condition

checks for aircraft under operating leases

Oerivative liabilities

S4i1

flEflii

iEi

thWffi

flil

ja
jTk j/ILvnvJJ

iyulnhy5

2010

Note RMBOCO

11323299

51777767

398860

6231270

4083117

578836

323238

223729

914799

52081

75906996

1033280

26 2545900

27 5553366

28 851283

38 18970

42 41153J

10414334

2190776

4701951

10442380

46695

121982

31648098

2009

RMBOOO

AJT

66990

47948792

409631

5081174

2523715

522058

301802

45520

784490

57684172

752047

1617660

3314001

1118230

3490

450 692J

7256t2t

1420183

6293548

9875704

1915815

10219929

183099

1006286

30914564

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

38

29

30

31

32

33

38

1796739

12347575

Net current liabilities

Total assets less current liabilities

21233764 23658443

54673232 34025729
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COMPANYS BALANCE SHEET

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards JfJfPMJflMt4Pht/
As at 31 December 2010 Tt-/-fl

-MO

Non-current liabilities

Obligations
under finance leases

Borrowings

Provision for return condition checks for aircraft

under operating leases

Other
long-term liabilities

Post retirement benefit
obligations

Oerivative liabilities

Capital and reserves attributable to

the owners of the parent

Share
capital

Reserves

Liu Shaoyong

Director

MS

fltfjfl

ft

is irA

flhft

Wflft

Ma Xulun

Director

MW

2010

flw-wtc

RMBOOO

1470376

1498255

1891483

194425

37377212

2009

RMSOOO

15387409

10 90 784

1099303

1121408

1596549

123345

30229798

The notes on pages 110 to 220 are an integral part ot these financial statements Mi ioMM22owaftMfljnI

Note

14081133

18241540

Net assets

Equity

31

32

33

34

366

38

40

41

Total equity

17296020 379S93t

11276539 9581700

6019481 5785769

17296020 3795931
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 ct-1-_B2z H.tLt

2010 2009

Note RMBOOO RMBOOO

Cash flows from operating activities ________________

Cash generated from operations 43a l0739i1 3507690

Income tax paid BftyftMffh 98591 78274

Net cash inflow from operating activities 10641248 3429416

Cash flows from investing activities ________________

Additions of property plant and equipment 6522951 5685345

Payments of short term deposits with original fRiL8Anfll hh

maturity over three months 27 434314

Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft 21 3461737 1927252

Disposal of subsidiaries 9730

Repayment of other payables instalment payments t4ff4
for acquisition of an airline business 30000

Investment in available for-sale financial assets 2737

Net cash acquired through acquisition of Shanghai RI

Airlines Co Ltd fShdnyhai Airlines 44 1167565

Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets

held for sale 430110

Proceeds from disposal of
property plant and

equipment 101894 32888

Interest received EJj 64359 109925

Dividends received ipyij 30443 53725

Proceeds from disposal of interests in an assodate Hff 4405 210000

Net cash outflow from investing activities 8632693 7236059

2010 4E911 107



2010

--t
Note RMBOOO

2009

RMBOOO

Proceeds from draw down of short term

bank loans

Proceeds from sales and leaseback of aircraft

Repayments of short-term bank loans

Proceeds from draw down of
long-term

bank loans

Repayments of long-term bank loans

Principal repayments of finance lease obligations

Receiptslpayments of restricted bank
deposits

Interest paid

Capital contribution from non controlling interest

of subsidiaries

Proceeds from issuance of new shares

Dividends paid to non controlling interest of

subsidiaries

Net cash outflowlinflow from financing

activities

Net increaseldecrease in cash and cash

equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
January

Exchange adjustments

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Desjtth
le /\Lr51Ie TA

ffl61fl

flnfl
f1fli

t3ttft

fitj3n

Nfttftt

/iJftA

tbu/Ui

-f-nw1---Hfl
28

The notes on pages 110 to 220 are an integral part of these financial statements

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 Sthi

112

Cash flows from financing activities

20803369

21942900

11556258

6526 565

2201176

1174066

1644924

519300

41738

28536703

590253

39535319

10823185

9522385

2005264

1347525

2161085

14056167

44156

652442 2085624

1356113 1721019

1735248 3451010

13133 5257

3078228 1735248
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITYflfi
Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

Forthe year ended3l December2O1flj

113

Total comprohensino incomo tor the yoar

Prof it for tho
year

Other comprehensise income

Other eqoity mosement of ao asseciato

Issuance of new shares Note 40

Dioidends paid to non controlkog intorests

in subsidiaries

Balanco at 3t December 2009

Balance at January
2010

Total compreheesiee income for the year

Profit for the year

Other
compreheosioe loss

lssaaoce of oew shares for the

acquisition of Shanghai Airlines

Note 40

Non-controlling interests addition

through the acquisition of

Shanghai Airlines Note 44

Dinidends paid to non-controlling

interests in sobsidiaries

Capital contribatioo by non-controlling

interests in subsidiaries

Disposal of subsidiaries

Balance at 31 December 2010

flfRflfi4y

tfN1 1%JfN1fb

UUflM40

flJroBh

ffltTWflfl44

nfBOd

The notes on pages 110 to 220 are an integral part hi these financial statements 10220WJfl0153

Attributable to owners of parent

Balance at lansary
2009

Share Other Accumulated Non-controlling

capital reserves losses Subtotal interests Total equity

00$ 0000 flfl lit $00WN00 UM
OMBOOO RM0OOO 0448000 RM0OOO RMBOOO 0418000

A4400-br Aflfft AflfYT A$T Aflfit AMit

4066950 117911 10002262 13097401 457092 12639509

57329 160766 226095 27092 253907

160766 160766 27092 196650

57329 57329 57329

49692 49692 49692

4714750 9341417 14056167 14056167

4415Sf 4415Sf

9501700 9566349 17913496 1234553 441620 1676101

9581700 9566349

16007

17913496

4957989

1234553

4941982

441628

326332

1676101

5260314

4957909 4957909 326332 5204321

16007 16007 16007

1694839 7399913 9094752 9094752

53g2o 53920

f41738 f41738

519300 519300

8843 0843

11276539 16950255 12955507 15271287 1290599 16561086
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11NOTES TO TH.E FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December 2010

CORPORATE INFORMATION

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited the Company joint stock

company limited by shares was incorporated in the Peoples Republic ot China

the PRC on 14
April 1995 The address of the Companys registered

office is

66 Airport Street Pudong International Airport Shanghai the PRC The Company

and its subsidiaries together the Group are principally engaged in the

operation of civil aviation induding the provision of passenger cargo and mail

delivery
and other extended transportation services

The Company is majority owned by China Eastern Air Holding Company CEA

Holding state-owned enterprise incorporated
in the PRC

The Companys shares are traded on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

The New York Stock Exchange and The Shanghai Stock Exchange

In January 2010 the Company issued 1694838860 Shares of the Company

to the shareholders of Shanghai Airlines Co Ltd Shanghai Airlines PRC

airlines company previously listed on The Shanghai Stock Exchange in exchange

for all issued shares of Shanghai Airlines Thereafter Shanghai Airlines was

delisted and became wholly owned subsidiary of the Company details refer to

Note 44

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Companys Board

of Directors the Board on 30 March 2011

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these financial

statements are set out below These policies have been consistently applied to all

the
years presented unless otherwise stated

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance

with International Elnancial Reporting Standards IFRS and the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost

convention as modified by the revaluation of available for-sale financial

assets financial assets and financial liabilities including derivative

instruments at fair value through profit or loss

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the

use of certain critical accounting estimates It also requires management

to exercise its judgment in the
process

of
applying

the Groups accounting

policies The areas involving higher degree of judgment or complexity

or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial

statements are disclosed in Note
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Basis of preparation continued

In preparing the financial statements the Board has given careful

consideration to the
going concern status of the Group in the context of

the Groups current working capital deficit

As at 31 December 2Db the Groups accumulated losses were

approximately RMB12.96 billion and its current liabilities exceeded its

current assets by approximately
RMB27.18 billion

Against this background the Board has taken active steps to seek

additional sources of finance and improve the Groups liquidity position

As at 31 December 2Db the Group had total unutilised credit facilities

of approximately RMB3O.72 billion from banks The Board believes that

based on experience to date it is likely that these facilities will be rolled

over in future
years

if required

With the credit facilities and based on the Groups history of obtaining

finance and its relationships with its bankers and creditors the Board

considers that the Group will be able to obtain sufficient financing to

enable it to operate as well as to meet its liabilities as and when they

become due and the capital expenditure requirements Accordingly the

Board believes that it is appropriate to prepare these financial statements

on going concern basis without including any adjustments that would be

required should the Company and the Group fail to continue as going

concern
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Mfl
Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 En -/- SiL

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Basis of preparation continued

The Group has adopted the following new standards and

amendments to existing standards which are relevant for the Groups

existed business and mandatory for the first time for the financial

year beginning January 2010

IFRS3 revised Business combinations and
consequential

amendments to lAS 27 Consolidated and separate financial

statements lAS 28 Investments in associates and lAS

31 Interests in joint ventures are effective prospectively

to business combinations for which the acquisition date is

on or after the beginning of the first annual reporting period

beginning on or after July 2009

The revised standard continues to apply the acquisition

method to business combinations but with some significant

changes compared with IFRS For example all payments

to purchase business are recorded at fair value at the

acquisition date with contingent payments classified as

debt subsequently re-measured through the statement of

comprehensive income There is choice on an acquisition-

by acquisition basis to measure the non-controlling interests

Nd in the acquiree either at fair value or at the

NCIs proportionate share of the acquirees net assets All

acquisition related costs are expensed
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 -T
flflM

bU.ftr lpA

As the Group has adopted IFRS revised it is required

to adopt lAS 27 revised consolidated and separate

financial statements at the same time lAS 27 revised

requires
the effects all transactions with NCI to be recorded

in equity if there is no change in control and these transactions

will no longer result in goodwill or gains
and losses The

standard also specifies the accounting when control is lost

Any remaining interest in the entity is re measured to fair

value and gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss lAS

27 revised also requires that total comprehensive income

is attributed to the owners of the parent and to NCI even if

this results in the NCI having deficit balance The standard

requires prospective application
of the amendment The

Group has
applied

the new policy prospectively
to transactions

occurring on or after January 2010 As consequence no

adjustments were necessary to any of the amounts previously

recognised
in the financial statements

Amendment to lAS 38 Intangible Assets clarifies

guidance in measuring the fair value of an intangible asset

acquired in business combination and it permits the

grouping of intangible assets as single asset if each asset

has similar useful economic lives This amendment has no

impact on the fair value of the intangible assets acquired

in business combination as intangible assets acquired have

different useful economic lives
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Basis of preparation continued

New and amended standards adopted by the Group continued
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 2UiJt/
For the year ended 31 December 2010

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Basis of preparation continued

New and amended standards adopted by the Group continued

lAS 17 Amendment Leases in the second improvement

project to IFRSs issued by the IASB in April 2009 Second

Improvement Project deletes the specific guidance

regarding
classification of leases of land so as to eliminate

inconsistency with the general guidance on lease classification

This amendment has no impact on the classifications of leases

of lands of the Group as all payments for lands of the Group

are regarded as operating lease prepayments

lAS amendment Presentation of financial statements The

amendment clarifies that the potential settlement of liability

by the issue of equity
is not relevant to its classification as

current or non-current By amending the definition of current

liability the amendment permits liability to be classified as

non current provided that the entity
has an unconditional

right to defer settlement by transfer of cash or other

assets for at least 12 months after the accounting period

notwithstanding the fact that the entity could be required

by the counterparty to settle in shares at any time This

amendment has no impact on the Group or the Companys

financial statements

lAS 36 amendment Impairment of assets The amendment

clarifies that the largest cash generating unit or group of

units to which goodwill should be allocated for the purposes

of impairment testing
is an operating segment as defined

by paragraph of IRIS Operating segments that is

before the aggregation of segments with similar economic

characteristics This amendment has no impact on the Group

or the Companys financial statements
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended December2010 B-I- SjLM

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Basis of preparation continued 1$i
ii New and amended standards and interpretations mandatory for the ii

first time for the financial year beginning January 2010 but not iJEkln
currently

relevant to the Group

lAS Amendment Presentation of Financial Statements EtSE MffE2W

IFRS Revised First time Adoption of IFRSs HtNSfi NdtiEN

lAS Amendment First time Adoption of IFRS5 Additional tt$Pi NflRfMf

Exemptions for First time Adopters iEi IRN-flilNry

lAS 39 Amendment Eligible hedge items tM NWfl8
39EtP

IFRS Amendment Share based payments Group Cash-settled 4IMRJ
Share-based Payment Transaction 2istl fNdB

IFRS Amendment Measurement of non-current assets MIf fNitt
or disposal groups classified 9is
as held for sale

IFRIC Reassessment of embedded derivatives MIMI
and lAS 39 Financial instruments fP
Recognition and measurement 39fIe

w9iblN tnyuf

IFRIC 16 Hedges of net investment in
foreign

MN 9itfhfI

operation

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners fllbl$N

ffAi

IFRIC 18 Transfer of assets from customers
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended3l December2010 tc7 -1- SiL

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Basis of preparation continued

iii New standards amendments and interpretations to existing

standards has been issued but not yet effective or the financial year

beginning January 2070 and which are relevant for the Groups

operations

The following standards and amendments to existing standards

have been published and are mandatory for the Groups accounting

periods beginning on or after
January

2011 or later periods but

the Group has not early adopted them

IFRS Financial Instruments effective from
January 2013

The standard addresses classification and measurement

of financial assets introducing the following changes

Introduces
single

model that has only two classification

categories amortised cost and fair value which are driven

by the entitys business model for managing the financial

assets and the contractual characteristics of the financiai

assets ii Removes the requirement to separate embedded

derivatives from financial asset hosts and requires hybrid

contract to be classified in its entirety at either amortised

cost or fair value iii Prohibits reclassifications except
in rare

circumstances when the entitys business model changes

and the changes apply prospectively iv Provides specific

guidance for contractually linked instruments that create

concentrations of credit risk which is often the case with

investment tranches in securitisation Indicates that all

equity investments should be measured at fair value However

management has an option to present in other comprehensive

income unrealised and realised fair value
gains

and losses on

equity investments that are not held for trading vi Removes

the cost exemption for unquoted equities and derivatives on

unquoted equities but provides guidance on when cost may

be an appropriate estimate of fair value The Group will apply

the standard from January 2013 and it is not expected to

have material impact on the Groups or Companys financial

statements
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M%fl
Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards MtftMJit5
For the year ended 31 December 2010 Ez 1- SiLtS

Basis of preparation continued

ii New standards amendments and interpretations to existing

standards has been issued but not yet effective or the inancial year

beginning January 2010 and which are relevant or the Groups

operations continued

IFRIC mt 19 Extinguishing
financial liabilities with equity

instruments effective July 2010 The interpretation clarifies

the accounting by an entity when the terms of financial

liability are renegotiated and result in the
entity issuing

equity instruments to creditor of the entity to extinguish

all or part of the financial liability debt for equity swap

It requires gain or loss to be
recognised

in profit or loss

which is measured as the difference between the carrying

amount of the financial liability and the fair value of the equity

instruments issued If the fair value of the
equity

instruments

issued cannot be reliably measured the equity instruments

shnuld be measured tn reflerr the fair value of the finanrial

liability extinguished The Group will
apply the interpretation

from January 2011 It is not expected to have material

impact on the Groups or Companys financial statements

Prepayments of minimum funding requirement amendments

to IFRIC mt 14 The amendments correct an unintended

consequence of IFRIC nt 14 lAS 19 The limit on

defined benefit asset minimum funding requirements and

their interaction Without the amendments entities are

not permitted to recognise as an asset some voluntary

prepayments for minimum funding contributions This was

not intended when IFRIC Int 14 was issued and the

amendments correct this The amendments are effective for

annual periods beginning January 2011 Earlier application is

permitted The amendments should be applied retrospectively

to the earliest comparative period presented The Group will

apply these amendments for the financial
reporting period

commencing on January 2011 It is not expected to have

material impact on the Groups or Companys financial

statements
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards IM1SSPt14
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121

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

iI
Consolidation tOMNN

The Groups consolidated financial statements include the financial

statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries made up to

31 December

dt
fri hfl

Subsidiaries æftr7

Subsidiaries are all entities including special purpose entities

over which the Group has the power to govern the financial and

operating policies generally accompanying shareholding of more

than one half of the voting rights
The existence and effect of

potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible

are considered when assessing whether the Group controls another

entity

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control

is transferred to the Group They are de consolidated from the date

that control ceases

The Group uses the
acquisition method of

accounting to account

for business combinations The consideration transferred for the

acquisition of subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred

the liabilities incurred and the equity
interests issued by the Group

The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset

or liability resulting from contingent consideration arrangement

Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred Identifiable

assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in

business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the

acquisition date Dn an acquisition-by-acquisition basis the Group

recognises any non controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair

value or at the
non-controlling

interests proportionate share of the

acquirees net assets

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment

Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration arising from

contingent
consideration amendments Cost also includes direct

attributable costs of investment
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SUMMARY Of SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Ii Consolidation continued

Subsidiaries continued

flU
UR

flnJ4

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred the

amount of any non controlling interest in the
acquiree

and the

acquisition date fair value of any previous equity interest in the

acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired is

recorded as goodwill Note ki If this is less than the fair value

of the net assets of the subsidiary acqaired in the case of bargain

purchase the difference is recognised directly in the statement of

comprehensive income

Inter company transactions balances and unrealised gains on

transactions between group companies are eliminated linrealised

losses are also eliminated Accounting policies of subsidiaries have

been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group

ii Transactions with non-controlling interests

The Group treats transactions with non controlling interests as

transactions with equity owners of the Group For purchases from

non-controlling interests the difference between any consideration

paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net

assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity Gains or losses on

disposals to non controlling interests are also recorded in equity

When the Group ceases to have control or significant influence any

retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value with

the change in carrying amount recognised
in

profit or loss The fair

value is the initial
carrying amount for the

purposes
of subsequently

accounting
for the retained interest as an associate joint venture

or financial asset In addition any amounts previously recognised in

other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted

for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or

liabilities This may mean that amounts previously recognised in

other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant

influence is retained only proportionate share of the amounts

previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified

to
profit or locs where

apprnpriate
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Consolidation continued tflUi

in ffflzäJ

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant

influence hut not control generally accompanying shareholding

of between 20% and 50% of the
voting rights Investments in

associates are accounted for
using

the equity method of accounting

and are initially recognised at cost The Groups investment in

associates includes
goodwill

identified on acquisition net of any

accumulated impairment loss

The Groups share of its associates post-acquisition profits or losses

is recognised in the consolidated income statement and its share

of
post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in reserves

The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against

the carrying amount of the investment When the Groups share of

losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate

including any other unsecured receivables the Group does not

recognise further losses unless it has incurred obligations or made

payments on behalf of the associate

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its

associates are eliminated to the extent of the Groups interest

in the associates Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless

the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset

transferred Accounting policies of associates have been changed

where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by

the Group

Dilution gains and losses in associates are recognised in the

consolidated income statement

In the Companys balance sheet the investments in associates are

stated at cost less provision for impairment losses Note 2m The

results of associates are accounted for by the Company on the basis

of dividend received and receivable
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iii Associates
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Consolidation continued

flt
1flUi

iv Jointly controlled entities iv tz
jointly

controlled entity is an entity in which the Group has joint

control over its economic activity established under contractual

arrangement The Groups investments in
jointly controlled entities

includes goodwill net of
any

accumulated impairment loss identified

on acquisition

The Groups interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for

by the equity method of accounting based on the audited financial

statements or management accounts of the jointly controlled entities

The Groups share of its
jointly

controlled entities post acquisition

profits or losses is recognised in the consolidated income statement

and its share of post-acquisition movements is adjusted against

the carrying amount of the investment when the Groups share of

losses in jointly controlled entity equals or eaceeds its interest in

that entity including any other unsecured receivables the Group

does not recognise further losses unless it
has incurred obligations

or made payments on behalf of the
jointly

controlled entity

The Group recognises
the

portion
of

gains or losses on the sale of

assets by the Group to the joint venture that it is attributable to the

other venturers The Group does not recognise its share of profits or

losses from the joint venture that result from the Groups purchase

of assets from the joint venture until it resells the assets to an

independent party However loss on the transaction is recognised

immediately
if the loss provides evidence of reduction in the net

realisable value of current assets or an impairment loss

In the Companys balance sheet the investments in jointly controlled

entities are stated at cost less provision for impairment losses

Note 2m The results of jointly controlled entities are accounted

for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable

Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reported
in manner consistent with the internal

reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker CODM
The COOM who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing

performance of the operating segments has been identified as the office of

the General Manager that makes strategic
decisions
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTSMH
Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards aaflJaaSfliJaa
For the year ended 31 December2010 .-1- -1--- SiL

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Foreign currency translation

flL7kflO

Functional and presentation currency Ufl

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Groups

entities are measured using the
currency

of the primary economic

environment in which the entity operates the functional

currency The financial statements are presented in Chinese

Renminbi RMB which is the functional and presentation

currency
of the Company and the Groups entities

Transactions and balances

flWfMflWffii

ftit Ah fff

ii flMMS

Foreign currency
transactions are translated into the functional

currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the

transactions Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the

settlement of such transactions and from the translation at
year

end

exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in

foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement except

when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying

net investment hedges

Foreign exchange gains
and losses that relate to borrowings and

cash and cash equivalents are presented in the income statement

within finance income or cost

Revenue recognition and sales in advance of carriage

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable

for the sale of goods and the provision of services in the ordinary course of

the Groups activities Revenue is shown net of business and value added

taxes returns rebates and discounts and after
eliminating

sales within the

Group

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be

reliably measured it
is probable that future economic benefits will flow

to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Groups

activities as described below The amount of revenue is not considered to

be reliably measurable until all contingencies relating to the sale have been

resolved The Group bases its estimates on historical results taking into

consideration the
type

of customer the type of transaction and the specifics

of each arrangement
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Revenue recognition and sales in advance of carriage

continued

Mt
XIflAU

Traffic revenues 1kA

Passenger cargo and mail revenuAc are recngniced as traffic

revenses when the transportation services are provided The value of

sold but unused tickets is recognised as sales in advance of carriage

SIAC
foffitflfflffifl

ii Commission income ii ififlA

Commission income represents amounts earned from other carriers

in respect of sales made by the Group on their behalf and is

recognised in the income statement upon ticket sales

iii Ground service income

Revenues from the provision of ground services are recognised when

the services are rendered

Revenues from tour and travel services and other travel.related

services are recognised when the services are rendered

Revenues from other operating businesses induding
income derived

from the
provision

of
cargo handling services and freight forwarding

are recognised when the services are rendered

Revenue from the sale of goods in connection with the import and

export
business is recognised when the significant risks and rewards

of ownership have been transferred to the customer and collectability

of the related receivables is reasonably assured This is
usually

taken

as the time when the goods are delivered and the customer has

accepted the goods

Rental income from subleases of aircraft is
recognised on straight-

line basis over the terms of the respective leases Rental income from

leasing office premises and
cargo

warehouses is recognised on

straight-line basis over the lease term
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their lair value where there is

reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will

comply with all attached conditions

Government
grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in the

income statement over the period necessary to match them with the costs

that they are intended to compensate

Government grants relating to property plant and equipment are included

in non current liabilities as deferred government grants
and are credited to

the income statement on straight line basis over the expected lives of the

related assets

Maintenance and overhaul costs

lii respect of aircraft and engines under operating leases the Group has

obligations to fulfill certain return conditions under the leases Provision for

the estimated cost of these return condition checks is made on straight

line basis over the term of the leases

In respect of aircraft and engines owned by the Group or held under finance

leases overhaul costs are capitalised as component of property plant

and equipment and are depreciated over the
appropriate

maintenance

cycles Note 2l

All other
repairs

and maintenance costs are charged to the income

statement as and when incurred
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Interest income 1J.LIX

Interest income is recognised on time proportion basis using the effective

interest method When receivable is impaired the Group reduces the

carrying amount to its recoverable amount being the estimated future cash

flow discounted at the
original

effective interest rate of the instrument and

continues unwinding the discount as interest income Interest income on

impaired loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying asset

including
the interest attributable to loans for advance payments used to

finance the acquisition of aircraft are capitalised during the period of time

that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended use

Other borrowing costs are expensed

Itn
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Current and deferred tax

IflflfltI

The tex expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax Tax is

recognised in the income statement except to the extent that it relates

to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity

In this case the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income

directly in equity respectively

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax

laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the

jurisdictions
where the Company and its subsidiaries associates and jointly

controlled entities operate and generate taxable income Management

periodically evaluates positions
taken in tax returns with respect to

situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and

establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected

to be paid to the tax authorities

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary

differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and

their
carrying amounts in the financial statements However deferred tax

liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of

goodwill and deferred income tax is not accounted for if
it arises from initial

recognition of an asset or liability
in transaction other than business

combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting

nor taxable profit or loss Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and

lawsj that have been enacted or substantively
enacted

by
the balance shnet

date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset

is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable

that future taxable profit will be available
against

which the temporary

differences can be utilised

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on

investments in subsidiaries associates and jointly
controlled entities except

where the timing
of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by

the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse

in the foreseeable future
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Intangible assets

Goodwill

fll-flflOE

Goodwill
represents

the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the

fair value of the Groups share of the net identifiable assets of the

acquired subsidiary assodate or jointly controlled entity at the date

of
acquisition

Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included

in intangible assets Goodwill on acquisition of associates

and jointly controlled entities is included in investments in

associates and investments in jointly controlled entities

and is tested for impairment as part of the overall balances

Separately recognised goodwill
is tested for impairment at least

annually or whenever there is an indication of impairment and

carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses Impairment

losses on goodwill are not reversed Gains and losses on the
disposal

of an entity
include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the

entity sold

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of

impairment testing The allocation is made to those cash generating

units or groups of cash generating units according to the identified

operating segments that are expected to benefit from the business

combination in which the goodwill arose

llflji

mn
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Wnt flflUfl

Wftfli
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fl
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ii Sponsorship ees if fPbftt

Sponsorship
fees

paid
and

payable
in relation to the 2010 Shanghai

Expo have been capitalised and are being amortised on straight-

line basis over the period of the sponsorship program The cost

of the
intangible asset is calculated based on the expected cash

payment and the fair value of the services to be provided

-w nnBtt

iii Computer software costs iii EUE

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis ot

the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the spedfic software

These costs are amortised using the
straight-line method over their

estimated useful lives of
years

Costs associated with developing or

maintaining computer software programs are recognised as expense

when incurred

fEkftfl1fAf

IftWP
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Property plant and equipment

Property plant and equipment is recognised initially at cost which

comprises purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the

assets to the condition for their intended use

Where parts of an item of property plant and equipment have different

useful lives the cost of that item is allocated on reasonable basis among

the
parts

and each
part

is depreciated separately

When each major aircraft overhaul is performed its cost is recognised in

the carrying amount of the item of property plant and equipment and

is depreciated over the appropriate maintenance cycles Components

related to airframe overhaul cost are depreciated on straight-line basis

over to 1.5 years Components related to engine overhaul costs are

depredated between each overhaul period using
the ratio of actual

flying

hours and estimated flying hours between overhauls Upon completion of

an overhaul any remaining carrying amount of the cost of the previous

overhaul is derecognised and charged to the income statement

Except for components related to overhaul costs the depreciation method

of which has been described in the preceding paragraph other depredation

of property plant and equipment is calculated using the straight line

method to write down their costs to their residual values over their estimated

useful lives as follows

itfl
OLS4M
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XIb

ThM21M MMM
fflitPT

Owned and finance leased aircraft and engines 15 to 20
years

Fight equipment including rotables 10 yeam

Buildings

Other property plant and equipment

15M45$

SM2Ot

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if

appropriate at each balance sheet date An assets carrying amount is

written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the assets carrying

amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds

with the assets carrying amount and are recognised in the income

statement

Construction in
progress represents buildings under construction and plant

and equipment pending installation This includes the costs of construction

or acquisition and interest capitalised
No depreciation is provided on

construction in
progress

until the asset is completed and ready for use

MllMlMMPflCART tSij
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15to45
years

to 20 years

15M20t

2010 127



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 cat1-_B aILI

132

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Impairment of investments in subsidiaries associates

jointly controlled entities and non-financial assets

Assets thet have an indefinite useful life or which are not
yet

available for

use are not subject to amortisation and are tested for impairment at least

annually or whenever there is indication of impairment Other assets are

reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable An impairment

loss is recognised for the amount by which the assets carrying amount

exceeds its recoverable amount The recoverable amount is the higher of

an assets fair value less costs to sell and value in use For the
purposes

of assessing impairment assets are grouped at the lowest levels for

which there are separately identifiable cash flows cash generating units

Non-financial assets other than goodwill that have suffered an impairment

are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each balance sheet

date

Non-current assets held for sale

Non current assets are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying

amount is to be recovered principally through sale transaction and sale is

considered highly probable They are stated at the lower of carrying amount

and fair value less costs to sell if their
carrying amount is to be recovered

principally through sale transaction rather than through continuing use

Lease prepayments

Lease prepayments represent acquisition costs of land use rights less

accumulated amortisation Amortisation is provided over the lease period

of the land use rights on straight-line basis

Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft

Advanced payments on acquisition of aircraft represent payments to

aircraft manufacturers to secure deliveries of aircraft in future years

including attributable finance costs and are included in non-current assets

The bdlance is trdnsferred to property plcirit arid equipment upon delivery

of the aircraft
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Flight equipment spare parts

Flight equipment spare parts are stated at the lower of cost and net

realisable value Cost is determined using the weighted average
method

The cost of flight equipment spare parts comprises the purchase price

fnet of discounts freight charqes duty and value added tax and other

miscellaneous charges Net realisable value is the estimated selling price

of the flight equipment in the ordinary course of business less applicable

selling expenses

Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently

measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less

provision for impairment provision for impairment of trade receivables

is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not

be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of che

receivables Significant financial difficulties of the debtor probability that

the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and default or

delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable

is impaired The amount of the provision is the difference between the

assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash

flows discounted at the original
effective interest rate The

carrying amount

of the assets is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the

amount of the loss is recognised in the income statement When trade

receivable is uncollectible it is written off
against

the
provision account for

trade receivables Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off

are credited in the income statement

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand deposits held at call

with banks and other short-term
highly liquid investments with original

maturities of three months or less

Trade payables
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Frade payables are obligations to
pay

for goods or services that have been

acquired in the ordinary course of business from suppliers Trade payables

are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less

or in the normal operating cycle
of the business if longer If not they are

presented as non current liabilities

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently

measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

flflJfl@I

Borrowings ISA

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value net of transaction costs

incurred Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost any

differences between the proceeds net of transaction costs and the

redemption value is recognised in the income statement over the period of

the borrowings using the effective interest method

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an

unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least t2 months

after the balance sheet date in which case such borrowings are classified as

non-current liabilities

flWfl$fffiIfftI.MiMl

HfLffl2ftft

Provisions f4

Provisions are recognised when the Group has present legal or

constructive obligation as result of past events it is probable that an

outflow of rsources will be required tn settle rhe obligation xnd th

amount can be reliably estimated

Where there are number of similar obligations the likelihood that an

outflow will be required in settlement is determined by considering the

class of obligations as whole provision is recognised even if the

likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the name

class of obligations maybe small

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures espected

to be required to settle the
obligation using pre-tax rate that reflects

current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks

specific to the obligation The increase in the provision due to passage of

time is recognised as interest expense
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Leases

Group company is the lessee

Finance leases

maua

tIIW

AA921MfflA

The Group leases certain property plant and equipment Leases

of property plant and equipment where the Group has acquired

substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified

as finance leases Finance leases are capitalised at the leases

commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased
property

and the present value of the minimum lease payments

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance

charges so as to achieve constant rate on the finance balance

outstanding The corresponding rental obligations net of finance

charges are included in other short-term and other long term

payables The interest element of the finance cost is
charged

to the

income statement over the lease period so as to produce constant

periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for

each
period

Leased assets are depreciated using straight-line
basis

over their expected useful lives to residual values

For sale and leaseback transactions resulting in finance lease

differences between sales proceeds and net book values are deferred

and amortised over the minimum lease terms

Operating leases

Leases in which significant portion of the risks and rewards of

ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as operating

leases Payments made under operating leases net of any incentives

received from the lessor are charged to the income statement on

straight line basis over the period of the lease

For sale and leaseback transactions resulting in an operating

lease differences between sales proceeds and net book values are

recognised immediately in the income statement except to the

extent that any profit or loss is compensated for by
future lease

payments at above or below market value
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Leases continued

ii Group company is the lessor

th8cflUJ

llWU

Assets leased out under operating leases are included in property

plant and equipment in the balance sheet They are depreciated over

their expected
useful lives on basis consistent with similar

property

plant and equipment Rental income is
recognised

on straight line

basis over the lease term

Retirement benefits

The Group participates
in detined contribution retirement schemes

regarding pension and medical benefits tor employees organised by the

municipal governments of the relevant provinces The contributions to the

schemes are charged to the income statement as and when incurred

In addition the Group provides retirees with certain post-retirement

benefits including retirement subsidies transportation subsidies social

function activity subsidies as well as other welfare The liability recognised

in the balance sheet in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the

present value of the defined benefit
obligation at the balance sheet

date less the fair value of plan assets together with adjustments for

unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service costs The defined

benefit obligation is calculated
annually using

the
projected

unit credit

method The
present

value of the defined benefit obligation is determined

by discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates

of government bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the

benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating to the

terms of the related pension liability Actuarial gains and losses arising from

experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions in excess

of the greater
of 10% of the value of

plan assets or 10% of the defined

benefit obligation are charged or credited to the income statement over the

employees expected average remaining working lives

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in the income statement

unless the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the employees

remaining in service for specified period of time the vesting period In

this case the past-service costs are amortised on straight-line basis over

the vesting period
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance

sheet at fair value on the date derivative contract is entered into and are

subsequently remeasared at their fair value The accounting for subsequent

changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as

hedging instrument and if so the nature of the item being hedged

The Group documents at the inception
of the transaction the

relationship

between hedging instruments and hedged items as well as its risk

management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedge

transactions The Group also documents its assessment both at hedge

inception
and on an ongoing basis of whether the derivatives that are used

in hedging transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair

values or cash flows of hedged items

Derivative financial instruments thar do not qualify for hedge accounting

are accounted for as trading instruments and any unrealised gains or

losses being changes in fair value of the derivatives are recognised
in the

income statement immediately

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated
and

qualify as

fair value hedges and that are highly effective are recorded in the income

statement along with any changes in the fair value of the hedged assets or

liabilities that are attributable to the hedged risk

Derivative financial instruments that qualify for hedge accounting and

which are designated as specific hedge of the variability
in cash flows of

highly probable
forecast transaction are accounted for as follows

the effective portion of any change in fair value of the derivative

financial instrument is recognised directly in equity Where the

forecast transaction or firm commitment results in the recognition

of an asset or liability the gains and losses previously deferred in

equity are included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset

or liability Otherwise the cumulative
gain or loss on the derivative

financial instrument is removed from equity and recognised in the

income statement in the same period during which the hedged

forecast transaction affects net profit or loss

ii the ineffective portion of any change in fair value is recognised in the

income statement immediately
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

continued

Derivative financial instruments continued

The full fair value of hedging derivative is classified as non-current

asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged items is more

than 12 months and as current asset or liability when the remaining

maturity of the hedged item is less than 12 months Trading
derivatives are

classified as current asset or liability

When hedging instrument expires or is sold or when hedge no longer

meets the criteria for hedge accounting any cumulative gain or loss

existing
in

equity at that time remains in
equity

and is
recognised

in the

income statement when the committed or forecast transaction ultimately

occurs When committed or forecast transaction is no longer expected

to occur the cumulative gain or loss that was recorded in equity is

immediately
transferred to the income statement

Available-for-sale financial assets

Investments in securities other than subsidiaries associates and jointly

controlled entities being
held for

non-trading purposes are classified as

available for sale financial assets and are recognised on the trade date

the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset

Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs At

each balance sheet date the fair value is remeasured with any resulting

gain or loss being recognised directly in equity except for impairment

losses When these investments are derecognised the cumulative gain or

loss
previously recognised directly

in equity is recognised in the income

statement

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective

evidence that financial asset is impaired In the case of
equity

securities

classified as available for sale significant or prolonged decline in the fair

value of the securities below its cost is considered an indicator that the

securities are impaired If any such evidence exists for available-for-sale

financial assets the cumulative loss measured as the difference between

the acquisition cost and the current fair value less any impairment loss

on that financial asset previously recognised in the income statement is

removed from
equity

and
recognised

in the income statement Impairment

losses recognised in the income statement on equity instruments are not

reversed through the income statement
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aa Dividend distribution aa RU

Dividend distribution to the Companys shareholders is
recognised as

liability in the financial statements in the period in which the dividends are

approved by
the Companys shareholders
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Groups activities expose it to variety
ot financial risks market risk

including currency risk lair value interest rate risk cash flow interest rate

risk and fuel price risk credit risk and liquidity risk The Groups overall

risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability

of financial

markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Groups

financial performance The Group uses derivative financial instruments to

manage risk exposures whenever management consider necessary

Risk management is carried out by central treasury department the

Group Treasury under policies approved by the Board The Group

Treasury identifies evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co

operation with the Groups operating units The Board provides written

principles
for overall risk management as well as written policies covering

specific areas such as foreign eschange risk interest-rate risk credit

risk use of derivative financial instruments and non derivative financial

instruments

Jw
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Foreign currency risk itillff

Since 21 July 2005 the PRC government reformed the Renminbi

exchange rate system and established floating exchange rate

system in which the exchange rate would be
adjusted

and managed

based on market supply and demand with reference to basket

of foreign currencies The fluctuation in Renminbi exchange rate is

affected by
the domestic and international economy the

political

situation and the
currency supply and demand of the

currency
and

thus the Renminbi exchange rate in the future may therefore be very

different from the current exchange rate

The Group operates its business in many countries and territories

The Group generates its revenue in different currencies and its

foreign currency liabilities at the end of the period are much higher

than its foreign currency assets The Groups major liability item

purchases and leases of aircraft is mainly priced and settled in

foreign currencies such as US dollars In addition fluctuations ri

exchange rates will affect the Groups costs incurred from foreign

Rurchases
such as aircraft flight equipment and aviation fuel and

take-off and landing charges in foreign airports
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Financial risk factors continued

Foreign currency risk continued

The Group also has
exposure

to foreign currency
risk in respect of

net cash inflow denominated in Japanese Yen from ticket sales

in overseas branch office after payment of expenses The Group

entered into certain foreign exchange forward option contracts to

manage this foreign currency
risk Details of foreign currency

forward

contracts are disdosed in Note 38b to the finandal statements

The following table details the Groups and the Companys exposure

at the balance sheet date to major currency
risk

2010

LW-fl

NfliIfl
PJiiiLiiR

Group

fl

flh

flflA

ht PA 5f kb 3t

tflt51
1t38fb

2t09

Cerreecy derivatives at

Net balance sheet
enpesure

JSD Euro WY USD Euro IPY

kt5t Hit Hjc

RMBOOO RMBOCO RMBOCO RMBOOO Rl48OOO RMBOUO

Ait AiT AWit AMJS AitfS AMtf.it

84424 134822 13t66l6 56663 93718

30592 12705 253776 43519 3t8t9

678 22891 416288 4621

116t4920

13157341 1132541

2010 2tt9

LW-fl -fllr.t

50461 132581 1259231 4314t

22888 7445 224095 28588

20046 412982

155379t9

11962124 113254

30098820 73349 119980 2587t291 48926 1t4184

Trade and ether receivables 1778205

Cash and cash equivaleets Aitit1ft 263051

Trade and sther payables itf4W1thytf4X 615553

Dbligatines enderfaance leases fIIIJ 16740266

Bvrrswings fajk 22072121

eutinnal value 317890 559482

37068794 114338 124636 290587551 13534 124661

Company

USO Euro JPY USD Ears JPT

mt tit Sit mc tTc 55f

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMHOOO RMBCOO RMBOOO RMSOOO

AWiT Af Aflfit AXfc Aitfc

Trade and ether receivables yit1thitit 970089

Cash and cash equivalents 181499

Trade and ether
payables it4dthiyHt 457595

Dbligalivvs
ceder fiaance leases 13448836

Oerrewiegs 17661867

Currency derivatives at notional nILZitit

317890value

Net balance sheet evpvsure

93778

tltt6

559482
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Financial risk factors continued

Foreign currency
risk continued

The following table indicates the approximate change in the Groups

profit
and loss and other components of consolidated

equity
in

response
to 1% appreciation of the RMB against the following

major currencies at the balance sheet date

141

WU
NU
PQff

TbIflM 1jA

Group

2009

Effect Effect

2010

Effect on other Effect on other

on profit components on profit components

and loss of equity

fltfltlth

and loss of equity

ffl
flflL fWflLW i1f fifft

RMBCOO RMBOOO Ff40000 RMBOOO

Afi ASf0 AWMfF3E Aflfyc

US dollars jr 365365 8346 297829

Euro 1143 135

Japanese Yen ffy-c 1246 1247

411

Company

2010

nWfl
2009

-fl7tt

Effect Effect

Effect on other Effect on other

on profit components on profit components

and loss of equity

fftW1th

and loss of equity

Wfl1th

fiJL LWLW flfhfl Wfl
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AfE ASf Afyc
US dollars 295666 8346 266099

Euro 733 409

Japanese Yen 1200 1048

411
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Financial risk factors continued

IfflU1

ii lnterest rate risk ii .it4E

The Groups interest-rate risk primarily arises from borrowings and

obligations
under finance leases Borrowings issued at variable

rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk Borrowings

issued at fixed rates
expose

the Group to fair value interest-rate risk

During the year ended 31 December 2010 the Groups borrowings

and obligations under tinance leases at variable rates were

primarily denominated in US dollars Theinterest rates and terms of

repayment of borrowings made to the Group and interest rate swaps

are disclosed in Notes 32 and 3Bfa to the financial statements

To hedge against the variability in the cash flows
arising

from

change in market interest rates the Group has entered into certain

interest rate swaps to swap variable rates into fixed rates

The following table details the interest rate profiles of the Groups

and the Companys interest bearing financial instruments at the

balance sheet date

TA

Group

AG Iflk$4fl rcflI

$4 it it rf

WtmA

il

32tn4a3Blal

3msiJ491Lpfil

6h il$n ht lfl 44

Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

-ft fl flJL
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOOAE Aic AfE Ai3Tc

Floating rate instruments hiiiA
Cash and cash equivalents $f1fkJ
Borrowings

Obligation under finance leasesAfiM
Interest rate swaps at notional ilitlitf

amount

3067661 1730991 844084 1114768

32088011 22477854 26133256 18790618

19208333 19241091 15877872 17174080

4048530 2179378 4048530 2179378

44180153 37808576 37118514 32670552

Group Company

Fixed rate instruments

Borrowings

Obligation under finance leases

Interest rate swaps at notional

amount

2010 2009 2010 2009

nW flit flW flit
RMBOOO RMSOOO RMBOOO RMSOOO

AfE Aflf.$ AE Afo

6477646 2857095

129144

4455859 2331095

129144

375434 466817 375434 466817

6102212 2519422 4080425 1993422
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Financial risk factors continued

ii Interest rate risk continued

Nfl
Nt

ii ll4%L%XSft

The
following

table indicates the
approximate change in the Groups

profit and loss and other components of equity if interest rate had

been 25 basis points higher with all other variables held constant

2010

%$5T f$kF25M1fl

5H fitiltIA fl

2009

liD Fuel price risk

The Groups results of operations may be significantly affected by

fluctuations in fuel prices which is significant expense component

for the Group Aircraft fuel accounts for 31% of the Groups

operating expenses 2009 32% The Group has entered into certain

financial derivatives to hedge against fuel price risk Details of crude

oil option contracts are disclosed in Note 38c to the financial

statements

For the year
ended 31 December 2010 if fuel

price
had been 5%

higher/lower
with all other variables held constant excluding the

impact of crude oil option contracts the Groups fuel cost would

have been RMB1081 million higher/lower

iv Credit risk

The Groups credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash

equivalents derivative financial instruments and deposits with banks

and financial institutions as well as credit exposures to sales agents

The Group has credit policy
in

place to monitor the
exposures

to

these credit risks on an on going basis

iii Mfl1F4t

fl4c$ t$$i

ffUMflflhPfiLW

32%

$ifltifl IVff 1%

nuns
M%tift38fc

fill tti GA til 39-/ 1ff

5%

ftAE10.81tTc

iv CRFII

4$

Effect Effect

Effect on other Effect on other

on profit components on profit components

and loss of equity

flIIEFIth

and loss of equity

flGA
1flSIfl flftfJLW ffMFt GnsFffOW

RMROOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AT5E AF AFic Aflf.sc

Eloating rate instruments 4$JIA 110424 10121 94441 10952
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Financial risk factors continued

iv Credit risk continued

The Group has poliCies in place to ensure that sales of blank tickets

are only
made available to sales

agents
with an appropriate credit

history major portion of sales are conducted through sales agents

and the majority of these agents are connected to various settlement

plans andlor clearing systems
which impose requirements on the

credit standing

significant portion of the Groups air tickets are sold by sales

agents participating in the Billing and Settlements Plan BSP
clearing system between airlines and sales

agents organised by

the International Air Transportation Association The balance due

from BSP agents amounted to approximately RMB8O4 million as at

31 December 2D1D 20D9 approximately RMBS6D million

Except for the above the Group has no significant concentration

of credit risk with the exposure spreading over number of

counterparties

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Groups exposure to

credit risk arising from trade receivables are set out in Note 26

The Groups cash management policy is to deposit cash and cash

equivalents mainly in state-owned banks and other banks which are

highly
rated

by an international credit rating company The Group

also deposits cash and cash equivalents in an associate financial

institution owned by its holding company Note 46chi The

management does not expect any loss to arise from non performance

by these banks and the financial institution

Transactions in relation to derivative financial instruments are only

carried out with financial institutions of high reputation The Group

has policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any one

financial institution Management does not
expect any losses from

non-performance by these banks

tJNtUI

N1
iv IRmltftft

RTtIM fiit

flfJb Wtl fl

Httt

fi fl
$flBsPAhkf
A8.D41trc_vt
BS.6OSc

14 flRT
fl tcfPJi

fikfl Ht4

141114 ff1 t46c

hO

flkfUtflEfHThfl

4T14 141

1414141414 -1414

1414141414

14141414 kb14 fuJf 14 14
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Financial risk factors continued

Liquidity risk

NflW

IUflMM

The Groups primary cash requirements have been for additions

of and upgrades to aircraft engines and flight equipment and

payments on related borrowings The Group finances its working

capital requirements through combination of funds generated from

operations and both short and long term bank loans The Group

generally finances the
acquisition

of aircraft through long-term

finance leases and bank loans

The Group operates with working capital deficit As at

31 December 2010 the Groups net current liabilities amounted

to RMB27184 million 2009 RMB28648 million For the
year

ended 31 December 2010 the Group recorded net cash inflow

from operating activities of RMB1D641 million 2009 inflow

RMB3429 million net cash outflow from investing activities and

financing activities of RMB9285 million 2009 outflow RMB51SD

million and an increase in cash and cash equivalents of RMB1356

million 2009 decrease RMB1721 million

The Directors of the Company believe that cash from
operations

and short and long term bank borrowings will be sufficient to

meet the Groups operating cash flow Due to the dynamic nature

of the
underlying businesses the Groups treasury policy

aims at

maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping credit lines available

The Directors of the Company believe that the Group has obtained

sufficient general credit facilities from PRC banks for
financing

future capital commitments and for working capital purposes

see Note 2a

fl

nfl

tA flIIWt

flfl5flMfiTfl
.ff

if MA
21.84W5t2009 Af286.48

fH7ct
H$tfUt

flbMtflAM MAWM
1D6.41t7c

34.291tm tflbtfl
fl111WMMAfl92.85
Wjc Wt1HiAfl
51.SDH.it tflflfl

ttfJAf13.56Vjc

Afl17.21f

flæflflfHfl

rAsM3W 4cf
ltf2fa
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Financial risk factors continued

Liquidity risk continued

Management monitors rolling
forecasts of the Groups liquidity

reserves on the basis of expected cash flows

The table below analyses the Groups and the Companys financial

liabilities that will be settled into relevant maturity groupings based

on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual

maturity date The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual

undiscounted cash flows Balances due within 12 months
equal

their

carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant

NtXt
fl

146

8JM 1M

lflb
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Group

fl
Less than Between Between Over

year and years and years years

it1 12t 25fl 5id
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOOAN AS6f6 AflfE

y44n
1thS14

TA

16113516 8591821 9140195 6729831

61857 4920 131903 117727

2476451 2539816 7498600 8359802

At31 December 2010

Borrowings

Derivative financial

instruments

Obligations under finance

leases

Trade and other payables

Total

At 31 December 2009

Borrowings

Derivative financial

instruments

Obligations under finance

leases

Trade and other payables

Total

36802900 11145387 17107459 15522304

12886380 3174883 6523487 4356734

1006286 12095 6364 104886

2466415 2388362 7405048 8752687

17311295 9104 313092 364172

33670376 5584444 14247991 13578479
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Financial risk factors continued

Liquidity risk continued

NMIJtI

NJt
flWt6

Company

147

Over

years

RMBOOO

Less than Between Between

year

iclk1T

RMBOOO

and years and years

12P1
RMBOOO

25n
RMBOOO

5k

At31 December2010

Borrowings

Derivative financial

instruwents

Obligations under finance

leases

Trade and other payables

Total

At31 December 2DD9

Borrowings

Derivative financial

instruments

Obligations under finance

leases

Trade and other payables

Total

13078606 7077711 7010991 4977282

61857 4920 131903 117727

2084165 2137332 6251938 6854100

14552006 8830 268526 314944

29776634 9228793 13663358 12264053

-t-fl1EE1

rA

IS íA

fltll

ffl8

D651 723 2752994 5549696 3427752

1DD6286 12D95 6364 1D4886

221313 2130374 66DD565 78D2646

15563933 91D4 232D43 364172

29435D73 49D4567 12388668 11699456
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Capital risk management

The Groups objectives
when managing capital are to safeguard the

Groups ability to continue as going concern in order to provide returns

for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an

optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of
capital

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure the Group may

adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders return capital to

nhareholders issue new nhares or sell assets to reduce debt

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the
gearing ratio which is

calculated as total liabilities divided by total assets The gearing ratios at

31 December 2010 and 2009 were as follows

Total liabilities

Total assets

Gearing ratio

UJ

tUW
MTflflfl

itt

TJc..fl

2010

RMBOOO

8677 1830

103333716

2009

JL
RMSOOO

70 17 52 11

71851392

Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

Effective January 2009 the Group adopted the amendment to IFRS for

financial instruments that are measured in the balance sheet at fair value

this requires
disclosure of fair value measurements by

level of the following

fair value measurement hierarchy

Quoted prices unadjusted in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities level

Inputs other than quoted prices included within level that are

observable for the asset or liability either directly that is as prices

or indirectly that is derived from prices level

Inputs
for the asset or liability that are not based on observable

market data that is unobservable
inputs level

tJt1V1t
WJtt .11 flLUkfTh

MSffj7UHthI

ttiiffj

flA8PTfliA
3g

0.84 0.98
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

continued

The
following

table
presents

the Groups assets and liabilities that are

measured at fair value at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009

Uft
WYi5tMfl

1t.fAffi
tA_fltt.fl -F GZh

At31 December2009

Assets

Derivative financial instruments

Crude oil option contracts

Note 38c
Available-for sale

financial assets

Total

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments

Crude oil option contracts

Note 38c
Interest rate swaps

Note 38a
Forward foreign exchange

contracts Note 38b

Total

/W38c

/Wfft38a

fW38b
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Group

Level Level Level Total

miN
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AflfE A-f Atfc AS5
At 31 December 2010

Assets

Derivative financial instruments

Crude oil
option contracts

Note 38c
Interest rate swaps

Note 38a
Available-fur sale finaiidal

assets

Total

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments

Crude oil option contracts

Note 38c
Interest rate swaps

Note 38a
Forward foreign exchange

contracts Note 38b

Total

18970

52081

Wfl

Mi38c

/W38

fWS38c

pc1a38a

rn38b

18970

52081

5469 71051 236536 313056

48612 48612

191247 191247

76548 76548

316407 316407

Group

Level Level Level Total

2l 3l
RM8OOO RM8OOO RMBOOO RMSOOO

Af.7r Aflfit AFyc AT

IW38c 3490 3490

57269 57269

3490 57269 60759

897744 897744

154871 154871

77016 77016

1129631 1129631
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

continued

UI
UMT5t1Ifl
UI

Company

At31 December2010

Assets

Derivative financial instruments

Crude oil option contracts

Note 38c
Interest rate swaps

Note 38a
Available-for sale financial

assets

Total

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments

Crude oil option contracts

Note 38k
Interest rate swaps

Note 38a
Forward foreign exchange

contracts Note 38b

Total

nW-fl
flf El-H

4ff

l3iit38c

fill a38a

fl

lJ38c

flj38a

lfi38b

At31 December 2DD9

Assets

Derivative financial instruments

Crude oil option contracts

Note 38k
Available-for-sale financial

assets

Total

Liabilities

Derivative financial instruments

Crude oil option contracts

Note 38k
Interest rate swaps

Note 38a
Forward foreign exchange

contracts Note 38b

Total

nfrf -h--H

ffjt38c

Company

iTn1

Level Level Level Total

1M 3l
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Afli Afl58 Ar

18970

52081

18970

52081

3672 220057 223729

3672 71051

48612

220057 294780

48612

191247 191247

76548 76548

316407 316407

Level Level Level Total

2lff 3lff 44
RM8OOO Rf48OOO RM8OOO RM8OOO

Aflfc Afl Afzc Asyc

349D 3490

57269 57269

li

Ift38c

flii38a

lr1a38b

349D 57269 6D759

897744 897744

154871 154871

77D16 77D16

1129631 1129631
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

continued

The fair value of finandal instruments traded in active markets is based on

quoted market prices at the balance sheet date market is regarded as

active if quoted prices are readily and
regularly

available from an exchange

dealer broker industry group pricing service or regulatory agency and

those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions

on an arms
length

basis The quoted market price used for financial assets

held by the Group is the current bid price

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active

market for example over-the-counter derivatives is determined by using

valuation techniques These valuation techniques maximise the use of

observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible

on entity specific estimates If all significant inputs required to fair value an

instrument are observable these instruments are included in level of the

above table

If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market

data the instrument is included in level

Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include

Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments

The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present

value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield

curves

The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined

using
forward exchange rates at the balance sheet date with the

resulting value discounted back to present value

Dther techniques such as discounted cash flow
analysis are used to

determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments

flIMW1
Ui

fRtF AA

I-hhitflifflfl

Ia5t
fflAJUfl

wfl frflfflf

tfl

4fl tflTQfl5S
41
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments used in preparing the financial statements are

continually
evaluated and are based on historical experience end other factors

including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under

the circumstances The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the

future The
resulting accounting

estimates will by definition seldom
equal

the

related actual results The estimates and assumptions that have significant risk

of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities

within the next financial year are discussed below

Estimated impairment of property plant and equipment

and intangible assets

The Group tests whether property plant and equipment and intangible

assets have been impaired in accordance with the accounting policy stated

in Note 2m to the financial statements The recoverable amounts of cash

generating units have been determined based on fair value less cost to

sell and value in use calculations Value in use calculations use cash flow

projections
based on financial budgets approved by management and

certain key assumptiurrs such as passenget-kilumetres yield level load

factor aircraft utilisation rate and discount rates etc

Fair value of non-current assets held for sale

Non current assets held for sale are stated the lower of carrying amount

and fair value less costs to sell in accordance with the accounting

policy stated in Note 2n The fair value of non-current assets has been

determined by reference to the estimated market value and/or available

price quotes provided by the potential buyers

Revenue recognition

The Group recognises traffic revenues in accordance with the accounting

policy stated in Note 2e to the financial statements Unused tickets are

recognised in traffic revenues based on current estimates Management

annually evaluates the balance in the SIAC and records any adjustments

which can be material in the
period

the evaluation is completed

These
adjustments

result from differences between the estimates of certain

revenue transactions and the timing of recognising revenue for any unused

air tickets and the related sales price and are impacted by various factors

including complex pricing structure and interline agreements throughout

the industry
which affect the

timing
of revenue recognition

tffl
thh httft IhRfmmw

fl11MIttI

ffl
in

2m

ifirtk

GYift1M

flh5t %WflM

4XA

EEI flfts

mTaA
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CRITICAI ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 1t1tiiOI
continued

Frequent flyer programme

The Group operates frequent flyer programmes that provide travel awards

to programme members based on accumulated miles portion of

passengers revenue attributable to the award of frequent flyer benefits

is deferred and recognised when the miles have been redeemed or have

expired The deferment of revenue is estimated based on historical trends

of redemptions which is then used to project
the expected utilisation of

these benefits and estimated fair values of the unredeemed miles Different

judgements or estimates could significantly affect the estimated provision

for frequent flyer programmes and the results of operations

Depredation of property plant and equipment

Depreciation of components related to airframe and engine overhaul

costs are based on the Groups historical experience with similar airframe

and engine models and taking into account anticipated
overhauls costs

timeframe between each overhaul ratio of actual flying hours and estimated

flying hours between overhauls Different judgments or estimates could

significantly affect the estimated depreciation charge and the results of

operations

Except
for components related to airframe and

engine
overhaul costs other

property plant and equipment are depreciated on straight-line basis over

the estimated useful lives after taking into account the estimated residual

value The useful lives are based on the Groups historical
experience

with

similar assets and taking into account anticipated technological changes

The Group reviews the estimated useful lives of assets regularly in order to

determine the amount of
depreciation expense to be recorded

during any

reporting period The depreciation expense for future periods is adjusted if

there are significant changes from previous estimates

Provision for costs of return condition checks for aircraft

and engines under operating leases

Provision for the estimated costs of return condition checks for aircraft

and engines under
operating

leases is made based on the estimated

costs for such return condition checks and taking into account anticipated

flying hours flying cycle and timeframe between each overhaul These

judgments or estimates are based on historical experience on returning

similar airframe and engine models actual costs incurred and aircraft and

engines status Different judgments or estimates could significantly affect

the estimated provision for costs of return condition checks

fltfi

Ii tM-h
flM

t.A3

flfl
bV

tRfHAfl

ftRJ hkflflflWfl
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

continued

Retirement benefits

The Group operates and maintains defined retirement benefit plans

which
provide

retirees with benefits
including transportation subsidies

social activity subsidies as well as other welfare The cost of providing the

aforementioned benefits in the defined retirement benefit plan is actuarially

determined and recognised over the employees service period by utilising

various actuarial assumptions and
using

the
projected

unit credit method in

accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2x to the financial

statements These assumptions include without limitation the selection

of discount rate annual rate of increase of
per capita benefit payment and

employees turnover rate The discount rate is based on managements

review of local high quality corporate bonds The annual rate of increase

of benefit payments is based on the general
local economic conditions

The employees turnover rate is based on historical trends of the Group

Additional information regarding the retirement benefit plans is disclosed

in Note 36 to the financial statements

Ii Deferred income tax

In assessing the amount of deferred tax assets that need to be recognised

in accordance with the accounting policy stated in Note 2j to the financial

statements the Group considers future taxable income and ongoing

prudent and feasible tax planning strategies In the event that the Groups

estimates of projected future taxable income and benefits from available

tax strategies are changed or changes in current tax regulations are

enacted that would
impact

the timing or extent of the Groups ability to

utilise the tax benefits of net operating loss
carry

forwards in the future

adjustments to the recorded amount of net deferred tax assets and taxation

expense would be made

Valuation of acquisition price

The Company issued its shares to effect the acquisition of Shanghai

Airlines during the
year

ended 31 December 2010 Note 44 The fair value

of the shares at the acquisition date is determined based on the quoted

market price
of the Companys share issued as of the date closest to the

acquisition date with adjustments to reflect restrictions specific to certain

shares issued Significant assumptions used when made adjustments for

the value of those restricted shares Changes to these assumptions may

impact
the initial

recognised goodwill

WJtUE

R1fj

tfftTt2sfifr

4fi1 flfff 12

flJfthtff5t36

iIiW

Pf 2j 6ff
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

continued

Purchase price allocation for business combination

Accounting for business acquisitions require
the Group to allocate the

cost of the acquisition to the specific assets acquired and liabilities

assumed based on their estimated fair values at the date of
acquisition

In connection with the acquisition
of Shanghai Airlines the Company

undertakes
process to identify all assets and liabilities acquired including

any identified intangible assets where appropriate The judgements made

in identifying all acquired assets determining the estimated fair value

assigned to each class of assets acquired and liabilities assumed as well

as assets useful lives may materially impact the Groups financial position

and results of operation In determining the fair values of the identifiable

assets acquired and liabilities assumed valuation was conducted by an

independent valuer and estimated fair values are based on information

available near the acquisition date and on expectations
and assumptions

that have been deemed reasonable by management

There are several methods that can be used to determine the fair value

of assets acquired and liabilities assumed The purchase accounting

adjustment relate primarily to the aircraft and engines
and land use right

which is valued by using
market value approach

flUR
fltfl

flfthMfl
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REVENUES

156

$fflJ1tfl
lf

Traffic revenues

Passenger

Cargo and mail

Ground service income

Tour
operations income

Cargo handling income

Commission income

Others

67390909 36924830

58968019 32800411

8422890 4124419

1957610 974732

1932510

673329

460259

1389042

Note

73803659 38989659

Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulations in the PRC the major elements of the

Groups traffic revenues ground service income tour operations income cargo handling

income commission income and other revenues are generally subject to business tax levied

at rates of3% ors%

Pursuant to the notice of exemption of business tax on the provision of international

transportation services Cal Shu No jointly issued by Ministry of Finance and the

State Administration of Taxation the Grnupc revenuec from the provision of international

transportation services are exempt from business tax from January 2010

The business tax incurred and set off against the above Groups revenues for the
year

ended

31 December 2010 amounted to approximately 8MB 1463 million 200g approximately

8MB 10 million

JiEB8JA hffiflfl
fleBSA lWflAfliAfl3%st

ff15fl5

flJM8lf2oiojs8VA
EQ88

fl fl-l-_E -1- HiLtWflP
lM4kAMmA1463Iw_
Wit AMcYW1o.19ftcj

The Group is principally engaged in the operation of civil aviation including
the

provision of passenger cargo mail delivery tour operations and other extended

transportation services

Group

2010 2009

RMBOOO

-tEi

RMBOOO

Afc

296827

206137

587133
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157

OTHER OPERATING INCOME 1thflX

Group

2010

RMBOOO

2009

RMBOOO

Pursuant te Cal Jian 2009 No nsued by Ministry of Finance and Civil Aviation

Administration of China in 2009 the civil aviation infrastructure levies collected from

PRC domestic aidines for the period from July 2008 to 30 June 2009 would be

refunded The amount for the
year

ended 31 December2009 represented the refunds

of dvil aviation infrastructure levies received by the Group in 2009

Other
government

subsidies
represent fi subsidies granted by local

governments

to the Group and il other subsidies granted by various local municipalities to

encourage
the Group to

operate
certain routes to oties where these municipalities

are located

SEGMENT INFORMATION

CODM office of the General Manager reviews the

Groups internal reporting in order to assess performance

and allocate resources

The Group has one reportable operating segment reported as airline

operations which are structured and managed separately The airline

operations comprises the provision of air passenger air
cargo services

mail and ground logistics

Other services including tour operations aviation training air catering and

other miscellaneous services are not included within the airline
operations

segment as their internal
reports are separately provided to the CODM

The results of these operations are included in the other segments

column

fflflIE flc
tsililila1t2009 4f5Ufl

flf4rQflaQ

Afl flil818

fb 4PAhPllilfl
iilflltKflhil

EW3I

tLTff flU
tfli fl5J
tfrtfl fl

Inter segment transactions are entered into under normal commercial terms

and conditions that would be available to unrelated third parties

Note

Other operating income 1thUrA
Refund of civil aviation infrastructure levies

Note LiWa 831749

Other government subsidies Note 658620 456268

658620 1288017
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SEGMENT INFORMATION continued

CODM office of the General Manager reviews the

Groups internal reporting in order to assess performance

and allocate resources continued

In accordance with IERS segment disclosure has been presented in

manner that is consistent with the information used by the Groups CODM

The Groups CODM monitors the results assets and liabilities attributable

to each reportable segment based on financial results prepared under the

PRC Accounting
Standards for Business Enterprises the PRC Accounting

Standards which differ from IFRS in certain aspects The amount of

each material
reconciling items from the Groups reportable segment

revenue and profit or loss arising
from different

accounting policies are set

out in Note 7c as below

The segment results for the
year

ended 31 December 2010 are as follows

Wl16@Wflj
fl5ThIfl fri

bflf
fllAW4 SWIPfr

fij

BhsPf1
t7c

Airline Other

Reportable segment revenue from hbf
external customers fll1iIQ.A

Inter-segment sales

Reportable segment revenue ffll1tA

operations segments Elimination Unallocated Total

fln 1thflfl 5tffre9ftf 31t28IORR tf
RMBOUO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Afi Afx Av Af Afi

72029550 2928558 74958108

427141 295335 722476

Reportable segment profit

before income tax

Other
segment

information

Depreciation and amortisation

Irvpairrxnrit lussvs

Capital expenditure

72456691 3223893 722476 74958108

5633323 88407 119363 5841093

6916308 69397 6985705

425772 1289 427061

22752632 336978 23.089610

The segment results for the year ended 31 December 2009 are as follows

Airline

flfctmff ffthf

Other

operations segments Elimination Unallocated Total

fl5Th5P 5frfAf 5kThEJR

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMSOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Ayc JffiTY Ayc Aflfc Af.ic

Reportable segment revenue from

external customers 53SlltA

Inter-segment sales

Reportable segment revenue -ptA
Reportable segment profit

before income tax

39727636 103695 39831331

126124 126124

Other segment information

Depredation and amortisation

Impairment
losses

Capital expenditure

1Th5ThW1

39727636 229819 126124 39831331

644307 18563 22749 640121

5278242 54494 5332736

118022 202 118224

8112355 70386 8182741
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Forthe year ended3l December2010 -/- SjL$

At31 December2010

Reportable segment assets

Reportable segment liabilities

At31 December2009

Reportable segment
assets

Reportable segment liabilities

97500563 2045617 191907 1455844 100810117

83.387701 1.038.146 191.907 84.233.940

69850127 1153130 137660 11 53084 7201 8681

68068474 474739 137660 68405553

Unallocated assets primarily represent investments in associates and
jointly

controlled entities and available foc sale financial assets Unallocated results

primanly represent
the share of resolts of assonates and

jointly
controlled

entities

The Groups business segments operate in three main

geographical areas even though they are managed on

worldwide basis

The Groups revenues by geographical segment are analysed
based on the

following criteria

Traffic revenue from services within the PRC excluding the Hong

Kong Special Administrative Region Hong Kong Macau Special

Administrative Region Macau and Taiwan collectively known

as Regional is classified as domestic operations Ttaffic revenue

from inbound and outbound services between the PRC regional or

overseas markets is attributed to the segments based on the
origin

and destination of each flight segment

if

21fl
A534ffHT

lEk1

iJ

Ailfl

SEGMENT INFORMATION continued

CODM office of the General Manager reviews the

Groups internal reporting in order to assess performance

and allocate resources continued

The segment assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2010 and 31

December 2009 are as follows

Airline

flt@ff

flfl
flfl UI

t_m- Mt

t1-_WH- ct61Pfl81

Other

operations segments Elimination Unallocated Total

nvn 1thflfl re1 flll3U

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBCUO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AflfiE AR6 AS5Z A3E Af36
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SEGMENT INFORMATION continued

The Groups business segments operate in three main

geographical areas even though they are managed on

worldwide basis continued

Revenue from ticket handling services airport ground services and

other miscellaneous services are classified on the basis of where the

services are performed

1WfR
4ME1flflflMtt

flA

Group

2010

RMBOOO

51060489

3900952

19996667

74958108

2009

RMBOOO

27482611

1986964

10361756

39831331

The major revenue-earning assets of the Group are its aircraft all

of which are registered in the PRC Since the Groups aircraft are

deployed flexibly across its route network there is no suitable basis

of allocating such assets and the related liabilities by geography and

hence segment assets and capital expenditure by geography have

not been presented

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue profit

assets and liabilities to the consolidated figures as

reported in the consolidated financial statements

f2WX 5if

Group

fl

2010 2009

W-fl
Note RMBOOO RMBOOO

ThJt Afft

160

fl

Domestic the PRC excluding Hong Kong

Macau and Taiwan

Regional Hong Kong Macau and Taiwan

International

Total

Revenue

Reportable segment revenue

Reclassification of business tax

and expired sales in advance of

carriage

Consolidated revenue

74958108 39831331

1154449 841672

73803659 38989659
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards EflK3SRJf/
For the year ended 31 December2010 E_1-_ffZ--- Hik

SEGMENT INFORMATION continued

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue profit

assets and liabilities to the consolidated figures as

reported in the consolidated financial statements

continued

flE
S2MtX 2U

Group

Profit before income tax

Reportable segment profit

Difference in depreciation and

impairment charges for aircraft

engines and flight equipment

Provision for
post-retirement

benefits

Reversal of revaluation surplus relating

to land use rights

Consolidated profit before income tax

2010

RMBOOO

A-75fi

2009

RMBOOO

2009

RMBOOO

Reportable segment assets

Difference in depreciation and

impairment charges for aircraft

engines and flight equipment

Reversal of revaluation surplus relating

to land use rights

Difference in intangible asset

goodwill arising from the

acquisition of Shanghai Airlines

Others

Consolidated total assets

-tmMll1s

fl

2010

Note RMBOOO

rn

5841093 640121

83765

347936

64988

334348

ii

iii

iv

Note

8420 8420

5417812 249205

Assets

Group

fl

iv

100810117 72018681

84147 167912

352206 360626

2160665

30993 25425

103333716 71851392

flil2O1O4t157
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended3l December2010 .-1- HiLM

SEGMENT INFORMATION continued

Reconciliation of reportable segment revenue profit

assets and liabilities to the consolidated figures as

reported in the consolidated financial statements

continued

Ui
fWX J5

Ui

The difference represents the different classifiration of business tax and

expired sales in advance of carriage under PRC Accounting Standards and

IRIS

ii The difference is attributable to the differences in the useful lives and

residual values of aircraft engines and rotables adopted for depreciation

purpose in prior years under PRC Accounting Standards and IFRS Despite

the depreciation policies of these assets have been unified under IFRS and

the PRC Accounting Standards in recent years the changes were applied

prospectively as changes in accounting estimates which results in the

differences in the carrying amounts and related depreciation changes under

IFRS and PRC Accounting Standards

iii In accordance with the PRC Accounting Standards certain employees post

retfrement benefits are recognised upon actually incurred Under IFRS such

post retirement benefits under defined benefit schemes are required to be

recognised over the employees service period using pro jected unit credit

method

iv Under the PRC Accounting Standards land use rights injected by the parent

company as capital contribution are stated at valuation less accumulated

amortisation Under IFRS land use nghts are recorded as prepaid operating

leases at hijtorkal cost which was nil at the time of listing

The determination of the fad values of the acquisition costs and identifiable

assets and liabilities of
Shanghai

Aidines acqufred dudng the
year

is different

under IFRS and the PRC Accounting Standards which results in difference in

the intangibles/goodwill recognised aridng
from the acquisition

84233940

iii 2617283

79393

68405553

1849933

80275

fi flflflfltfl

fe flfl

flftt5E tt

ME

MM

itnfsflf
SMPM MMPMPfi5Rf

fljqq7IMIflPM

iv fEIfl-flfT

Aijflfl

HMMfMAtJMOfnkM

MS MSPMflMTAM PM

-Sii/tMtt2AhSfl AM MW

162

Group

fl

2010 2009

Note

nwfl
RMBOOO

Liabilities

Reportable segment liabilities

Ptovision lot post retitement benefits

QUiets

Consolidated total liabilities

Notes

RMBOOO

AFcffffjc

86771830 70175211

iii
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For the year ended3l December2070 t-i- B9th

GAIN ON FAIR VALUE MOVEMENTS OF DERIVATIVES 13iIMMflhtM
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Group

fl

2010 2009

RMBOOO RMBVOO

Gain arising from fair value movements of derivatives

financial instruments

Crude oil option contracts Note 38c thMVAtthIW38c 800195 3743746

Other derivatives Note 38a 33189 30942

833384 3774688

WAGES SALARIES AND BENEFITS

Group

2010 2009

RMBOCO RMSOOO

Wages salaries bonus and allowances 6567729 3502069

Employee welfare and benefits 361149 255214

Defined contribution retirement schemes Nore 36a 996326 521596

Post-retirement benefits Note 36b 479514 440878

Staff housing fund Note 37a I1tTh4j37a 422167 323348

Staff
housing allowance Note 37b MI14bIi37b 113901 105772

8940786 5148877

fH8flit1 2010 48 159
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WAGES SALARIES AND BENEFITS continued

Emoluments of directors and supervisors

Details of the emoluments paid to the Companys directors and supervisors

are as follows

1W

W$$A

2010

Executive Directors

Liu Shaoyong

Liiun

Ma Xulun

uo Chaogeng

Luo Zhuping

Independent non-executive

Directors

Liu Keya

Wu Xiaogen

ii Weidong

Shao Ruiqing

I-lu Honggao

Zhou Ruijin

Ws Baiwang

Xie Rong

Supervisors

I-lu iiangho

Xu Zhao

Yan Taisheng

Feng Jinxiong

I-lu Jiashun

Total

if-n

lclIl

Salaries and

Allowance

RMBOOO

102

96

60

24

24

60

60

220

317

Total

RMBOOO

102

96

60

24

24

60

60

220

317

Bonus

RMBOOO

604

514

604

514

2081 2081
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Emoluments of directors and supervisors continued

Liu Jiangbo

Xu Zhao

Wang Taoying

Yang Jie

Liu Jiashun

Van Taisheng

Fang Jinxiong

Total

IjIIg

Salaries and

flK$Rflta

2009

These directors and officials of the Company ceceived emoluments from CEA

Holding
the

parent company part
of which were in respect

of their services

to the Company and its subsidiaries No apportionment has been made as it

is impracticable to apportion this amount between thefr services to the Group

and their senices to CEA Holding

These directors and officials of the Company retired or resigned ducing the

year ended 31 December 2010

These directors and officials of the Company were newly appointed during the

year
ended 31 December2010

Outing the
year

ended 31 December 2010 no ditectors and supervisots

waived their emoluments 2009 Nil

flRThPffl aMmnYsA

Bflflfl
RN1F.ffiJflltM ann
J0Jffit.eM $flfiEfi1A

fifl HiEt

NOTES TO THE FINANCIALSTATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards StWJ
For the year ended 31 December 2D10 ._tSt

WAGES SALARIES AND BENEFITS continued WThiUE

Allowance Bonus Total

fl4
RMBOOO R448DDD RMBDDD

Af5E A-T5 AJtfr

Pi1ifl

Executive Directors

Liu Shaoyong

MaXulun

Luo Chaogeng

Li Jun

Luo Zhuping

Independent non-executive

Directors

Hu Honggao

Petet Lok

Wu Baiwang

Zhou
Ruiin

Xie Rong

Liu Keya

Supervisors

142 142

182 182

120 120

Ltl 106 106

DI 120 120

120 120

120 120

106

44

172

142

106

44

172

142

1374 1374

2010 tIB 161



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MflNfi 14tt

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 1tL.c J- Sk

166

WAGES SALARIES AND BENEFITS continued

Five highest paid individuals

None ot the Companys directors and supervisors was among the five

highest paid individuals in the Group for the
year

ended 31 December 2D1D

2DD9 Nil The emoluments payable to the five highest paid individuals

are as follows

Group

2010 2DD9

ne-fl

Wages salaries bonus and allowances

The emoluments fell within the
following

band

Number of individuals

2010 2DD9

Below HK$1DDDDDD 1DDOODDjttkT

During the
year

ended 31 December 2D1D no emoluments were paid by

the Group to the directors supervisors and the five highest paid individuals

as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation

for loss of office 2DD9 Nil

10 IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

n._wt Hfr

flft
10 flMIL

Group

Impairment charge on eon-current assets held for

sale Note

Impairment charge on tlight equipment spare parts

Impairment charge on property plant and equipment

Other impairment charges

2009

_flJLt
RMBOOO

35443

53579

16396

Note

In December 2010 the Group management passed resolution to dispose certain

aircraft and related engines in the forthcoming 12 months in consideration ot the

low operation efficiency and high maintenance costs ot these aircraft The proposed

disposal is part ot the Groups fleet portfolio streamlining exercise The aircraft and

engines has been classified as non-current assets held for sale at 31 December

2010 and an impakment loss charge of approximately RMB239 million was made

against these aircraft and engines by reference to the estimated market values which

approximate to the pdce guotes provided by the potential buyers Note 42

405391 109417

fa mRflflflfl
B12fl4JqBmnrinf

RB flft.7ZEIflfl

ttRftRf3tRh7tJAft Hlt.zi PP

B-I- aflBB8lS

ffflWflflR2tAPP
lW2.39fff.xcflfftt42

RMBOOO

4416

RMBDDD

3393

2010

-w wt
RMBOOO

wfTQ1fl1JfI

256694

148697

3999
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For the year ended 31 December2010 Wt SiL

11 OPERATING PROFIT 11 ttit

Operating profit is stated after charging the following items ijjc

Group

fl

2010 2009

ne-fl
Note RMBOOO RMBOOO

Amortisation of intangible assets 49681 109799

Depreciation of property plant and equipment

owned 4353668 2878040

leased II 2323302 2189310

Aniortisation of lease prepayments 31186 25686

Consumption of
flight equipment spare parts 601407 351151

Provision for impairment of trade and other

receivables 1if4 1545 8807

Auditors remuneration fI11IIH 16680 12000

12 FINANCE INCOME 12 WH%tA

Group

2010 2009

flAt
RMBOOO RMBOOO

klfyc

Eschaiigs gains net Note 1074796 95379

Interest income JJA 80588 109925

1155384 205304

Note

The exrhange gain tor the years ended 31 Oerember 2070 and 2009 primarily rela red to rhe fth SM
rranslarion of the Groups foreign rurrenry denominated borrowings and obligations under S.t
finance leases at year-end esrhange rates AIAb4BII1 fBWRhb$IN/B

2010 fl 163
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168

13 FINANCE COSTS 13 MWHi

Group

The
aserage

interest rate used for interest rapitalisation is 3.75% per annum for the year

ended 31 December 207020094.50%

q-l- SiL%fltJ
ffMfflJMi75%-Jc% 4.50%

14 INCOME TAX

Income tax chatged to the consolidated income statement is as follows

14

Group

Pilot to 2008 the Company and certain of its subsidiaries the Pudong

Subsidiaries located in Pudong District Shanghai were entitled to teduced

tate of 15% pursuant to the preferential tax policy in Pudong District Shanghai

Under the Corporate Income Tax Law of the Peoples Republic of China the New

CIT Law which was approved bf the National Peoples Congress on 16 Match

2007 and became effective ftom
January 2008 the Company and the Pudong

Subsidiaries are entitled to transitional arrangement to gradually increase the

applicable corporate income tax rate to 25% over the next five
years

from 2008

For the
year

ended 31 December 2010 the corporate income tax rate applicable

to the Company and the Pudong Subsidiaries was 22% 2009 20% Other

subsidiaries of the Company except for those incorporated in Hong Kong and

subject to Hong Kong corporate income tax rate of 16.5% 2009 16.5% are

generally subject to the PRC standard
corporate tax rate of 25 2009 25%

under the New CIT Law

aT1flfffJ
15% n4Atff OflibtAIAEtfi W4-L

20%

16.S% 44t 16.5% Pfit%4j

%Nbbfl
flfl42S% 447g
2S%

2010

nw-fl
RMBOOO

279095

1234837

143482

Interest relating to obligations under finance leases

Interest on borrowings

Interest relating to notes payable

Less amounts capitalised into advanced payments

on acquisition of aircraft Note

amounts capitalised into construction in

progress Note

Note

2009

RMBOOO

486845

1407053

83964

tffflhjj

1657414 1977862

150668 223222

4846

1501900 1754640

Provision for PRC income tax

Deferred taxation Note 35

2010 2009

nwfl
RMBOOO RMSOOO

ATE AfPfljc

125309 60398

133491 52547
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14 INCOME TAX continued

Tax on the Groups consolidated income statement differs from the theoretical

amount that would arise using the standard taxation rate of the Company as

follows

14 WU

Group

Profit before income tax

Adjusted by

Share of result of associates and

jointly controlled entities

Tax calculated at the tax rate of 22% 2009 20%

Effect attributable to subsidiaries
charged at tax rates

of 25% or 16.5% 2009 25% or 16.5%

Income not subject to tax

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes

Utilisation of previously snrecognised tax losses

Unrecognised tax losses for the
year

Realisation of deductible temporary differences which

were not recognised deferred tax in previous years

Unrecognised
deductable temporary differences

for the
year

Tax charge

fl

2009 20%

Nt 3125%h16.5%flIft

25kK16.5%

tflff4
_If

2010

RMBOOO

5417812

2009

flAt
RMSOOO

249205

The Group operates international flights to overseas destinations There was no

material overseas taxation for the year
ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 as

there are double tax treaties between the PRC and the
corresponding jurisdictions

including Hong Kong relating to aviation businesses

tft

t- At_ff DiE

15 DIVIDEND 15 fl

The Board has not recommended any dividend for the year ended 31 December

20102009 Nil

16 PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE PARENT

The profit
attributable to owners of the parent is dealt with in the

financial statements of the Company to the extent of RMB4422 million

2009 RMB 1074 million

fltflt%tEtc
16 IOVki
fflt
44.22ftt2009 A%10.74t7t Eft

169

67382

5350430

22749

271954

1177095 54391

1170

267532

21009

1429654

30273

18353

6367

30014

300830

349606 1000624

950736 739950

133491 52547
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170

17 EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of basic earnings per
share is based on the profit attributable

to owners of the parent of RMB4958 million 2009 RMB169 million and the

weighted average number of shares of 11149426000 2009 6436828000

in issue
during

the
year

ended 31 December 2010

17 flfl

wJ7fl2T ii fJ4
WMAWf4h49.58t%ic flt
1.69tEftitJflV1fl
11 149426000 fll 6436828000

Cost

At January 2009

Other additions

At 31 December 2009

At January2010

Arising fromladditions through the

acquisition of Shanghai Airlines

Note 44

Other additions

Disposal

At31 December2010

Accumulated amortisation

At January 2009

Charge for the year

At 31 December 2009

At
January 2010

Arising
from additions through the

acquisition of Shanghai Airlines

Note 44

Charge for the year

Disposal

At 31 December 2010

Net book amount

At 31 December 2009

At31 December2010

Wt

kMf5/ifl
pjjp44

MnWfl-FnfrI E-j--

tA_tn

fig ffp44

Mn_flnEf E-f--

AflJLt_H1-

18 MHfl

Computer

software Total

The Company has no potentially dilutive option or other instruments relating to

the ordinary shares

18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

Note

ffEfa

RMBOOO

Group

Sponsorship

fee Note

FIVItb

RMBOOO

tff
RMBOOO RMBOOO

320000 119297 439297

14570 14570

320000 133867 453867

320000 133867 453867

11269695

.-

320000

61782

22403

641

11331477

22403

320641

11269695 217411 11487106

217257

82194

57189

27605

274446

109799

299451

299451

84794

84794

384245

384245

20549

320000

40379

29132

575

40379

49681

320575

153730 153730

20549 49073 69622

11269695 63681 11333376
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18 INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued 18 WU
Company

Cost

At January2009

Other additions

At31 December2009

At January2010

Arising from the acquisition of

Shanghai Airlines Note 44

Other additions

Disposal

At 31 December 2010

Accumulated amortisation

As January 2009

Charge for the year

At 31 December 2009

At January2010

Charge for the
year

Disposal

At31 December2010

Net book amount

At 31 December 2009

At31 December2010

hA fltc .-hH
fihfl ThH

Ri44

Mnflnf1 El--

nfl

hAflJvm_

MnWflnJl E-f--

finhAfltH

117783 437783

11461 11461

Notes

The balance as at 31 December2010 represents the goodwill adsing
from rhe

acquisition of
Shanghai

ANuses The
goodwill

Ia attributable ro strengthening the

competitiveness of the Groups airlines operation business attaining synergy through

integration of the resources and providing the evolution of Shanghai international

air
transportation centre For the

purpose
of impairment assessment the goodwill is

allocated to the airline operation business the pdncipal cash-generating unil rD
that the Group operates and benefits from the acquisition

The recoverable amount of the CO/f is pdndpaily reflected by the Companys fair

value which can be determined by reference to the observable quoted market pdces

of the Companys shares less the costs of disposal no impairment for the goodwill is

requfred based on the marker prices of the Companys shares as at the balance sheet

date

Sponsorship fees

In March 2006 the Company entered into sponsorship agreement the

Sponsorship Agreement with the Bureau of 2010 Expo Shanghai the

Bureau which designated the Group as the exclusive airline passenger carrier

in the IRC to sponsor the 2010 Shanghai Expo The Company wN be entitled to

number of nghts including but not limited to the use of the Expo logo
in the Groups

products priority to purchase advertising space at the Expo site etc In return the

Company is required to pay total sponsorship fee of RMB32O million lIMB /60

miion of which would be paid in cash by instalments the
remaining

RMB /60 miion

would be settled by value in kind services VIK in the form of goods or services

to support the 20/0 Shanghai Expo Accordingly an intangible asset has been

recognised
and amortised on straight-line

basis over the period from the effective

date of the Sponsorship Agreement to 13March20 tO

PS B1 Hfl

$Rflillt Nfl

SlAfiitft Sflflfiit QAfifl

WB1iR

PSflit_.N i7PSfl
Ntna07ffBh4lflt
fl-v flflhlfl PSfl

WnIaPSilfiflsM
pefflthAflAh1ilninznsyig

JtftJAi2lffycNJfl
A1fl

t.6ttiPSftfiltiSilS MrTilhrAflt.6

jLfPSfvffLWflflilhIN
flit

fikSM.- flThI7-1- HPSPSibX
flkflIHM

171

Goodwill Sponsorship Computer

Note fee Note software Total

PWa pg1b fi4
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

320000

320000 129244 449244

320000 129244 449244

11269695

320000

31851

11269695

31851

320000

11269695 161095 11430790

217257

82194

55947

26856

273204

109050

299451 82803 382254

299451

20549

320000

82803

24688

382254

45237

320000

107491 107491

20549 46441 66990

11269695 53604 11323299
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19 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 19 tjj

172

Group

Aircraft engines and

flight equipment

Other

Held under property

finance plant and Construction

Owned leases

tq
Buildings equipment

fin
in

prngress
Total

nfl nn tt

RMBOOO RMHOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBCOO RMBOOO

AZ Afl AN AflfT A1 A1
41272431 35022691 3644946 4440886 766753 85147707

6046426 1419992 879230 628902 177843 9152393

Cost

AttJawary2OlO

Additions through the acquisition 1kMhftdt

of Shanghai Airlines Note 44 44
Reclassification to owned assets opon

eopirieg of the tinance leases 153M

Transfers from construction in progress EJIf$hA

Transfers from adoanced
paymeets 1AN$A

on acquisition of aircraft Note2l flfi21

Other additions

Transfer to non-correot assets held

for sale Note 42 Ffi42

Other disposals

At31 December 2010

1419873 1419873

364245 104610 468855

2663603 745740 3409343

5601047 1250639 13340 374853 587918 7827797

1221197 1221197

f756657f 290617 20298 293125 1360697

Accumulated
depreciation

At
Janoary 2010

Additions throogh the acqeisition

of Shanghai Airlines Note 44

Reclassification to owned assets upon

eopiring of the finance leases

Charge for the
year

Traosfer to non-correot assets held

for sale Note 42

Other disposals

At31 December2010

Impairment

At
Janoary

2010

At3t December2010

Net hook amount

At3f December 2010

At tanoary 2010

55025526 36728572 4881463 5256126 1063659 102955346

15860596 7510903 963531 2891053 27226083

670166 6076 151205 827447

687908 687908

3693411 2323302 163448 496809 6676970

570854 570854

756657 290617 7682 189681 1244637

by

kMfPttbt

Pfl44

tIflTf0At4

flT42

bhNH-L1 -----H

fin

t_ ct

19584570 8855680 1125373 3349386 32915009

721101 473393 550 23020 1218064

721101 473393 550 23020 1218064

34719855 27399499 3756090 1906190 1040639 68822273

24690734 27038395 2681415 1549283 743733 56703560
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19 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

Aircraft engines
and

flight equipment

19 flLfltI

Group

fl

Held under

finance

Other

property

plant and Cnnutruction

Owned leases Buildings equipment in progress Total

Cost

At Janoary
2009 fitWtttt

Reclassification to owned assets
upon

eupiring
of the finance leases

Sales and finance lease back

Transfers from constrectinu in
progress tEfthIfRhA

Transfers frnm adoanced payments on

acquisition of aircraft Note 21 I$2l

Other additions

Other disposals

At31 December 2009

Accumulated depreciation t1JIt

At tanoary 20g9 t_tt
Reclassification to owned assets upnn

eupiring of the finance leases I3
Sales and finance lease hack thfiil

Charge
for the

year

Other disposals

At 31 December 2009

Impairment

Reoersal
upon dispnual

At31 December 2009

Net book amount

At31 December 2009

At January 20DB

3441D274 35g9gg7y 3512521 43gg7g4

1437513 1437513

fl9R42R1 59g253 1394fi2R

161761

173

D6fl1th i4
RMBOOO RMSOOO RMBOOO RMBCOO RMROOO RMBOOO

Afr AflfY Afl AflTiC Afi0 AM
573463 7R7R6022

13tg57 23704

19649 270497

f254R1 244109

34R2B54

4616562 44tR61

6g0491 477RRO

fihtt-- W-i-0 41272431 35022691

34R2R54

355051 S710R20

1437961

3644946 4440ttb 766753 R5147701

145R34tt 6526300 R60415 2677564 24647697

726R27 726t27

114R93R t14t93t

23R315R 21R9310 109R2 3R501D 5067350

f6R3R69 477RRO 6756 111521 1340026

fit 0ftLE 15660596 7510903

At January 2009

Charge for the year

Sales and finance lease back

tlnuth

nflIry

963531 2R91053 272260R3

966191 473393 13094 550 6624 1459R52

16396 16396

245090 245090

13094 13094

kty-f-H 721101 473393

flt_fttLflH 24690734 2703R395 26R1415 15492R3

550 23020 t21R064

tRR6D665 29999277 2639012 1712690

743733 56703560

566R39 5267R473
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For the year ended 31 December2010 _W SiLt

19 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued 19 flL4ffiOI

Company

7L

Total

.ot

RMBOOO

Aircraft engines and

fflght equipment

Held under

finance

Owned leases

RMBOCO RMBOOO

AfJ Aflf

Other

property

plant and Construction

in progressBuildings equipment

RMBOCO RMBOUCAT AflfZ

ffI
RMBOOO

Cost

Atliaooory2tlt hh
Reclassification to owned assets

upon

expiring of the finance leases

Transfers from constrnctixn in
progress ii4ifflA

Transfers from advanced
payments on

acquisition of aircraft Note 21 Mi2l
Other additions

Transfer tenon-current assets held

for sale Note 42 1111 t42

Invest to snbsidiaries as capital bfT
centdbutixn

Transfer to subsidiary

34191578 31111745 2054303 3024929 629324 71011879

1419873 1419873

356001 8958 364959

1989079 745740 2734819

6764083 1219814 121904 475392 558716 9139909

1221197 1221197

8B751t 134639 1022150

864592f 864592

530237 280686 9560 148856 969339Other disposals

At31 December2010

Accumulated depreciation

Ati
Janoary

2010

Reclassification to owned assets
upon

eapiring of the finance leases

Charge for the
pear

Other additions

Transfer to non-current assets held

for sale Note 42

Invest to subsidiaries as capitol

cxntribotion

Transfer to snbsidiarp

Other disposals

At31 Oncemher2oto

Impairment

At tanourp 2010

At31 December 20t0

Net hook amount

At31 December 2010

At
tanuarp

2010

41725668 30512148 2522648 3225784 823081 78809329

12369045 6701200 595334 2197814 21863393

687908 687908

2787223 1934251 70837 330735 5123046

681907 681907

570854 570854

263160 10610 273770

71484 71484

530237 280686 4769 104678 920370

ftW tJ1

b---t nH

dlhftbt

flui42

15161832 7595373 661402 2413261 25831868

721101

721101 473393 5200 1199694

473393 5200 1199694

25842735 22443382 1861246 812523 817881 51777767

21101432 23937152 1458969 827115 624124 47948792
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19 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

Cost

At January 2009

Reclassification to owned assets spon

enpiring
of the finance leases

Sales and finance lease back frp40fi

Transfers from constrsGion in
progress tfffIfthMA

Transfers from adnanced payments on 0fRfrfthifl4A

acquisition of aircraft Note 21 i21
Other additions

Other disposals

tfugmM MO
$UlfMAt

At3t December2009

fl8fn

frVt--r

Aircraft engines and

flight eqaipment

fi0 hWkæfM

19 fl1fl
Company

RMBOOO

39568 178938

f419
112060

3024929

As at 31 December 2070 certain aircraft and buildings owned by the Group and

the Company with an aggregate net book amount of approximately RM820800

mNion and 8MB 74846 million respectieely 2G0 approximately 8MB 13678 million

and 8MB 1273 million respectively were pledged as collateral under reGain loan

arrangements Note 32

-I- S.4cfli
4c2 flMfl208.00fNc
iMAfln4e.461tsc fl kfl
136.781thc3TAfl1 r2.73ryrily-f3oNp

8fflmflAyA9flui

32

175

Total

frl

RMBCOO

Afr

Other

Held nnder property

finance
plant

and Construction

Owned leases Bsildings equipment in
progress

ft fflWfl 1t

RO4BOOO RM8OOO RMBOUO

AMfr Afyr AMfr

ff-fthIf

RtilBOOO

28791576 31723324 1956545 2935783 415202 65822430

1149574

fl984281

2940679

3958228

f664198

63083 22268

1149574

590253

425822

477880

85361

At31 Oecember 2009 fi EH

1394028

2940679

4901839

1259041

71011878

299483

629324

Accumulated depreciation

At
tanaary

2009

Reclassification to owned assets
upon

eopiring
of the finance lenses

Sales and finance lease back

Charge for the
year

Other disposals

At 31 December 2009

Impairment

All January 2009

Sales and finance lease back

34191578 31111745 2054303

11505397 5808513 535299 2015597 19864806

S5982S 5S982S

1148938 1148938

2110337 1930392 60570 276172 4377471

657576 477880 535 93955 1229946

45JLt .11

12369045 6701200 595334 2197814 21863393

966191 473393 5200 1444784

245090 245090

Net book amount

At31 December2009

All January 2009

Notes

721101 473393 S200 1199694

21101432 23937152 1458969 82711S 624124 41948792

16319988 25441418 1421246 920186 410002 44512840
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20 LEASE PREPAYMENTS

Group

20 14tIIWM

Company

2010 2009

nwfl flftt nwfl

Cost

At January

Additions through the acquisition

of Shanghai Airlines Note 44

At 31 December

Accumulated amortisation

At
January

Charge for the year

At31 December

Net book amount

At31 December

tAI

M44

Lease prepayments represent unamortised prepayments for land use rights

The Groups land use rights are located in the PRC and the majority of these land

use rights have terms of 50
years

from the date of grant As at 31 December

2010 the majority of these land use rights had remaining terms ranging from 36

to 51
years 2009 from 37 to 52 years

21 ADVANCED PAYMENTS ON ACQUISITION OF AIRCRAFT

Group

fISt

9856 58
tt_9898221

21 W1flX

Company

At January

Additions through the acquisition

of
Shanghai

Airlines Note 44

Dther additions

Interest capitalised Note 13

Transfers to property plant and

equipment Note 19

Transfers to subsidiaries

At 31 December

kMflIht
flui44

ffit.19

RMBOOO

56

RMBOOO RMBOOO

A56J56 Af56
RMBOOO

Included in the Groups and the Companys balance as at 31 December

2010 the amounts of accumulated interest capitalised are RM8548 million

2009 RM8517 million and RMBS3D million 2009 RMB517 million

respectively

P4cflMt
A988SS.4898cflftt A9885.17f

7cA5.30W.iL
5.17

2010 2009

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

A56 A565-fyt Af56 A56F5E

1230068

466507

1230068 551.785 551185

1696575 1230068 551785 551785

259233 233547 142154 131513

31186 25686 10771 10641

290419 259233 152925 142154

1406156 970835 398860 409631

2010 2009 2010 2009

nw-fl fltt nwfl

5081174 6413554 5081174 6413554

1072366

3461737

150668

1927252

223222

3745877

139038

1927252

223222

3409343 3482854 2734819 2940679

5421 75

6356602 5081174 6231270 5081174
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2010

RMBOOO

4083117

2009

RMBOOO

2523715

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries majority of which are limited liability

companies established and operating in the PRC are as follows

EWJt

China Cargs Airliees Co Ltd

China Cargo

tMi

PRC

22 July 1998

-A-hM -I-

950000 950000 70% 70% Provision of
cargo carriage

services

Shanghai Airlines Cargo

International Co Ltd

Shanghai Airlines CargojEMt
1fli

PRC

April 2006

664050 664050 55% Provision of international

cargo carriage services

Shanghai Eastere Flight Training

Co Ltd Flight Training

fltJ

PRC

18 December 1995

Mctm1-AH

608443 473000 95% 95% Provision of flight training

services

China Eastern Airlines Wehao Co

Ltd CPA Wuhan

EKIflUJ

PRC

16 Aogost 2002

_SA

600000 600000 96% 96% Provision of airtse services

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 _-1-..M SiL

22 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

77

22 MftJ

Investment at cost

Company

Company

Place and date

of establishment Registered capital

Attributable

equity interest Principal activities

2fflH WW 1flQ fl
2010 2009 2010

a-n sv a-n
RMBOCO RMBOOO

AfJT AZYE

2009

China Eastere Airliees Jiangso Co PRC 2000000 880000 63% 63% Provisios of airline services

Ltd CEA Jiangsu Map 1993 fNMfflI

tIl%23
tit ThL0

Note

Shanghai Airlines Co Ltd PRC 500000 100% Provision of airline services

New Shanghai Airlines 16 March 2010 f%fifflf
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178

22 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES continued 22 fitWUI

Shanghai Eastern Airlines Logistics

Co Ltd Eastern Logistics

1fli

2009

Eastern Airlines Hotel Co Ltd PRC

t8 March 1998

70000 70000 86% Provision of hotel services

primarily to crew

members

ttAt

Eastern Boniness Airlines Service PRC

Co Ltd 27 September 2008

50000 50000 100% 100% Provision of airlines

consultation services

Atc.M

Note

on 28 January 20 tO the Company issued its Shares to the shareholders of Shanghai

Airlines in exchange for all issued shares of Shanghai Aidines Note 44 After the acquisition

Shanghai Airlines became wholly owned subsidiary of the Company On 26 March 20 tO

Shanghai Airlines established wholly owned subsidiary New Shanghai Airlines by

injecting certain assets and habillties in relation to the core business of Shanghai Airllnes

On 76 Oecember 20 tO as approved by the Shanghai Municipal Industry and Commerce

Administration ShanghaiAirllnes was llquidated and all of its assets and llabillties including

its equity interests in New Shanghai Airlines were assumed by the Company and New

ShanghaiAirllnes became wholly owned subsithary of the Company the reaftec

flB JlS ri4c2J7
Allnftfgmflfngllrifl2ffHi

44

flB -l-cHflf52fl fi
EBflA TMIntt n_qts

AftIrSflflfl flfJ2fll
ftJlllftfl

ch4c2fl tfM427flIYt
ànj

Place and date Attributable

Company of establishment
Registered capital equity

interest
Principal

activities

2010 2009 2010

a-fl -vL Lw-fl
RMBOOO RMBOOO

AfB JtiC

China United Airlines Co Ltd

United Airlines

1tMi

PRC 200000 200000

23 August 2004

PRC 100000 100000

21 September 1984

-I-

70% 70% Provisios of
catgo logistics

services

80% Provision of airline services

Shanghai Airlines Toors PRC 50090 50090 100% Tour operations travel and

International Groop Co Ltd 29 Angost 1992 air ticketing agency and

Shanghai Airlines Touts transportation

kkhhfl -JLJL.SA H-JtH M%T
WeG11fli i0P

174 China Eantern Airlinmn Corporation Limited Annual Ropon 2010



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010

179

23 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Group

23 4fl2
Company

807669 723022 578836 522058

The movement on investments in associates is as follows

Transfer to available for sale financial

assets upon disposal
of shares

Other disposals

Share of results of associates li5f1

Share of revaluation on available for-

sale assets held by associates

Share of other equity movement of

an associate

Dividend received during the
year 5lIftllQ

At31 December

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

nwfl nflMfl W-fl JL5
RMBOOO R1148OOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AfE AflT At AFic
Unlisted investments at cost mWhfs4I 622768 568417

Share of resultslreserves 184901 1S460S

578836 522058

At January

Additions through the acquisition

of Shanghai Airlines Note 44

Disposal
of shares in an associate

Note

2010 2009 2010 2009

nwfl flYLt nwfl flitS

RMBOOO RAIBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

ISZ A5S Aaft kPcfff70

sfgflQ5tfl

gtipt44

723022 980319 522058 762058

59714 56778

210000 210000

30000 30000

7203

39228 46602

1543 585

49692

8635 19802

807669 723022 578836 522058

Note

On 13Apr11 2009 the Company entered into an agreement with China Aviation Industry

Corporation to depose its 35% interests in Joy Air Co Ltd Joy Air tor consideration

which requested the book value of of RMB2 10 million After completion of the disposal

the Company holds 5% interests in Joy Afr and accordingly classifies the investment as

available-for-sale financial assets

flJcPYES n7-AflI1

e12 Tflh3s%Ah1fltiA
Sf2 totS MtIflIJ2
ilk 2iV225lflM5%fl-
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23 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES continued 23

Particulars of the principal associates which are limited liability companies

established and operating in the PRC are as follows

Place and date Attributable

Company of establishment Registered capital equity interest Principal activities

flfl
2010 2009 2010 2009

zfl flM fl flft%
RMBCCO RMBOUOAB AMfc

Eastere Air Group Finance Ce PRC 400000 400000 25% 25% Provision of financial

Ltd Eastern Finance December 1995 services to groop

MflPtfl1
companies

of CEA

Holding

China Eastern Air Catering PRC 350000 350000 45% 4S% Provision of air catering

Investment Co Ltd 17 November 2003 services

Shanghai Pratt Whiteey PRC USD39500 USD39500 51% 51% Provision of maintenance of

Aircraft Eagine Maintenance 28 March 2008 aircraft engine and other

Company Limired related components

Shanghai PW A%n.ft maintenance services

Notea BA0
ThtThil

New Shanghai International PRC 166575 166575 20% 20% Provision of Property

Tower Co Ltd 17 November 1992 development and

management

-JcJtS H-hH

Eastern Aviation Import PRC 80000 80000 45% 45% Prnvision of aviation

Enport Co Ltd Eastern Jane 1993 equipment spare parts

Import Export parchace

%JftitH

Shanghai Doegmei Aviation ftC 51369 1369 27Io 27% Provision of traveling and

Travel Co Ltd 17 October 2004 accommodation
agency

Dongmei Travel services

%%ftWbthfl -fltttH-frH

Eastern Aviation Advertising PRC 50000 50000 45% 45% Provision of aviation

Service Co Ltd Eastern March 1986
advertising agency

Advertising services

%flM%% JtiVc%- 290

i1Wfli

Shanghai Hongpa Civil Airport PRC 25000 25000 30% 30% Provision of cable and

Commanication Co Ltd 18 October 2002 wireless commanication

services

29%

Collins Aviation Maintenance PRC USD7000 USD7000 35% 35% Provision of airline electronic

Service Shanghai Ltd 27 September 2002 product waintenance

services

_fl%tH_-LH
fy29
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23 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES continued 23

Note

In 2008 the Cempany entered into an agreement with United Technologies

International Corporation Technologies International to establish Shanghai

Pratt WhitneyAircraft Engine Maintenance Company Limited Shanghai PW
Shanghai PW has registered capital of USD40 million in which the Company

holds 57% interests According to the shareholders agreement Technologies

International has the power to govern the finandal and operating policies as ssch the

Company accounts for Shanghai PWas an associate

The Grosps aggregated share of the revenses results assets and liabilities of its

associates ace as follows

2010

200g

Assets

km
RMROOO

TiE

39228

46602

24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Group

24 tQWMflJ

Company

2010 2009 2010

nw-fl WJc nWfl
RMBOOO RMBOOO

Aflt AflfiE A.Tc
323238 301802

406170 372793 323238 301802

The movement on investments in jointly conttolled entities is as follows

-DfMt

m44

.1.81

PS_flJ1 i-7ntkkmllflfliff

KftflflJflfl7iEIkmFlU FMI8T

itt.z2il1Mfl

fbI 2SlllfVLtk

.sP0T

Liabilities Revenues Profit/Ioss

km illiA kmZfl
RMBOOO RM8OOO RMBOOO

AtTJr AkmT3E AkmTiE

3443043 2635374 1638597

3076847 235387g gjjg

RMBOOO

Unlisted investments at cost Et11W6IIkf 290050 270866

Shate of tesultslceserves Wf/4 116120 101921

2009

RMBOOO

Group

fl
Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

nw-fl .flltt nwfl nfljr
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

756 Aitfc AR-f56 AflIit

At January

Additions thtough the acquisition

of Shanghai Aitlines Note 44

Dividends teceived doting the yeat

Shate of tesults

Amortisation of untecognised gain

At 31 Decembet

372793 362332 301802

19184 21436

13961 14000

28154 23803

301802

658

406170 372793 323238 301802
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24 INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED ENTITIES continued

Particulars of the principal jointly controlled entities all of which are limited

liability companies established and
operating

in the PRC are as follows

24 flMtflWit

Company

Shanghai Technologies

Aerospace Cn Ltd

jTechnologies

Aerospacej Note

EIL1%itillHti

Place and date

of establishment

PRC

September 2004

_flPmtcL..H-AH

Registered capital Principal activities

fl

Shanghai Eastero Union

Aviation Wheels Brakes

Maintenance Semicns

Overhaul Eogineering

Co Ltd jWheels

Brakesj

rfl$i

PBC

28 Oncember gg
USD2100 USO2100 40% 40% Provision of spare parts

repair and maintenance

semices

Eastern China Kaiya System

Integration Co Ltd

Nores

PRC

21 May 1999

JLcL

RMB1O000 RMB1O000 41% 41% Pmvisioo of computer

systems development

Under Joint Venture Agreemenr with the
joint venture partner ot Technologies

Aerospace
dated 10 March 2003 the Company has

agreed to share control over the

economic activities of
Technologies Aerospace Any strategic

tinancial and operating

decisions relating to the activities of
Technologies Aerospace require the unanimous

consent ot the Company and rho
joinr venture partner

The Groups aggregared share of the revenues results assets and liabilities of its

jointly
controlled entities is as follows

20UtE RiflkflEC_

It
iT

It Wilil II MI
INMItIttiT JI4It

ItM Wffl.tfl ItfthWW

fb It $WiTn7ilil5RA fl
II POT

Attributable

equity
interest

2010 2009 2010 2009fl flM fl VL
RMBOCO RMBOOO

Afyc kgcfyc

USD73000 USO3000 51% 51% Provision of
repair and

maintenance services

Assets Liabilities Revenues Pro fitlloss

MI MI iltA .TJW

RM8OOO RMBOOO RM8OOO RM8OOO

AMIT5L AMIIt AM50 AMI3
2010 473861 67691 258665 28154

200g IticIt 431326 58533 205244 23803
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25 OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS

Group

25 fl1thflW

Company

Notes

1752115 926312 914799 784490

The fair values of deposits relating to aircraft held under operating leases of the

Group and the Company are approximately RMBSS4 million and RM8222 million

2009 RMBvnS million and RM8249 million recpectively which ace determined using

the expected future refunds discounted at market interest rates prevailing at the
year

end of 0.75% to 2.01% per annum 200g 0.76% to 211%

Prepaid flight training expenses
rover the Groups pilot undergraduates and pilots

in service and are amortised on straight-line basis over the benefidal pedods for

whkh the
prepayments

cover

26 TRADE RECEIVABLES

The ctedit tetms given to ttade customers ate determined on an individual basis

with the credit periods generally ranging from half month to two months

The aging analysis of trade receivables is as follows

Group

R1N6VAhW
fl2A SAFs.a4f4ycMA
22245i- fl9c AN 35 14 irk

A2.491c ftkflW40t
1flkilrkJ0.75%k2 01%fl/ 0.76%.N2.tt%Kskil

fb WW4imMflKV4
cmam Mllaaahrn2if
A47A4

26

Company

Within 90 days

91 to 180 days

181 to 365
days

Over 365 days

ft

fl

183

2010 2009 2010 2009

nWWTh flit SWf flttt

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AfE ATc AI-IE Afltt

Deposits relating to aircraft under

operating leases Note btJ1ta 610866 374233 233703 278623

Prepaid flight training fees Note

Other long term assets

Ib 838395

302854

481603

70476

577780

103316

446108

59759

i-LI-

hi-

2010 2009 2010 2009

ntfl -fttt nw-f flit
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Afi Af7c A0 Aflfic

2058666

27094

39882

233202

1299761

37427

9297

246202

2439624 1504084

11397 33353

Less provision for impairment
of

receivables

Trade receivables

17377

196788

5016

190450

2358844 1592687 2665186 1732903

231398 221816 119286 115243

2127446 1370871 2545900 1617660

Balances with related companies included in trade receivables are summarised in

Nnte 46ri

flflt Hli8 mu fn jsfi

1i11h46ci
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26 TRADE RECEIVABLES continued

The carrying amounts of the trade receivables approximate their fair values

Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to large

number of independent sales agents for whom there is no recent history
of

default

184

As at 31 December 2010 trade receivables of RMB91 million

2DD9 RM8104 million were past
due but not impaired These relate to

number of independent sales agents for whom there is no recent history
of

default The Group holds cash deposits of RM8SOD million 2009 8M8281

million from these agents The
ageing analysis

of these trade receivables is as

follows

fltA
Who.g1V.zcnflJu Ah1.o4tit

yafl7f

Ah2.87Wjcfl

Group Company

Amfi ARif7c

As at 31 December 2010 trade receivables of RMB2 13 million

2009 RM887 million were impaired and fully provided for The remaining

impaired trade receivables relate to customers that were in fmnandal difficulties

and
only portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered The factors

considered by management in determining the impairment are described in Note

2r

The ageing of impaired receivables is as follows

Group

LWt IIT ffflflA
h2.13tc YL Ah0.87ftc

BnnhnT
Company

26 %kI

2010 2009 2010 2009

nwfl nw-fl nytqc

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Up to months 7cf.ff tkffi 50799 94840 12.810 15656

6to 12 months -.fltff 39882 9260 17377 5122

90681 104100 30187 20718

2010 2009 2010 2009

nWfl fltg nw-fl
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

ATyff AfFiE

12 to 24 months overdue fff1224f.ff 13689 32700 13623 31338

Over 24 months overdue 3ti24.fl t1J 219513 213502 183165 159112

233202 246202 196788 190450
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At January

Additions through the ecquisition

of Shenghei Airlines Note 44

Receivebles written off during

the yeer as uncollectible

Provision for impairment of

m/44

flfltfIM

2010

RMBOOO

The net impact of creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have

been included in Provision for impairment of trade and other receivables in the

income statement Note 11 Amounts charged to the allowance account are

generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash

The
carrying amounts of the Groups trade receivables are denominated in the

following currencies

Group

iait1flflflflM
1MiriPfftii

Company

2127446 1370871 2545900 1617660

The maximum
exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount

of receivable shown above

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 tEI ThNH

26 TRADE RECEIVABLES Continued

Movements on the Groups provision for impairment of trade receivables are as

follows

Group

26 flflJtl

Company

2009 2010 2009

fltt Wfl WJtt
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Afl Afit AFit

receivables

221816 217191 115243 110849

9687

2985

2.880 4625 4043 4394

At31 December 231398 221816 119286 115243

Currency

2010 2009 2010

ww .itWJL nWfl
RMBOOO RMSOOO RMBOOO

A-7it As-fit Af5t

2009

_flut
RMBOOO

AflTt

Renminbi 1655344 1019919 2187115 1314257

Japanese Yen 123956 93778 121715 93778

US Dollars 91903 79732 16344 45106

Euro 83081 56663 50461 43740

HK Dollars 73621 44332 70724 44332

Korea Won 47563 26174 47563 26174

Other currencies 51978 50273 51978 50273
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27 PREPAYMENTS DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 27

Group Company

fl

nt-fl _flt

Restricted bank deposits Note

Rebate receivables on aircraft

acquisitions

Receivables from aircraft

manufacturer for cancelled order

Deposits with banks with original

maturity over three months

but less than
year Note

Ground service fees receivables

Prepaid aircraft operating

lease rentals

Rental deposits

Amounts due from related

companies Note 46c 17

Others

Subtotal

Less bad debt provision

ia

ytn

Wb
tth5fl

IIWfl

UItII1 illfl

J3uiat46c17

The restricted bank deposits primarily represent security deposit of US dollar 18

million 8MB 121 million
equivalent

for crude oil option contracts 2009 US doilar

62 million or RMB42 million
equivalent beadng interest rate of

approximately 1.76%

per annum with final matudties through to 2011 ii bank deposits of 8MB 1345

million 2009 Nil for secured borrowings beadng interest rate of
approximately

from

2.02% to 3.37%
per annum with final matudties through to 2011 Note 32

As at 31 December 2010 the
deposits are denominated in 8MB and bear effective

interest rate of approximately 0.36% per annum 2009 0.36% per annum

fa fltSirfltflPS fi MIJmn
Nflfla t8fffct7 -A Wff 21

062 IB.sc akAfl
42tIffyc AJM1.76J

ttflil4fr Ui BflRfltilbilRriifltA

13.45Iffyc2009

202WAs3.37J ilfltAs -r4
3faSff5f7t32

fb fl B--I- S7fi8ffltM

Jt 0.36%

2010 2009 2010 2009

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMSOOO

Atf AfJ AsMfyc

1486362 427996 1466463 421216

796737 783864 753741 771255

686966

462768 28454 89601 21654

324654 332446 279134 251263

306293 234385 179070 196003

260650 117472 220555 97470

152731 61397 2386120 1380079

863838 549820 289358 291240

Notes

5340999 2535834 5664042 3430180

183995 165339 110676 116179

5157004 2370495 5553366 3314001
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28 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The carrying amounts of the Groups and Companys cash and cash equivalents

are denominated in the following currencies

Group

28 flfllflll

Company

29 TRADE PAYABLES AND NOTES PAYABLE

The
aging analysis

of trade
payables

and notes payable
is as follows

Group

29 ffIIF1c1L

4fl534Jjf
Company

4275443 6480459 4701951 6293548

As at 31 December 2010 the trade payables and notes payable balances

of the Group and the Company included amounts due to related companies

of RM8478 million 2009 RM81013 million and RMB2441 million

2009 RMB1091 million respectively Note 46cOi

As at 31 December 2010 notes payable amounted to RMB1425 million

2009 RMB4936 million which were unsecured bore effective interest rates

ranging from 3.48% to 4.5%
per

annum 2009 1.6% to 5.9% and were

repayable within six months

t/ W-h-O7jcflt4c

10.1 3f%7c tA24.41 W5tnW
A10.911%5Cl1fft46clii

A14.25tLt
4g.361%5t it3.48%4.5%

-fli1.6%5.9% W\tff
t1J

2010 2009 2010 2009

nw-fl -njig w-ww ._fljtt

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO-7 Aflfin Af.c
Renminbi 2642109 816538 511808 264732

US Dollars ic 263051 253776 181499 224095

Euro trc 30592 43519 22888 28588

Japanese Yen ffc 12705 30889 7445 11006

Hong Kong Dollars 11430 470234 10362 469465

Others 1IbW 118341 120292 117281 120344

3078228 1735248 851283 1118230

2010 2009 2010 2009

nw-fl Jc nwfl flJt
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

ATx Aflfit AfJ kific

Within 90 days JLH tA 2477327 5161027 3522807 5100826

91 to 180 days it- j-- 1190393 772255 868816 764457

181 to36sdays

Over365days

itH
8icEO

290991

316732

157856

389321

69583

240745

114581

313684

2010 183
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30 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED EXPENSES 30 1thflfl

14536168 11517204 10442380 9875704

31 OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

As at 31 December 2010 the Group and the Company had 71 and 58 aircraft

2009 65 and 59 aircraft respectively under finance leases Under the terms of

the leases the Group and the Company have options to purchase at or near the

end of the lease terms certain aircraft at either fair market value or percentage

of the
respective lessors defined cost of the aircraft The obligations under

finance leases are principally denominated in US Dollars

31 MMIIWtM

itg--_ft H$fl
M5UTh71ftQS8
flA 6SuS9

Group Company

fl

2010 2009 2010 2009

nw-fl nefl -Ttct
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

A5E AJWic Af56 A56fr
Accrued salaries wages and benefits 2857725 1481264 2435460 1262017

Accrued take off and landing charges 2016546 2331711 851991 1791485

Accrued expenses related to aircraft

overhaul conducted 1759898 1389906 939135 1099760

Accrued fuel cost 1550561 2196652 959558 2043083

Duties and levies payable jfy42Jf 1375205 759446 818774 602275

Dther accrued operating expenses 1650795 1181390 1390504 988611

Deposits received from ticket sales

agents 500139 286780 350596 204731

Staff
housing allowance Note 37b fIB

/W37b 348232 401322 265084 331563

Current portion of long-term duties

and levies
payable Note 34

fj34 76390 76577 61999 69255

Current portion of post-retirement fllSMbiith
benefitobligationsNote36b fiff5Xffyt36b 61279 51226 54523 48193

Amounts due to related companies

Note 46c ii /Ifj46cii 83641 136259 757173 346733

Other
payables 2255757 1224671 1557583 1087998
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31 OBliGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES continued

The future minimum lease payments including interest and the
present

value of

the minimum lease payments under finance leases are as follows

2010

31 IIflMUI

fltli lthflflhfl5W1

Group

2009

thft

Total ft
Less amount mpuyabln within one year

Long-term portion

Present Present

value of value of

minimum Minimum

payments Interest payments payments Intemst payments

ft ft
ftffl t- flM
RMBOOC RMBOOO RMHOOC RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Afy Afy Ayt Afl5 Af50 Ai

20874669 1666336 19208333 21012512 1642277 19370235

2476451 338620 2137831 2466415 34t985 2125430

18398218 1327716 17070502 1854609 l3t1292 17244605

Company

Present Present

value of value nf

ftthWWl

Total ft
Less amnunt repayatlo within one year

Long-term pnrtinn

minimum Minimum

lease louse

payments Interest payments payments Interest payments

ft ft
ftft II ftM ftM ffP Mfl
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOUO RIABOOO RMBOOU RMBOOO

Aflfif Afl Ayc Aflfc AflfiT AfiT

17327534 1449662 15877872 18746716 1443492 13t3224

2084165 287426 1796739 2213131 297316 1915015

15243369 1162236 14081133 16533585 1146176 t53874t9

The fair value of
obligations under finance leases of the Group and the Company

are RMB19529 million and RMB16228 million 2009 RMB19681 million and

RMB17704 million respectively
which are determined

using
the

expected
future

payments discounted at market interest rates prevailing at the
year

end

4fl iT thftiTj
AW6196.81WcAWJ41t77.04

Wit ttkftt

189

Minimum

lease lease louse

minimum

lease

Within nne year

In the second year

In the third to fifth year inclusive

After the tifth year

2476451 338620 2137831 2466415

2539816 296.589 2243227 2388362

7498600 609882 6888718 7405048

8359802 421245 7938557 8752687

340985 2125430

294733 2t93629

62tt47 6784901

386412 8366275

2010 2tt9

Minimum

lease

minimum

louse

Within one year

In the second
your

In the third to fifth

year
inclusive

After the fifth
year

2084165 287426 1796739 2213131

2137331 252061 1885270 2130374

6251938 521000 5730938 66tt565

6854100 389175 6464925 7802646

297316 1915815

256296 t874t78

538862 6t617t3

351018 7451628

2010 WOO 185



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards E1mM/fl/
For the year ended 31 December2010 ttfcWt -/-SiM

As at December 2010 the secured bank borrowings of the Group and the Company

were pledged by the related aircrafts and buildings with an aggregate
net book amount of

RMB2O800 million and RM8 14846 million respectively 200g RM8 13678 million and

8MB 11273 million Note 19

Certain unsecured bank borrowings of Ihe
Group

and the Company totaling
of RMB575

million and RMBB5 million respectively 2009 RM8447 million and nil were guaranteed by

rEA
Holding Note 46d

fl.19-

AM136.78fiEMABf1l2.73liEflP

fl4r2 ZflAf 5.75

fAa85ic_fl9s Afl4.47I8iItlW2Pa6d

32 BORROWINGS 32

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

nWt -Wfl
RMBOOO RI48OOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AfJ AM5 Af A9E

13107405 7566853 8983065 5695606

10247592 5438021 9258475 5206178

23354997 13004874 18241540 10901784

Non-current

Long term bank borrowings

secured

unsecured

Current

Long-term bank borrowings

secured

unsecured

Short-term bank borrowings

secured

unsecured

Total borrowings

The borrowings are repayable as

follows

Within one
year

In the second year

In the third to fifth
year

inclusive

After the fifth year

Total borrowings

Notes

si-slims neSs

flhfl
tM

nTn
flit

2011861

2005721

1221829

2701640

1274011

1830273

857512

2495811

1324540

9868538 8406606

1324540

7918751 6866606

15210660 12330075 12347575 10219929

38565657 25334949 30589115 21121713

15210660

8161606

12330075

2714006

12347575

6739334

10219929

2354008

8672434

6520957

6165512

4125356

6682965

4819241

5295118

3252658

38565657 25334949 30589115 21121713

186 China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited Annual Report 2010



NOTES TO THE FINANCIALrSTATEMENTS 191

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December 2010 SiLM

32 BORROWINGS continued

The terms of the long-term bank loans are summarised as follows

Interest rate and

to 6.70% per annum with final

Group

at iaA

Company

U.S dollar denominated

maturities through to 2018

itI13.5i 6.70J

12018JS

Interest rates ranging
from month

LIBOR 1% to month LIBOR

10550536 6535520 8897248 5057500

2.5% per annum with final

maturities
through to 2022

JftP1f8WUB0R ii%
6%LflLIBOR 2.5i%f

202flffli 16822043 10279569 12448576 9084353

EURO denominated

Note

The fair value of long term borrowings of the Group and the Company are

RM827 759 million and ltMfl2 768 million respectively 2009 lIMB t7O5 million

and lIMB t4332 million which are derermined using the expected future

payments discounted at pre calling market interest rates available to the Group

and the Company for fInancial instruments with substantially the same terms and

rharacteristics at the balance sheet date

Short-term borrowings of the Group and the Company are repayable within one year

As at 31 December 20 tO the interest rates relating to such borrowings including

both fixed rates and floating rates were ranged from 1.26% to 5.3 per annum

2009 0.33% to 7.47%
ptr annum During the

year
ended 31 December20 tO

the weighted average interest rate on short-term bank loans was 4.08% per annum

2009 14
per annum

flfrUfr

%277.59fMAi%M2t7.68ltcf2009

A%%t70.5tfAt4332flI
.s 4flflflflrffl
flflfiDfl256Jflffi

fllaEflnnM
flfi

fb Asmm-s4
flfflfrc fl-l-.nfl_-S

sjsl2BUMI
ftt.26%5.3I%JL 0.33%

M7.47%Pi fl r-i- rt

SnntAfiyflwFrJ4.0g%f-fl
S.t4%

Currency

RMB denominated

final maturities 2010 2009 2010 20094flf nWfl
RMBOOO

Af6
-flft

RMBDDD

Ajg
nWfl

RMBOOO

AffJt

-fl
RMBODD

Afli
Interest rates ranging from 3.51%

Total long term bank loans M1E
113254 113254

27372579 16928343 21345824 14255107
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32 BORROWINGS continued

Note continued

32 flUE

LI

The carrying amounts of the borrowings are denominated in the following currenneo

33 PROVISION FOR RETURN CONDITION CHECKS FOR AIRCRAFT

UNDER OPERATING LEASES

Group

LILIflh 7AdRflLIb

33 Wfl3RIIflfl

Company

Provision of operating lease aircraft return condition check
represents

the
present

value of estimated costs of major return check for aircraft and engines under

operating leases as the Group has obligation to fulfill certain return conditions

under relevant leases

_n
fithb3FfLI

jfflsl

Group

fl

kenminbi

US Dollars

Euro

Company

3261

2010

t-fl
RM8OoO

A613iE

2009

flIc
RM8OUO

Afl3nyc

2010

-fl
RMBOOO

Aib

2009

.flhc
RMBOOO

A61-Tyc

16493536

22072 121

12064354

13157341

173254

12927248

17.661.867

9046335

11962724

113254

2112171338565657 25334949 30589115

2010 2009 2010 2009

WW fliL WW tLt
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

A-E AJc A-ft Af5ft
At

January

Additions through the acquisition

of Shanghai Airlines Note 44

Additional provisions

litilisation

At 31 December

Less current portion

Long-term portion

PW44

tlsln61

1847755 1534018 1282402 1168690

685934

586364

305550

588745

275008

247424

12755

234529

120817

2814503 1847755 1517071 1282402

339091 609884 46695 183099

2475412 1237871 1470376 1099303
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34 OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES 34 flM

35 DEFERRED TAXATION

Deferred income tax essets and liabilities are offset when there is legally

enforceable right of offset and when the deferred income tases relate to the same

authority The following amounts determined after appropriate offsetting are

shown in the balance sheets

35 tW
iIfWfl ll%6l1

75188 83748

Deferred tax liabilities lfsfff
Deferred tax liability to be realised 2llAT

after 12 months

Net deferred tax assets

51814 51539

23374 322D9

Group Company

iJ

2010 2DD9 2010 2DD9

a-fl T7 -fl -J
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AflfB A7c Af6 AMfTit

Long-term duties and levies payable

Fair value of unredeemed points

awarded under the Groups

frequent flyer programs

Deferred gains on sale and

leaseback transactions of aircraft

Other long term payables

Less current portion Note 30

Long term portion

821950 737369 624836 652378

1254752 442623 1119159 442623

8138 8138

113120 9187D 91484 87524

2189822 28000D 1835.479 1190663

384960 76577 337224 69255

1804862 1203423 1498255 1121408

Group Company

fl

2010 2009 2010 2DD9

w-fl nW-fl flft
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMSOOO

Afl Aflf7c AFi AF9t
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax asset to be utilised 12f4 ttJæTWtJ

after 12 months 73675 82272

Deferred tax asset to be utilised 121 tA iiITQ

within 12 months 1513 1476

2010 48 189
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35 DEFERRED TAXATION continued

Movements in the net deferred tax assets are as follows

Group

35 WI

Company

The deferred tax assets and liabilities prior to the offsetting of balances within

the same tax judsdiction were made up of the taxation effects of the following

Group

flJtflTfl
MAThhWflfifihi

Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

nwfl nw-fl -wftt
RMBOOO RMSOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

A5E Ar A-5ff A5
At January

Additions through the
acquisition

of Shanghai Airlines Note 44

Chargedllcredited to income

statement Note 14

At31 December

m44

FH14

32209

653

24358

8182 7851

23374 32209

2010 2009 2010 2009

w-fl -Jtt nwfl wwtt
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

ATff Aflfc Afi ATsc
Deferred tax assets

Impairment provision
for obsolete

flight equipment spare parts

Impairment provision for receivables

Impairment provision
for

property

plant and equipment

Provision for return condition checks

for aircraft under
operating

leases

Provision for frequent flyer programs

Derivative financial liabilities

Provision for post retirement benefits

Deferred tax liabilities

Depredation and amortisation

Derivative financial assets

ffl 88fl

83365 78634 79272 74872

69063 68553 53945 52872

128226 170808 125573 170451

93740 152231 92101 135196

44001 13619 39355 13619

29526 132732 29526 132732

245026 271672 220475 247424

692947 888249 640247 827166

652521 855272 623195 826398

17052 768 17052 768

669573 856040 640247 827166
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35 DEFERRED TAXATION continued 35

Movements of the net deferred tax assets of the Group for the year

Additions

through the Chargedl

At the acquisition of credited to

beginning Shanghai income At the end

of the year Airlines

LLM
statement of the year

t%1Jfl flQfltn M/t fl
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

AfJt Aff0 Af5E At
For the year ended

31 December2010

Impairment provision
for obsolete

flight equipment spare parts

Impairment provision for receivables

Impairment provision
for

property

plant and equipment

Provision for return condition checks

for aircraft under operating leases

Provision for frequent flyer programs

Derivative financial liabilities

Provision for post-retirement benefits

Depreciation and amortisation

Derivative financial assets

Net deferred tax assets

flwitfitj

fln41
nftnn

nflffi

78634 4731 83365

68553 510 69063

170808 42582 128226

152231 58491 93740

13619 30382 44001

132732 103206 29526

271672 26646 245026

888249 510 195812 692947

855272 202751 652521

768 1163 15121 17052

856040 1163 187630 669573

32209 653 8182 23374
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35 DEFERRED TAXATION continued 35

For the
year

ended 31 December 2009

Tax losses carried forward

Impairment provision for obsolete flight

equipment spare parts

Impairment provision for receivables

Impairment provision
for

property

plant and equipment

Provision for return condition checks for

aircraft under operating leases

Provision for frequent flyer programs

Derivative financial liabilities

Provision for post-retirement benefits

Depreciation and amortisation

Derivative financial assets

flnhJWM
flIthfi

78634

68553

170808

152231

13619

313488

211672

fChargedI

credited to

income

statement

78634

68553

170808

152231

13619

132732

271672

As at the balance sheet date the Group and the Company had unrecognised

deductable temporary differences approximately RM87089519 and

RMB478695D respectively 2009 RMBS441922 and RMB4579894

respectively

In addition as at 31 December 2010 the Group and the Company had tax

losses carried forward of approximately RMB9855 million and RMB8532 million

respectively 2009 RMB16223 million and RMB12720 million respectively

which will expire between 2011 and 2014 and which are available to set off

against the Group companies and the Companys future taxable income In

accordance with the PRC tax law tax losses can be carried forward to offset

against
future taxable income for

period
of five

years

As at 31 December 2010 the Group and the Company did not recognise

RMB4236 million and RMB3330 million respectively 2009 RMB5416 million

and RM84325 million respectively of deferred tax assets arising from the above

deductable
temporary

differences and tax losses as management did not consider

it probable that other deductable temporary differences and tax losses would be

realised before they expire

AWM4787iL2009t
Ah4580ait

tth3t $R
ii flAfth

98.55WitA85.32jc

A162.23iA127.20ftt aj

Yn r4ffffllWJffi

fltL

ht4ftfl
42.36fttAf33.30Wt i.-
A54.16ttAfff43.25 Wit

At the beginning

of the year

RMSOOO

Aflf7c

At the end

of the year

nfl
RMSOOO

fgW/fl
RMBOOO

Aflfc

1846 1846

180756

Net deferred tax assets

1070851 182602 888249

1024173 168901 855272

22320 21552 768

1046493 190453 856040

24358 7851 32209
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Defined contribution retirement schemes

Pension

The Group companies participate
in defined contribution retirement

schemes organised by municipal governments of various provinces in

which the Group companies operate Substantially all of the Groups

PRC employees are eligible to participate
in the Group companies

retirement schemes The Group companies are required to make

annual contributions to the schemes at rates ranging from 20% to

22% on the employees salary and allowances
subject to certain

ceilings as set up by the relevant municipal governments Employees

are required to contribute to the schemes at rates ranging trom 7th

to 8% of their salaries For the year ended 31 December 2010 the

Groups pension cost charged to the consolidated income statement

amounted to RMB71S million 2009 RM8390 million

fltt

fl

fitj fl-j

fltEPtJ20%

22%thrnn

A7.15WYJLt

ii Medical insurance ii Pfr

Majority of the Groups PRC employees participate
in the medical

insurance schemes organised by municipal governments under

which the Group companies and their employees are required to

contribute to the schemes approximately 12th and 2% respectively

of the employees basic salaries subject to certain ceilings as set up

by the relevant municipal governments For those employees who

narticipate in these schemes the Group has no other obligation
for

the payment of medical expense beyond the annual contributions

For the year ended 31 December 2010 the Groups medical

insurance contributions charged to the consolidated income

statement amounted to ftM8281 million 2009 8MB132 million

Post-retirement benefits

In addition to the above defined contribution retirement schemes the

Group provides retirees with other post retirement benefits including

transportation subsidies social function activities subsidies and Other

welfares The expected cost of providing these post-retirement
benefits is

actuarially determined and recognised by using the projected unit credit

method which involves number of assumptions and estimates including

inflation rate discount rate and employees turnover ratio

21c

flflflt2%2%

ijflihtf
iL0fl

tUII
tifh

A1thJ

197

36 RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS AND POST-RETIREMENT 36
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36 RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS AND POST-RETIREMENT

BENEFITS continued

Post-retirement benefits continued

The post-retirement benefit obligations recognised in the balance sheets

are as follows

36 HtiUI
fliUfi

mtmSni

Group Company

Presentvalue of funded post-

retirement benefit obligations NIjSMbg

Fair value of
plan assets

Present value of unfunded
post-

retirement benefit obligations k44Ij$bg

2010 2009 2010 2009

ncfl flkt nWfl -fl-
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RI4SOOO

AfiE Ac AfiC Afl-Tir

4737736 4490477 4155547 3978333

Unrecognised actuarial losses 2465413 2640544 2209541 2333591

Post retirement benefit obligations ifl114t

Less current portion Note 30

IIli30

Long-term portion

2617280 1849933 1946006 1644742

61279 51226 54523 48193

2556001 1798707 1891483 1596549

440042

95085

Changes in
post retirement benefit obligations are as follows

Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

nWfl nccc WJLc
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMSOOO

Af5S Aflfic

At January 1849933 1515585 1644742 1330679

Additions
through

the
acquisition ffMfi3fli

of Shanghai Airlines Note 44 ffj44 419414

Costs charyed IF the income --Atf4W6

statement 479514 440878 399177 405468

Payments

At31 December

tic 131581 106530 97913 91405

2617280 1849933 1946006 1644742
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36 RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS AND POST-RETIREMENT

BENEFITS continued

Post-retirement benefits continued

The movement in the fair value of plan assets of the
year

is as follows

36it
fl@I
ht9Jrn

The costs of post-retirement benefits are recognised under wages salaries

and benefits in the income statements as follows

Group Company

Discount rate

Annual rate of increase of
per capita

benefit payment

Employee turnover rate

Mortality rate

Medical inflation rate

Group and Company

99

Group

fl
Company

2010 2009 2010 2009

ntt WL
RMBOOO RMBDDD RMBOOO RMBOOOTt Aic Afic

At January

Additions through the acquisition

of Shanghai Airlines Note 44

Expected return on plan assets

Actuarial gain

Employer contributions

Benefits paid from the plan assets

At 31 December

_-JR Mhhf

m144 79956

6043

102

10862

1878

95085

Current service cost

Interest cost

Actuarial losses recognised

Estimated return on planned asset kl-.7RlPl

2010 2009 2010 2009

nw-fl flt nW-fl fli$
RMBOOO RMBDOD RMBOOO RMBOOO

Afl A-ft AfJ A-F5E

Total Note

172889

211412

101256

6043

fflE/W9

156000

169318

115560

138270

169884

91023

The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date are as

follows

152854

149684

102930

479514 440878 399177 405468

2010

nwfl
2009

4.25% 4.25%

3%-5%

3%-3.25%

9.83%

5.00%

3.00%

3.00%

9.07%

5.00%
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37 STAFF HOUSING BENEFITS

Staff housing fund

In accordance with the PRC housing reform regulations the Group

is required to contribute to the State sponsored housing fund for its

employees at rates ranging
from 7% to 15% 2009 7% to 15% of the

specified salary amounts of its PRC employees At the same time the

employees are required to contribute an amount equal to the Groups

contribution The employees are entitled to claim the entire num of the

fund contributed under certain specified withdrawal circumstances For

the
year

ended 31 December 2010 the Groups contributions to the

housing funds amounted to RMB422 million 2009 RMB323 million

Note which has been charged to the consolidated income statement

The staff housing fund payable as at 31 December 20t0 is RMB4S million

2009 RMB2O million The Group has no legal or constructive
obligations

to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to

pay
all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current

and prior periods

14 Staff housing allowances

The Group also provides staff housing allowances in cash to eligible

employees The total entitlement of an eligible employee is principally

vested over period
of 20

years Upon an eligible employees resignation

his or her entitlement would cease and any unpaid entitlement related

to past service up to the date of resignation would be paid As at

31 December 2010 the
present obligation

of the provision for employees

staff housing allowances is RM8348 million 2009 RMB4O1 million

For the
year

ended 31 December 2010 the staff housing benefit amounted

to RMB1 14 million 2009 RMB1O6 million Note which has been

charged to the consolidated income statement

37 It
Itfl

Iflh7%15%flk 7%

Ht
Tflff%I

flitA
bt IIl

4.22W5fflJLt A3.23-fl
S1flAfl0.45W.Yt

A0.20%5t

iitS1JR

H-
gffcmn
JffUUt4ft
t1- .11 H-HMItflh

hWflAI%3.48W7c

AWh4.01WJb

%--.ff G1h
1% tA%l.14WczJLt
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38 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Assets

38 MffiI

Group and Company

Liabilities

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the

derivative assets in the balance sheet

Nores

Interest rate swaps
ll.N$fl

The Group uses interest rate
swaps

to reduce the risk of changes in marker interest

rates Note 3all The Groups inrerest rare swaps qualify or hedge accounting

The interesr rare
swaps en rered into by the Group are generally for swapping vadable

rates usually reterenred to LIBOR into fixed rates and are accounted tor as rash

flow hedges Other interest rare
swaps are accounted ores air ealue hedges As

at 31 Oecember 20 tO the notional amount of the outstanding interest rare swap

agreements was approximately US$668 million 200g US$388 million These

agreements
will expire between 2011 and 2021

Reallsed and unreallsed
gains

and losses arising from the valuation of these interest

tate swaps
have been dealt with in the income statements as tollows

$lllflAllNl
NJNftsaifl

$llLJeoR1IfllNiflhJ
flflfltllq

flfPfl -fl-S.2fc

3.88 ftyyc

flMc .c fl7iLM

Realised losses recorded in finance costs

Unreallsed mark to market gains/flosses

rash flow hedges recognised in equity

afr value hedges recognised in gain on

air value movements of financial derivatives

BtfASt

flfl/ 3k
-flSLfl 7Aiàfi

21tiNWfl 7Ai2Irifl

2010

RMBOOO

Group

fl
200g

RM8OOO

Alfll3Tzr

77047

56 112

At 31 December

Interest rate swaps Note

Forward foreign exchange

contracts Note

2010 2009 2010 2009

nW-fl Wvt nWfl flt
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMB000

Afsc Aflft Af58 WJWfjc

52081

Etude oil option contracts Note

Total

191247

76548

48612

Less current portion

Interest rate swaps

Forward foreign exchange

contracts

Crude oil
option contracts

Non-current portion

154871

77016

89774418970 3490

71051 3490 316407 1129631

-fn
18970 3490

62891

10419

48612

67728

40814

897744

18970 3490 121982 1006286

52081 194425 123345

105043

8103

7602 27530

89338 48465

2010 fllt 197



202

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTSMU4
Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 BSjL

38 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS continued

Notes continued

Forward to reign exrhange contracts

38

fb AMMtIS

The Group uses fons.ard toreign exrhange contracts to reduce the risk ot rhanges

in
currency exrhange rates in

respect
ot ticket sales and

expenses
denominated in

toreign currendes Note 3ai The Groups torward foreign exchange contracts

tor selling Japanese Yen and purchasing U.S dollao at fixed exchange rates are

accounted tor as cash flow hedges Other forward
foreign exchange contracts are

accounted for as fair value
hedges As at 31 December2010 the notional amount of

the
outstanding currency forward contracts was approximately US$48 miion 2009

US$82 million which will expire between 2011 and 2017

Reailsed and un reailsed gains and losses arising from the valuation of these contracts

have been deafr wilh in the income statements as foiows

AMPf1t34fflilhiI
ilhflSilfi3aW

$Aflflflq4i tP -/- Sf3/Mu
t4iflViliflflMo.48

tMyr flAt 0821gu.7c nrtt tTh78iM

Reailsed
losses/gains recorded in finance income

Unreailsed mark to market gains/losses

cash flow hedges recognised equity

fair value hedges recognised in gain on fair value

movements of derivative financial instruments

Crude oil
option contracts

SttX$it flJArnnA

flAiftiNiflt

The Group enters into crude oil hedging contracts to reduce the risk of changes

in market oil/petroleum prices as hedge against aircraft fuel costs The crude

oil hedging contracts used by the Group are normally structured to include

combination of both put and rail options which allow the Group to lock in fuel
pnres

for specified volumes within
price range

In each hedging contract the rail options

price at which the Group is effectively
entitled to buy fuel will be higher than that at

which the
counterparty

is
effenively

entitled to sell

None of the crude oil hedging contracts remained open at December2010

qualified for hedge accounting The Group is required to account for the fair value

of the difference between the spot price of crude oil and the price at which the

counterpart/es are effectively entitled to seil in future periods as unreaised mark

to market gains/losses and recognised these gains/losses the inrome statements

immediately

Reailsed and unreailsed
gains and losses arising from the valuation of these contracts

have been deafr wilh in the income statements

fr iIilS

Group

fl
200g

RMSOOO

Atfsr

45g83

3272

$0 flS$0TA0tfl$0ilSMlZ

3u4itil3 flNflSMfli

.fiJ/Maflfl

fl-I- ff$0 Sfl
MfMtll
NfllJAsfl

flfltaSth tifffl3àur suuum
$0.fl t.iIfr Ati$0$

800195 3743745

The fafr value of crude oil opt/on contracts is determined by reference to mark to

market values provided by counterpart/es applying appropriate option valuation

model Le mean regression model
using

the Monte Carlo Simulation Process Key

parameters
used in the valuation models include

colatuilty
credit spread long run

mean and mean reverting ratio at date of valuation

f$flfki$o

flfflilhit

fe$$0ufjflI

$05

2010

-S-fl
RMBOOO

42233

f251t9

25587 58472

41765 101727

Group

fl

Realised losses

Unrealised mark to market
gains

2010

5fl
RM8OOO

AS 538

82420
882615

200g

..fl95$0

RMSOOO

Aflfc

1558858

5302504
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39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Group

203

39 flLflU

fl

Assets as
per

balance sheet

Assets at fair

value
through Derivatives

Loans and the profit used for Available

receivables and loss hedging -for-sale Total

011t1$M

LA
flflbfrR J14tf

15ixn fiW en jin thif

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

Aft A-fn Afl AfS Afr
Balance 31 December2010

Available-for salefnancialassets JW6h4 242005 242005

Derivative financial instruments i5iI- 71051 71051

Trade mceivables BUQ 2127446 2127446

Prepayments deposits and 3A14 tlth
other receivables encluding

f8U Thi

prepayrvents
14 4442730 4442730

Cash and cash equivalents

Total

3078228 3078228

Liabilities at Other

fair value financial

Loans and

receivables

through

the profit

and Ions

Derivatives

used for

hedging

liabilities at

amortised

cost Total

Liabilities as per
balance sheet

fl
f8qm
RMBOOO

ttSiJtn

tfl

flfltA

flhhfl

RMBOOO

Pflh
iWIA

RMBOOO

1th
fl

JWc
RMBOOO

El-

RMBOOO

ElBbfl Afl Afyr Afl0 Aff Ait

9648404 71051 242005 9961460

Balance 31 December 2010

Borrowings

Obligations under finance leases BhStIIJM

Derivative financial instruments

Trade payables and notes payable

Other payables and accrued 1ThIf4

expenses

Total

38565657

19208333

4275443

14536168

316407

38565657

19208333

316407

4275443

14536168

76585601 316407 76902008
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39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY continued

Group continued

39 tLiJu
flUe

Borrowings

Obligations under finance leases M4IIflh

Derivative financial inscrumenns fiI
Trade

payables and notes payable 1441M4M
Other payables and accrued 14hf4t

eupeeses

Total

25334949

19370235

1129631

6480459

25334949

19370235

119631

6480459

Derivatives

used for

Assets at fair

same
through

Loans and the profit Available

receivables and loss hedging -for sale Total

WSitfl

hMA

flL flA hJ
ytffl Mfl 67I$ HhI A6t

Assets as
per

balance sheet RMBOOO RIABOOO RMBOOO RA18OOO RMBOOO

flHhh1 Aflf Aflfyc Afc Af A1Efyc

Balance 31 December 2009 .WWI
-l-

Available-for sale gnancial assets 57269 57269

Derivatise financial instruments f3tI- 3490 3490

Trade receivables 1BH 1370871 1370871

Prepayrnents deposits and

other receivables eccluding

0W4 1fltThfth

FTA

prepayments
yw4 1993096 1993096

Cash and cash equivalents

Total

1735248 1735248

Liabilities at Other

fair value financial

Loans and

receivables

through

the profit

and loss

Derivatives

used for

hedging

liabilities at

awortised

cost Total

Liabilities as per
balance sheet

ynJ
RMBOOO

LAf4tfl

Mtfi

tfA
fflfl

RMBOOO

6jIa
RI4BOOO

fbSJh

fl
rnn

RMBOOO

L6
RMBOOO

MfiH8tIfl AJfffyc Afc Afl5E AMfyc Afic

5099215 3490 57269 5159974

Balance 31 December 2009 LJLu15

11517204 11517204

62702847 1129631 63832478
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39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY continued 39 tThfliU

Company

Borrowings Ut

Obligations under finance leases thAM
Derivative fieancial instruments i3TI

Trade payables and noteo payable
4ftyitt

Other payables and accrued ffhf41k

enpenses

Total

30589115

15877872

4701951

205

Assets at fair

value
through

Derivatives

Loans and the profit used for Available

receivables and loss hedging -for-sale Total

tthltfl

tIII

1Ut flbttA UtGh aJy
ho8 thUtfl VT-tIA flfl

Assets as per
balance sheet RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

flflBhhfl AJO Aft Rv Afi Afi

Total 8610098

Balance 31 December 2010

fl -I-0

Available-for-sale financial assets 223729 223729

Derivative financial instruments Viilk 71051 71051

Trade receivables 2545900 2545900

Prepayments deposits and T514t $1th
other receivables encluding

It
prepayments 5212915 5212915

Cash and cash equivalents 851283 851283

Liabilities at Other

fair value financial

Loans and

receivables

through

the profit

and loss

Derivatives

used for

hedging

liabilities at

aniortised

cost Total

AflM

Liabilities as per
balance sheet

lUt

ko
RMBOOO

fritil

flfltX

Utfl
RMBOOO

UtGh
i5tiA

RMBOOO

fl
flZ
RMRCOO

hUt

RMHOOO

Aii Afl Aæ AflH0 AflTE

71051 223729 8904878

Balance 31 December 2010 L1

316407

30589115

15877872

316407

4701951

10442355 10442355

61611293 316407 61927700
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39 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY continued 39 tIIflZR

Company continued IU

Assets as per balance sheet

Balance 31 December 2009

Available for sale financial assets

Derivative financial instruments

Trade receivables

Prepayments deposits and

other receivables eccluding

prepayments

Cash and cash equivalents

Total

nfl
fl

14
flnlfli

Assets at fair

valse through

Loans and the profit

receivables and loss

Available

-for-sale Total

45520

3490

1617660

Derivatives

used for

hedging

RMBOOO

Aflfjc

1ff

le wA

nfl
RMBOOO

ABflyc

RMBOOO RMBOOO

Jo

hPt

RMBOOO

AnfiE

1617660

2989729

1118230

45520

3490

5725619 3490 45520 5774629

2989729

1118230

Liabilities at Other

fair value financial

through Derivatives liabilities at

Loans and the profit used for amortised

receivables and loss hedging cost Total

telLfl

htill 1thBi

fl fltA flfl fl
nn nn f31I- ns

Liabilities as
per

balance sheet RMBOOO RMBOOD RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

nnflobyfl ABfir Aflfic AJc Afin AMfm
Balance 31 December 2009

Borrowings

Obligations under finance leases

Derivative financial instruments

Trade
payables

and notes payable

Other payables and accrued

espenses

Total

1Ik 21121113 21121713

hIfflf 17303224 17303224

f3tIn 1129631 1129631

6293548 6293548

flfftffl

nfl

fnf

9815704 9875704

54594189 11 29631 55123820
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1A89J

lfl1ts1$

1Hi

fl1fli

Pursuant to articles 49 and 50 of the Companys Articles of Association both the

listed shares and the listed shares are all registered ordinary shares and carry

equal rights

Note

On 28 January 2010 as approved by rhe Companys shareholders meeting and china

Seruriries Regulatory commission CSRC the company issued 1694838860 Shares

of rhe Company to the shareholders of ShanghaiAidines in exrhange for all the
exhting

issued

shares of Shanghai Afrllnes Of the total 1694838860 shares issued 288889000 shares

were issued to an investor with lork
up period

of 29 months from 25January20 70 The fair

ealue of the Shares issued amounted to
approximately RM89 billion of whirh RM81

billion is rerorded as share
rapital and the

remaining RMB7.4 billion is rerorded as share

premium Note 44

ANHflHIIflII

4r0J3$

A_ADTcr1694838860il9AAQ

8fiAtr
t69483886042AfQrp 288889o00ffrMflilfl9 48

Mm2o1otr2ssj82948P flriililAilh

D2JcfflEilMAfl9rf8c A$fr7
lfricftAilQ4c Aw4874ffrthAaffEmr44

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance wilh International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 .48J- mH a.t

40 SHARE CAPITAL 40

207

Group and Company

2010 2009

RMBOOO RMBOOO

Registered issued and fully paid of RMB1 .00 each

share listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange

Shares

Tradable shares held
by CEA Holding with trading

moratorium

Tradable shares held by other investors with

trading moratorium Note

Tradable shares without trading moratorium

Note

shares listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited shares

Tradable shares held by CES Global Holding

Hong Kong Limited with trading moratorium

Tradable shares without trading moratorium

7782214

4831375

288889

2661950

3494325

1437375

2056950

6087375

4831375

860000

396000

3494325

1437375

2056950

11276539 9581700

2010 5p48 203
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 -t-HLt

41 RESERVES 41 fl

208

At January2009

Unrealised gain an cashfluw hedges Note 38

Realised gain on cashfiow hedges Note 38

Capital reserve attdheted by shareholders

an associate

Fair value muvements available fur sale

investments held
by

associates

Issuance new shares Note 40

yrefit attributable to owners of the
parent

At 31 December 2009

Att January2010

Unrealised gain ua cashfiuw hedges Note 38

Fair value muvements available fur sale

investments

Fair value muvementa available for sale

investments held by asuuciateu

lsvsance of new shares fur the acquisitiun of

Shanghai Airlines Note 40

Prud attributable tu owners ef the yarent

138

tW38
flhj

fmll9x-is4o

p1fIflAflff4

WAft

11$38

ft

i$40

Total

au

RM8OOO

17964351

59304

1470

49692

505

9341417

160766 160766

At31 December2010

17747785 720057 154492 77019 12955507 3994748

Group

Share Capital Hedging

premiam reserve reserve Other Accumulated

Note 40 Note Note 38 reserves losses

osa wn
ff40 2ffb Uff38 fltfl Wtfl

RM8OCO RMBCOO RM8OCO RM8OOO RM8OOO

Aft0 Aff.fff0 Aft Afl Afti0

1006455 720057 195390 26903 18082262

59384

1470

49692

595

9341417

10347872 720057 137476 76010 17913496 8347147

10347812 720OSlf 137470 76010 11.913496 8347147

17016 17016

534 534

1543 1543

7399913 7399913

4957989 4957989
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December 2010 HJL

41 RESERVES continued 41 1fl

Company

Share Capital Hedging

At January 2009

Unrealised gain on cashilow

hedges Note 38

Realised gain oe cashf low

hedges Note 38

Issuance of new shares Note 40

Prof it for the
year

9fiflfl
a1ff38

fl38

59384

1470

9341417

1074027

At31 December 2009

At
January2010

Unrealised gain on cashflnw

hedges Note 38

Issuance of new shares for the

acquisition of Shanghai Airlines

Note 40

Profit for the
year

10347872

Hi9 10347872

fl$38

xa40
7399913 7399913

4422353 4422353

A131 December 2010

Notes

.H H$A 17747785 720057 154492 10853755 6019481

Statutory and Discretionary Reserves

Puruuanr to rhe PRC regulations and rhe Companies Artides of Association each

of the Group companies is required to transfer 10% of its profit for the year as

determined under the PRC Accounting Regulations to statutory common reserve

fund until the fund balance exceeds 50% of the Group companys registered capital

The statutory common reserve fund ran be used to make good previous years

losses if
any

and to issue new shares to shareholdeo in proportion to their existing

shareholdings or to increase the
par

value of the shares currently held by them

prodded that the balance after such issue is not less than 25% of the registered

capital

Each of the Group companies is permitted to transfer 5% of its profit for the
year

as determined under the PRC Accounting Regulations to discretionary common

reserve fund The transfer to thh reserve is subert to approval at shareholders

meetings

No profit appropdation by
the Company to the

discretionary common reserve fund

was made for the year ended 31 December2010 200g nil

flfl2fl

4c

flfiflfl8il50% 2fl

gilfi N94N7flIIIIIIQ
825%

422 MRilcxflAhti

Capital reserve j4cfl

Capital reserve represents the difference between the fair value of the net assets

inerted and the nominal amount of the Companys share capital issued in respect

of group restructuring carded out in June 1996 for the purpose of the lompanys

listino

48 BN8il9
at 411

209

premium reserve reserve Accumulated

Note 40 Note Note 38 losses Total

A981 flfl9M 11fl
eT40 9Nb t8 Wtfl tt
RMBOCO RMBOCO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

A11fic A11fl A115 AfiE Afl3Z

720057 195390 16350135 162591271006455

9341417

59384

1470

1074027

720057 137476 15276108 5785769

720057 137476 15276108 5785769

17016 17016

tIfl1R 12010 411 205
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Prepared in accordance with International Frnancial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 S.t

210

42 NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

In December 2010 the Group management pasned resolution to dispose certain

aircraft and related engines in the forthcoming 12 months in consideration of

the low operation efficiency and high maintenance costs of these aircraft The

proposed disposal
is

part
of the Groups fleet

portfolio streamlining exercise

Subsequent to 2010
year end the Group has taken active

steps
to seek potential

buyers and obtain buyers quotes The aircraft and engines with an aggregate

carrying of RMB41 million after the impairment loss charge has been classified

as non-current assets held for sale at 31 December 2010 An impairment loss

charge of approximately RM8239 million was made against these aircraft and

engines by reference to the estimated market values which approximate to the

price quotes provided by
the

potential buyers Note 10 The non current assets

held for sale as at 31 December 2009 has been disposed during the
year

ended

31 December2010

43 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Cash generated from operations

42 flWtUfl

if 12 Sti9ft

Lif

Eflf6ffl

flflf
fl1M1

43 tfl14t

fIttfl

Profit before income tax

Adjustments for

Depreciation of
property plant and equipment

and intangible assets

Loss on disposals of property plant

and equipment

Loss on disposals uf invtstment in associates

Gain on disposals of investment in subsidiaries

Share of results of associates

Share of results of jointly controlled entities

Amortisation of lease prepayments

Net
foreign exchange gains

Amortisation of deferred revenue

Gain arising from fair value movements of

derivative financial instruments

Consumption of flight equipment spare parts

Impairment provision trade and other receivables

Provision for post-retirement benefits

Provision for return condition checks for

aircraft under operating leases

Impairment loss

Interest income

Interest expenses

an

OIbtiM

Hfli 1tf
nif

flIjS4M

IiftA

2010

-wfl
RMBOOO

2009

RMBOOO

249205

5177149

46602

23803

25686

95379

8138

5333546

351151

8807

440878

588745

109417

109925

1754640

5417812

6726651

15893

1013

45147

39228

28154

31186

1074796

915804

601407

1545

479514

586364

405391

80588

1501900

Operating profit
before working capital changes 13584959 3197765
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December 2010

43 NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT continued

Cash generated from operations continued

43 ttflthE

tflfltfff

Trade payables and notes payables

Other payables and accrued expenses

Other long term liabilities

Staff housing allowances

Post-retirement benefit obligations

Operating lease deposits

Non-cash transactions

fl
4ffli

sew

il1

2010

-w-n
RMBOOO

776736

202667

337365

846502

3418055

292530

569577

305550

166871

131581

110366

HLtfl

2009

RMBOOO

Aflc

465626

210188

540134

406305

1021365

481798

160859

275008

90514

lob 530

132644

Financing activities not affecting cash

Issuances of new shares for acquisition of

Shanghai Airlines Note 44

Finance lease obligations incurred for

acquisition of aircraft

flf
1WE44

2009

RMSOOO

211

Changes in working capital

Flight equipment spare parts

Trade receivables

Prepayments deposits and other receivables

Sales in advance of
carriage

Provision for return condition checks for aircraft

under operating leases

Cash generated from operations

2845120 309925

10739839 3507690

2010

RMBOOO

it

9118433

1455152

10573585

2010 1f 207
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Prepared in accordance with International Finandal Reporting Standards MfSflJifl/
For the year ended 31 December2010 TthB_ Stht

2JOlC

44 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On to July 2009 the Company entered into an absorption agreement the

Absorption Agreement with Shanghai Airlines in relation to proposed

acquisition of Shanghai Airlines the Acquisition Pursuant to the Absorption

Agreement the Company mould issue 1694838860 Shares of the Company

to the shareholders of Shanghai Airlines in exchange for all the
existing issued

shares of Shanghai Airlines The Acquisition was completed on 28
January

2010

the Acquisition Date on which Shanghai Airlines was delisted and became

wholly owned subsidiary of the Company thereafter

Based on the 1694838860 shares issued for the Acquisition the acquisition

price is RM891 18 million which is determined based on the quoted market price

of the Companys shares issued as of the date closest to the Acquisition Date with

adjustments to reflect restrictions specific to certain shares issued

The resulting goodwill is determined to be RMB1 1270 million and is attributable

to strengthening the competitiveness of the Company attaining synergy

through integration
of the resources and promoting the evolution of Shanghai

international air transportation centre

Details of the purchase consideration the net liabilities assumed and
goodwill are

determined as follows

44 flOt

æ1694838860RAflEtR\ttIfl
Hin

ifl

1694838860A9M

AM91.18lLt

flflA112.70t.7c

nl flJf11A

RMBOOO

9118433

2151262

11269695

Purchase consideration fair value of share issued

Add fair value of net liabilities assumed

Goodwill Note 18
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For the year ended 31 December2010 Ltl

44 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS continued

213

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities the Acquired Assets and

Liabilities of Shanghai Airlines as at the Acquisition Date were estimated

by the Board by reference to valuation conducted by an independent valuer

The
carrying amount and fair value of the Acquired Assets and Liabilities at the

Acquisition Date are as follows

1Hffl1fliflflflfwlitt
flfifl

Non-current assets

Intangible assets Note 18

Property plant and equipment Note 19

Lease prepayments Note 20

Advances payments on acquisition of

aircraft Note 21

Investment in an associates Note 23

Investment in jointly controlled entities

Note 24

Available for-sale financial assets

Other long term assets

Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Flight equipment spare parts

Trade receivables

Prepayments deposits
and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

nhn

14fiiitflfiP20

Ji4flia21

Ifl IW23
IfiiIMt24

Nfl

44 Itutt

Assets

Carrying Amount

RMBOOO

Fair Value

iitfl

RMBOOO

21 4D3

DD5D475

115753

D72366

59714

19184

181 78D

721416

S1D

21 4D3

8324946

466507

1072366

59714

19184

181 78D

721416

S1D

Total assets

122426D1 1D867826

333D43

698362

1427436

1167565

333D43

698362

1427436

1167565

36264D6 36264D6

15869007 14494232
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 m_SiL

Carrying Amount

fl
RMBOOO

A7ifi

214-

Fair Value

RMBOOO

Current liabilities

Sales in advance of carriage

Trade
payables

and notes payable

Other payables and accrued
expenses

Current portion of obligations under

finance leases

Current portion of borrowings

Income tax payable

Current portion of provision for return condition

checks for aircraft under operating leases

Derivative liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Obligations under finance leases

Borrowings

Provision for return condition checks for

aircraft under
operating leases

Other long-term liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Post-retirement benefit
obligations Note 36

Total liabilities

Net liabilities

Non-controlling interests

Net liabilities assumed

futJubfl5t

Jttk .za4tfrI7eM JijIafinpfl

18TA

fl

311170

1.383575

2503812

73691

5711604

16433

46378

18004

311170

13 83 57

2503812

73691

5711604

16433

46378

18004

During the year ended 31 December 2D1D the revenue included in the

consolidated statement of comprehensive income that contributed by the

major businesses acquired through Shanghai Airlines was approximately

RMB16962 million The major businesses acquired also contributed net profit

of
approximately RMB1191 million net cash inflow from operating activities of

approximately RMB363D million and net cash outflows of RMBSD2 million
during

the year

r-c

AfAM169.62tt tft3i Thf
ht$tff4Ai1.91

36.3DjA5.D2Itrc

44 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS continued 44 flitOt

Liabilities

10064667 10064667

1010646

4209955

1010646

4209955

639556

248218

1163

417369

639556

248218

1163

417369

6526907 6526907

16591574 16591574

722567

53920

2097342

53920

776487 2151262
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For the year ended 31 December2010 tf fl HiL

The Group and the Company had the following capital
commitments

Group Company

Authorised and contracted for

Aircraft engines and flight

equipment

Other property plant and

equipment

Authorised but not contracted for

Other property plant and

equipment

Investment

Effl85tcJf5tJ

45 COMMITMENTS

Capital commitments tH

2010 2009 2010 2009

nWfl ._wWJt nw-n -Wit
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO

A-f5R A$flYft AfE Attsyc

-yf
96262948 74161006 90624858 74161006

844855 544490 458000 544490

97107803 74705496 91082858 74705496

3282093 3856033 2629793

1045500

3737320

2700700

3282093 3856033 3675293 6438020

100389896 78561529 94758151 81143516

Contracted expenditures for the above aircraft engines and flight

equipment including deposits prior to delivery subject to future inflation

increases built into the contracts and any discounts available upon delivery

of the aircraft if any were expected to be paid as follows

PAYfff

tWst PthWt4
U$f7flfl

CompanyGroup

2010 2009 2010 2009

ne-fl flut nw-fl
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOOAf Ayc AfliC

Within one
year 16670989 10480635 15712221 10480635

In the second
year 21732824 11082051 20719021 11082051

In the third
year 24056335 16661512 22402355 16661512

In the fourth
year 22189380 18802713 20957405 18802713

Over four
years 11613420 17134095 10833856 17134095

96262948 74161006 90624858 74161006

2010 fl 211
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards MJtSWJi4
For the year ended 31 December 2010 tM ftLfrtff

45 COMMITMENTS continued

Operating lease commitments

As at the balance sheet date the Group and the Company had

commitments under operating leases to
pay

future minimum lease rentals as

follows

Group

45 kM
flflWfl

Company

Aircraft engines and flight

equipment

Within one
year

In the second year

In the third to fifth year
inclusive

After the fifth
year

Land and buildings

Within one year

In the second
year

In the third to fifth
year

inclusive

After the fifth year

tt
3814179 2404916 1900096

3427740 1901941 1692370

2134163

1828203

2010 2009 2010 2009

nW-fl W-fl
RMBOOO RMROOO RMBOOO RMBOOOA3 AMyc AiE AflFic

8520237 4468013 4011890 4370015

7829784 3398064 2555671 3356624

23591940 12172934 10160027 11689005

216771

187636

153453

124160

19582

14754

30592

13024

460368

2705609

335059

2404003

30884

26696

25890

34915

3570384 3016675 91916 104421

27162324 15189609 10251943 11793426
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Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 CB-/- S.th

46 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group is controlled by CEA Holding which directly owns approximately

42.84% of the Companys shares as at 31 December 2010 2009 approximately

50.42% In addition through CES Global Holding Hong Kong Limited wholly

owned subsidiary of CEA Holding CEA Holding owns approximately 17.09% of

the Companys shares as at 31 December 2010 2009 approximately 20.12%

Nature of related parties that do not control or controlled

by the Group

Name of related party

Eastern Finance

Kunming Dongmei Aviation Travel Co Ltd Kunming Dongmei

Dongmei Travel

fin
Xian Dongmei Aviation Travel Co Ltd Xian Dongmei

fiMfifi01

Eastern Import Export

11

Wheels Brakes

Technologies Aerospace

Shanghai PW

Shanghai Eastern Air Catering Co Ltd Shanghai Catering

flMflflELhfflJ
Xian Eastern Air Catering Investment Co Ltd Xian Catering

iO

Vunnan Eastern Air
Catering Investment Co Ltd Yunnan Catering

Mflfl2S1 Iflfli

Qingdao Eastern Air Catering Investment Co Ltd Qingdao Catering

Wuxi Eastern Air
Catering

and
Beverage Investment Co Ltd

Wuxi Catering and Beverage

flflflflflfii0
Wuhan Eastern Air Catering Investment Co Ltd Wuhan Catering

AtflnntT
Ningbo Eastern Air Catering Investment Co Ltd Ningbo Catering

flMflfln0IfiflJ
Jiangxi Eastern Air Catering Investment Co Ltd Jiangxi Catering

flflfi
Anhui Eastern Air Catering Investment Co Ltd Anhui Catering

WfiflMfi0

46 flXfl

2%42.B4%2jfltflflYLt 50.42%

tth3tfifiOWL fin
.EE l7.09%fl_fl

20.12%

4fliflflflfl1tQ

Relationship with the Group

Controlled by the same parent company

%H
Controlled

by
the same parent company

JO 0flhj
Associate of the company

fET
Controlled by the same parent company

Associate of the Company

Jointly controlled entity of the Company

Jointly controlled entity of the Company

Associate of the Company

fl
Controlled by the same parent company

Controlled
by

the same parent company

Controlled by the same parent company

JO 0fl
Controlled

by
the same parent companyJ00ffli

Controlled by the same parent company

Controlled by the same parent company

jO e20nl
Controlled

by the same parent company

Controlled by the same parent company

%j0

Controlled
by

the same parent company
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For the year ended 31 December 201D HiLt

46 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued

Nature of related parties that do not control or controlled

by the Group continued

Name of related party

Shanxi Eastern Air Catering Investment Co Ltd Shanxi Catering

kRii 1fli
Gansu Eastern Air Catering Investment Co Ltd Gansu Catering

Qilu Eastern Air
Catering Investment Co Ltd Qilu catering

tªl2 Flflflj
Fleibei Eastern Air Catering Investment Co Ltd Hebei catering

Shanghai Meixin Eastern Air Catering investment Co Ltd Mexin Catering

FR

Yantai Eastern Air Catering Investment Co Ltd Yantai Catering1flflJ
Wuxi Eastern Air Catering Investment Co Ltd Wuxi Catering

Eastern Advertising

CEA Development Co Ltd CEA Development

kRR1Wfli
Shanghai Eastern Aviation Equipment Manutacturing Corporation Eastern AviationMflFR

Shanghai Hute Aviation Tech Co Ltd Shanghai HutekM
Shanghai Eastern International Aviation Travel Co Ltd Eastern Aviation Travel

FR1Iflfli
Eastern China Kaiya System Integration China KaiyahnlSI
CEA Northwest Co Ltd CEA Northwest

46 AO
Ifl1
ft

Relationship with the Group

Controlled by
the same parent company

Ffll

Controlled by the same parent company

Controlled by the same parent company

Ffl
Controlled by the same parent company

fl
Controlled by the same parent company

Controlled by the same parent company

Controlled by the same parent company

Associate ot the Company

Controlled by
the same parent company

JF Wfft
Controlled by the same parent company

Controlled by the same parent company

jF 2fl
Controlled by the same parent company

Controlled by the same parent company

JF

Controlled by the same parent company
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For the year ended 31 December2010 -1-_.EHSiLM

46 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued 46 JflMAiR

Related party transactions

lncome/expense or payments

Nature of transaction Related party 2010 2009

nWfl _flJt
RMBOOO RMBOOO

AfE AMft
With CEA Holding or companies

directly or indirectly
held by

CEA Holding

Interest income on deposits at an
average

Eastern finance 17658 11536

rate of 0.36% per annum

2009 0.36%
per annum

fl7t U4O.36l%

Interest expense on loans at
average

rate Eastern Finance 61162 41063

of 4.47%
per annum

2009 4.67%
per annum CEA

Holding 3229 107585

IJ447j%

i4.67l%

Commission expense on air tickets sold Kunming Dongmei 12532 11697

on behalf of the Group at rates ranging ftMfl
from 3% to 9% of the value Dongmei Travel 5173 3996

of tickets sold

Xian Dongmei 1092 884

3%9%

Handling charges of 0.1% to 2% for Eastern
Import Export 59636 48489

purchase of aircraft flight equipment ilS
flight equipment spare parts

other

property plant and equipment

Repairs and maintenance
expense

for Wheels Brakes 53949 60598

aircraft and engines $ij$
Technologies Aerospace 176392 137273

Shanghai P6W 831013

kfl
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gnnK
Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards S4fM1ffjSt
For the year ended 31 December2010 SILtS

46 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued 46

Related party transactions continued

lncomelexpense or payments

X/ffit1ttM
Nature of transaction Related party 2010 2009n- -flAt

RMBOOO RMBOOO

A36 Afm
Supply

of food and
beveragest Shanghai Catering 304410 238772

1fl
Xian Catering 38836 37834

Yunnan Catering 42206 31812

fl
Qingdao Catering 25408 24583

Wuxi Catering and Beverage 22944 15249

Wuhan Catering 12235 14943

ian
Ningbo Catering 13673 14666

fin
Jiangxi Catering 13172 13468

Anhui Catering 13233 11624

fin
Shanxi Catering 13140 10667

fin
Gancu Catering 13.355 10333

fin
Qilu Catering 6155 7371

fin
Heibel Catering 6829 5235

Meixin
Catering 4192 4010

Yantai Catering 6452 229

Wuxi
Catering 8247 504
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIALSTATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December 2010

46 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued 46 UI

Related party transactions continued UI

Income/expense or payments

A/tfl1fl
Nature of transaction Related party 2010 2009

fl-fl nflM
RMBOOO RMSOOO

AT5E An3
Disposal of investment in subsidiaries Shanghai Catering 24064

bUtt
Eastern Import Export 57753

tflll

Eastern Advertising 27264

Advertising expense Eastern
Advertising 20209 13002

Media
royalty

fee Eastern
Advertising 12000

fin

Automobile maintenance fee CEA Development 39799 32301

Equipment maintenance fee Shanghai Hute 39958

Eantern Aviation 2974 5258

Land and building rental CEA Holding 55140 55140

The Groups pricing policies on products purchased from related

parties are based on the mutually agreed prices between contract

parties

The Groups pricing policies on services provided by and to related

parties are based on the mutually agreed prices between contract

parties

The Companys pricing policies on transfer 0f equity are based on

the valuation prices
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 fr HiL

46 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued 46

Balances with related companies

Amounts due from related companies flhfiA Tht

Group Company

Nature Company 2010 2009 2010 2009

flfl nw-fl flAt nw-fl flJLt

RMBOOO RMBOOO RMBOOO RMSOOO

Afc Af7c Afc k-fjc

Trade receivables Kunming Dosgmei

12879 13177 12879 13177

Eastern Aviation Travel

11012 11012 11012 11012

China Cargo

1480721 759427

Others

14.099 16.398 20.108 37888

37990 40587 1524720 821504

Prepaymests deposits
Eastern

Import Export

asdother 63138 52016 60555 51909

receivables CEA Holding

-t tUfl 43282 43282

1th15i China Kaiya

18605 4613 18605 4239

China Cargo

taM 651176 590915

CEAWuhan

820302 679888

Nem Shanghai Airlines

627716

Others

27706 4768 164484 53128

152731 61397 2386120 1380079

All the amounts due from related companies are trade in nature Mawai61aw
interest free and payable within normal credit terms given to trade

customers

218 China Eastern Airlines Corporation limited Annual Rvport 20t0



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards MS2$fliJ4t/
For the year ended 31 December 2010 E.liWt-j-...fl -1- SiLts

46 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued

Balances with related companies continued

ii Amounts due to related companies

46 flXflOi

flXQZfi

ii IftJflflJ2rtLfl

Except for the amounts due to CEA Holding which are

reimbursement in nature all other amounts due to related

companies are trade in nature Except for the notes payable to

Eastern Import Export which are with discount rates approximately

3.81% per annum 2009 1.74% to 2.70% and repayable within

six months all other amounts due to related companies are interest

free and payable within normal credit terms given by
trade creditors

lT

fNtftfl
ffl44

flflJi1.74%2.70%htjts

ThNMh

222

Group Company

Nature Company 2010 2009 2010 2009

$$ ikE W-
RMBOOO

flft%

RMBOOO RMBOOO

flJ
RMBOOO

AIE50 Af AE Aflft

Trade payables and

notes payable

Other payables and

accrued expenses

375602 907817 265765 803524

23743 94275 20982 94275

440677 137909

568998 320

947258

78859 11051 196847 54728

Eastern Import Export

ft5jD
Shanghai Catering

CEA Jiangsu

China Cargo

WM

New Shanghai Airlines

Others

CEA Holding

tfilcfl
CEA Northwest

MflSL 31

China Cargo

New Shanghai Airlines

LLM
Others

478204 1013143 2440527 1090756

69864 122257 69864 122257

8000 8000 8000 8000

341540 18101

192463

5777 6002 145306 198375

83641 136259 757173 346733
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards

For the year ended 31 December2010 tE

46 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued 46

Balances with related companies continued

iii Short-term deposits and borrowings with associates and CEA iii IMf
Holding

Average interest rate Group Company

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

-n a-fl TwM
RMBOOO RMBOOO RMROCO RMSOOO

At Afyr Am Aflfv

Short-term deposits included in

Prepaymnots Deposits and

Other Recnivahlns

Eastern Finance

90

45

0.36% 0.36% 1137218 465230 27390 42667

Short term loans ioclnded

in Borrowings Eastern

Finance

ho%95%090

4.26% 4.40% 1286227 595110 1286227 575ltt

Long-term
loaos inclndnd

is Borrowiogs Eastern

Finance

90%ff%A
1M8t6U

5.00% 4.67% 295000 230000 200000

Long-term loans iocladed in

Borromiogs CEA Holding 5.18/a 4.67% 32000 162000

Guarantees by holding company Cd i190
As at 31 December 2010 bank loans of the Group and Company with

an aggregate
amount of RMBS7S million and RMB8S million

respectively

2009 RM8447 million and oil were guaranteed by CEA Holding

Note32 f.7CVWl

Key management compensation

2010 2009

RMBOOO RMBOOO

kyr Aflf7c

Directors and supervisors Note 9a 2081 1374

Senior management 90nlA90 3422 13S0

5503 2724

47 ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY 47

The Directors
regard

CEA Holding state-owned
enterprise established in the

PRC as being the ultimate holding company
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The
following

consolidated financial information is extracted from the consolidated

financial statements of the Group prepared
under the PlC

Accounting
Standards

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

Prepared in accordance with PRC Accounting Standards

For the
year

ended 31 December2010

flflt

ItSP4W
-1-...M aJLM

Revenue

Less Cost of operation

Taxes and surcharges

Selling and distribution expenses

General and administrative expense

Finance expenses net

Impairment loss

Add Fair value gain

Investment incomelloss

Operating profitlloss

Add Non
operating

income

Less Non-operating expenses

Total profit

Less Income tax

Net profit

Attribute to

Owners of the parent

Non controlling interests

flflfl

Jt

fl fl34UA

2010

RMBOOO
58

74958 108

60726601

1462770

5324601

2656326

431289

427061

833384

119363

t_fl HjL

2009

RMB 000

3983 133

37248315

1018791

2969537

1538857

1639336

118224

3774688

22749

Total assets

Liabilities and equity

Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

Total Liabilities

Owners of the
parent

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

2010

RMBOOO

2009

RMB .000

A58fic

6863939

1152521

61578262

2366518

57441

225

iEit8fl

4882207

1093164

134278

949790

1604096

14185

5841093

138177

640121

80874

5702916 559247

5380375

322541

711677

152430

5702916 559247

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

Prepared in accordance with PRC Accounting Standards

For the
year

ended 31 December2010

Assets fl
Total current assets Thtbl 11720627

Long term investment ff1 1450375

Fixed assets and construction in progress 58If5I 75506263

Goodwill 8509030

Intangible assets and other non-current assets 3579627

Deferred tax assets ftftfg 44195

100810117 72018681

39167783

45014343

51814

35663041

32690973

51539

84233940 68405553

15577109

999068

3365592

247536

16576177 3613128

100810117 72018681
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

2co

SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS IFRS AND PRC

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The Groups accounting policies which conform with IFRS differ in certain aspects

from PRC Accounting Regulations Differences between IFRS and PRC Accounting

Standards which have
significant

effect on the consolidated
profit

attributable

to owners of the parent and consolidated net assets of the Group are summarised

as follows

Mflttt

$flffl MSfflff9
tfltSWJfl
SNIJ4 Iesffunnsiii

Consolidated profit attributable to owners

of the parent

As stated in accordance with PRC

Accounting Standards

Impact of IFRS and other adjustments

Difference in depreciation for flight equipment

due to difference depreciation lives used

previously

Difference in depreciation and
impairment

charges for aircraft and engines due to

different depreciation lives

Provision for post-retirement benefits

Reversal of additional amortisation due to

the revaluation
surplus relating to

land use rights

Deferred tax adjustments

Non-controlling interests

As stated in accordance with IFRS

Consolidated net assets attributable to

owners of the parent

As stated in accordance with PRC

Accounting Standards

Impact
of IFRS and other adjustments

Difference in depredation and for flight

equipment due to different depredation

lives used previously

Difference in
depreciation

and impairment

charges
for aircraft and

engines
due to

different depreciation lives

Provision for post retirement benefits

Intangible assets goodwill

Reversal of revaluation surplus relating

to land use rights

Others

Deferred tax adjustments

Non-controlling interests

As stated in accordance with IFRS

flt tSWlIJT

6J ThY

t11rtIrtJ
tflh

-awn

MSWljh

flt flflffWIs

IIt

in

4686

3791

4957989

84147

2617283

2760665

352206

28327

t80322

168766

2010

Note RMBOOO

2009

_flft
8MB 000

5380375

74183

9582

347936

8420

711677

SS406

9582

334348

8420

15577109 3365592

74183

93729

1849933

360626

79393

26307

194092

79393

30993

291531

15271287 1234553
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 2j

SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS IFRS AND PRC

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS continued

Prior to February 2006 under the PRC Accounting Standards rotables

are classified as current assets and the costs are amortised on straight line

basis over period of years
Under IFRS rotables are accounted for as

property plant and equipment and is depredated on straight
line basis

to write off the cost to their residual value over their estimated useful lives

and annual provision for scrap was made Since January 2007 under the

PRC
Accounting Standards rotables have been classified as property plant

and equipment and is depreciated over 10 years Under IFRS the useful life

of rotables was also changed to 10 years with no further annual provision

for
scraps

in 2007 This change of accounting estimate was applied

prospectively Despite the useful life of rotables has been unified under

IFRS and the PRO Accounting Standards from 2007 the carrying amounts

of rotables at the time of the change were different under IFRS and the

PRO Accounting Standards As at 31 December 2010 these differences in

carrying amounts have been fully eliminated

Under the PRO Accounting Standards on or before 30 June 2001

depreciation of aircraft was calculated to write off their costs on

straight line basis over their expected useful lives of 10 to 15
years

to their

residual values of 3% With effect from
July

2001
depreciation of aircraft

under the PRO Accounting Standards is calculated to write off their costs

on straight line basis over their expected useful lives of 15 to 20
years

to

their residual values of 5% of costs the change was applied prospectively

which resulted in the difference in the carrying amounts under IFRS and the

PRO Accounting Standards These differences will be reduced progressively

in the coming years and will be fully eliminated when the related assets

are fully depreciated or disposed

Under the PRO Accounting Standards employees post-retirement benefits

are recognised upon actually incurred Under IFRS such
post-retirement

benefits under defined benefit schemes are required to be recognised over

the employees service period using projected unit credit method

UOtt1tS

ttSffU

M6ff

I21fl-bt Hft0

flflfliot

TfllM
lla%nnn

fb tEfrSfff .fl

flt3% hJHHfl st

-n t-Lfl HoyHnibf

Itl%1520Hfl ttL9

ffjHTI
llff1flfl

ttSff

IHnwI%Iygg%tH JDI
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
228

SIGNIFICANT DIFFERENCES BETWEEN INTERNATIONAL

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS IFRS AND PRC

ACCOUNTING STANDARDS continued

The recognition and measurement of the fair values of the acquisition costs

and identifiable assets and liabilities of Shanghai Airlines acquired during

the year are different under IFRS and the PRC Accounting Standards which

result in difference in the
intangibles/goodwill recognised arising

from the

acquisition

Under the PRC
Accounting Standards land use rights injected by

the
parent

company as capital contribution are stated at valuation less accumulated

amortisation Under IFRS land use rights are recorded as prepaid operating

leases at historical cost which was nil at the time of
listing

In addition of the above the application of IFRS differs in certain other

respects from the PRC Accounting Standards

This represents the corresponding deferred tax effects related to the items

above

With effective from January 2010 loss for the period is shared by non

controlling
interest NC even if this results in the NCI

having deficit

balance under both PRC Accounting Standards and IFRS However under

PRC accounting standards retrospective adjustment is required for the

change whereas under IFRS no retrospective adjustment is required As

result the carrying amounts of NCI as at
January

2010 were different

under IFRS and the PRC Accounting Standards In addition differences as

described in to above also have the
corresponding impact on Nd

ttt2J
4flffUt nts

PtT

flfll1 th

nEmt4hbthtmnt

if fifittWflk

ltU3PIkR t0AhIAfE
nt

flt

WiT

Hf

fth

gPftffIlMflflhi44
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

2JJ4

DIRECTORS

Liu Shaoyong Chairman ifff$
Li Jun Vice Chairman

Ma Xulun Director President

Lao Chaogeng Director

Luo Zhuping Director CompanySecretaiy

Sandy Ke Yaw Liu Independent Non-executive Director

Wu Xiaogen Independent Non executive Director

Ji Weidong Independent Non-executive Director

Shao
Ruiqing Independent Non executive Director

SUPERVISORS

Liu Jiangbo Chairman of the Supendsory Committee

XuzhaoSupervisor

Yan Taisheng Supervisor

Feng Jinxiong Supervisor

Liu Jiashun Supervisor ilIlRS

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Zhang Jianzhong Vice President It NJktditffl

Li Yangmin Vice President

Zhao Jinyu Vice President

Tang Ring Vice President _5J2IsyJ

Wu
Yongliang Chief Financial Officer

COMPANY SECRETARY

Lao Zhuping

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Liu Shaoyong

Luozhuping

COMPANYS WEBSITE

httpIlwww.ceair.com http/Iwww.ceair.com

COMPANYS E-MAIL ADDRESS

ir@ceair.com ir@ceair.com
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AUDITORS

International Auditor PricewaterhouseCoopers f4Aflf

Certified Public Accountants

22nd Floor Princes Building

Central Hong Kong k22f

Domestic Auditor PricewaterhouseCoopers ft
Zhong han CPAs Limited Company

11/F PricewaterhouseCoopers Center

202 Hu Bin Road

Shanghai 200021

PRC Elf200021

LEGAL ADVISERS

Hong Kong Baker McKenzie

USA Baker McKenzie t4fflfl$yfr

China
Beijing

Commerce Finance Law Difice Ibfflffliffn

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Industrial and Commercial Bank ot China Shanghai Branch

China Construction Bank Shanghai Branch

The Bank of China Shanghai Branch

SHARE REGISTRAR

Hong Kong Registrars Limited

Rooms 1712-1716 17th Floor Hopewell Centre tt

183 Queens Road East Hong Kong ttE-f17t21716M

The Bank of New York The Bank of New York

101 Barclay Street 101 Barclay Street

New York NY 10286 USA New York NY 10286 USA

China Securities Depository and

Clearing Corporation Limited Shanghai Branch

166 East Lu Jiazui Road Pudong New Area Shanghai
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Since July 2009 the principal place of business in Hong Kong has been changed 20O97.fl

to Unit 31/F United Centre 95 Queensway tC31fB

Hong Kong

CUSTODIAN FOR LISTED SHARES WITH TRADING MORATORIUM

China Securities
Depository

and
Clearing Corporation Limited kM22l

Shanghai Branch

CHANGE OF BUSINESS LICENSE REGISTRATION

The Company changed its business license registration due to changes in the

registered capital of the Company hi

Registered capital otthe Company is RMB11276.539 million at the end of the

Reporting Period M7C

Business License Registration Number of the Corporation Legal Person 310000400111686

310000400111686

Tax Registration Number 310046741602981 310046741602981

Shareholders can obtain
copy

of the Companys annual
report

for the
year

2010 through th Internet addresses shown below

flflflf
http/Iwww.ceair.com http//www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chinaeast
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COMPANY PROFILE

COMPANYS REGISTERED CHINESE NAME

COMPANYS ENGLISH NAME

China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited China Eastern Airlines Corporation Limited

COMPANYS ABBREVIATED ENGLISH NAME

CEA CEA

COMPANYS LEGAL ADDRESS

66 Airport Street

Pudong International Airport

Shanghai China

POSTAL CODE

201202 201202

COMPANYS OFFICE ADDRESS

2550 Hongqiao Road

Shanghai China

POSTAL CODE

200335 200335

COMPANYS LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE

Liu Shaoyong

COMPANY SECRETARY

Luo Zhuping

COMPANYS WEBSITE ADDRESS

www.ceair.com www.ceair.com

COMPANYS E-MAIL ADDRESS

ir@ceair.com ir@ceair.com

TELEPHONE

86 21 6268 6268 86 21 6268 6268

FACSIMILE

862162686116 862162686116

PLACES OF LISTING

The Shanghai Stock Exchange

Code 600115 600115

Abbreviation CEA

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Code 00670 00670

The New York Stock Exchange Inc

Code CEA CEA
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